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Monday, September 12, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:05 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Today is the eighteenth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This morning we will begin the examination of the panels on the capital budget.


Are there any preliminary matters?  None?


Mr. Cass, would you like to introduce your panel?


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Just for clarity, perhaps I will explain there are, of course, two panels that will address capital issues.


The panel that will come after this group, at least if the schedule follows as expected, will address system expansion and customer attachments, and also in that context of customer attachments we'll deal with issues around prospective gas‑fired generation customers in the test year.


This panel will address the remainder of the capital and rate base issues.  I thought that clarity might just help people understand where to direct their questions.  The members of this panel, with one exception, have already been introduced and sworn.  I will just identify who the four members are.  Starting closest to the Board, we have Mr. Rob Fox.  Next to Mr. Fox is Mr. Rob Milne, then Mr. Tom Ladanyi and Mr. George DeWolf, and then out of those four I think the only one has not previously been introduced to the Board and sworn is Mr. Robert Milne, so perhaps he could be sworn at this time.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 14:

Rob Fox; Previously Sworn


Rob Milne; Sworn


Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn


George DeWolf; Previously Sworn

EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Now, panel, as I indicated to the Board, I understand that you're responsible for the evidence on capital and rate base issues, excluding system expansion, customer attachments and gas‑fired generation.  


I wonder if the panel could confirm, please, that the evidence in that area, including answers to interrogatories, was prepared by members of the panel or under your direction and control.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, Mr. Cass, we can confirm that.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And is the evidence accurate, to the best of the knowledge or belief of the members of the panel?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  If I could turn to you, Mr. Milne, with a few questions about your evidence.  Could I ask you, please, to summarize for the Board the reasoning behind the company's proposal for an accelerated replacement program in respect of cast iron and bare steel pipe?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  At its heart, the program is actually introduced at this time to protect the integrity and the safety of the system.  The assessment of the performance of the system has indicated, in our mind, that it is deteriorating faster than the established rate of replacement for cast iron.  There are some examples of that in the evidence. 


Cast iron and steel together make up over 80 percent of the leaks that we find on our system.  Leaks for the very first time have actually exceeded one leak per kilometre in 2004, and the number of main breaks that we are getting per kilometre is not decreasing the way that we had hoped with the level of replacement that we've done in the past.


The company has also started to take a look at a holistic approach to its system, and it has actually factored in the impact of services on cast iron, as well.  And it's come to the conclusion that this, as well, promotes and encourages us to introduce an accelerated program at this particular point in time because of the risk associated with those services.  


Finally, this program will allow the company to position itself favourably to any introduction of distribution and integrity management that may be introduced in the future.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Milne.  Can you then, please, describe for the Board what the primary drivers are behind the program?


MR. MILNE:  Actually quite simple.  They're the safety and reliability of the system.  We really want to complete this program, the removal of bare steel and cast iron, in the shortest time frame possible.  We believe that extending the period of time over which we actually remove and replace this cast iron and bare steel actually just extends the risk that we are facing as a company, and then as our customers, as well.


I should perhaps take this opportunity to clarify that in all my discussions on this program and what goes into it, there has been no discussion about any linkage with this with any performance-based regulation that might be introduced by the Board in the future, as well.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Now, Mr. Milne, another component of the capital budget for the test year is system reinforcement.  Can you please tell the Board the reasoning behind the more significant of the system reinforcement projects proposed for the test year?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  And thank you, Mr. Cass.  I'm going to restrict my comments to actually two projects that will come before the Board later as a leave to construct application.  The first one is the Newmarket reinforcement, which is about $36.8 million.


This is actually being driven by the growth in the York region.  We have assessed the need, the growing need, of the area there.  Our long‑term plan actually indicated that the growth in the load would increase 2 to 3 percent per year.  What we're actually finding is that the load is increasing 9-1/2 percent per year.  Since 2002, we've actually had a 28.4 percent increase in the volume of gas that we've had to provide in that area.


What that has done to us is it's basically put our system under pressure.  We have to maintain, at one of our district stations along the south shore of Lake Simcoe, a basic pressure of about 425 pounds per square inch.  The problem we're having is that with this kind of growth, we are not comfortable that we can maintain that, and that was the crucial point behind this decision to go ahead and reinforce what I call the Newmarket reinforcement.


We're going to do it actually in several phases.  We are still working on how we're going to put this together.  In the evidence here, you see what I call phase 1, which is basically about 11 kilometres of a 24-inch extra high-pressured steel.  That would go from about Victoria Square up northwards, but it will be followed potentially by four other stages as we keep pushing that pipeline further and further north up to Newmarket itself.  


The only other point I would like to raise with this particular one is that we did not factor in the potential increase in load that might come from power generation that -- I think everyone is aware that the province and the region is interested in establishing some power generation facilities in that area.  The primary driver for this is strictly the increase in the day‑to‑day demand for natural gas and our need to maintain a basic pressure of at least 425 pounds per square inch on one of our critical gate stations north of the region.


The other project that I would like to touch upon briefly, if I may, Nielson Road.  It's in the evidence there at about $3.8 million.  The proposal here is basically to replace the existing 16-inch extra-high-pressure steel with another 16-inch extra-high-pressure steel, but of a higher quality so that we can increase the pressure.  We want to get that line up to about 500 pounds per square inch.


And you will notice that the original budget for that was lower than the final budget that is in the submission here, as well.  I should explain what happened there.  This has been a process where we've been trying to figure out what we need to do, and originally I thought I could actually service the area by putting in a new district station in around Steeles, but further evaluation and assessment here and the growth in that area south of Steeles said that is not going to work.  


So the original budget had that in.  The revised budget I took it out and actually put in the cost of replacing the entire Nielson Road line, and that's why you see the difference in that area, as well.


 There is another project within the evidence here that I should talk a little bit about, and that is what I call the 9th Line.  It goes north of Steels up 9th Line to our Newmarket gate.  The reason I raise it at this point in time is we are still looking at this project and we might actually lump it in with the Nielson Road, so that when it comes before this Board as a leave to construct, you will get two sides of this project.  You will get Nielson Road, which is the line south of Steeles, and you will get the 9th Line, which is the line that runs north of Steeles.


We have to decide whether or not we can combine them together or whether or not the timing issue with York region and its road construction decides that they're two separated ‑‑ they're going to be too much separated in time, we should keep them as two separate entities, but that's still a decision that we're working our way through.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Milne.  That's the examination in‑chief of the panel, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Could I hear from the intervenors who will be examining this panel how long you plan to take and if you have decided on an order?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the intervenors have volunteered me to be first.  And I expect to be, in lieu of Mr. Warren's appearance, about two hours.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. DeROSE:  I do intend to cross-examine.  Mr. Shepherd, I expect, will cover lots of the points that I have prepared, so I am hoping less than half an hour.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

Mr. Dingwall.

MR. DINGWALL:  I'm in a similar position.  I'm looking

forward to Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination and its customary thoroughness and the two to three little bits that will, I'm estimating, maybe not glossed over quite as much.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.  Would you like to begin.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     Panel, I wonder if I can just ask you some general questions first to sort of get the lay of the land.
     My theme here is start at about 50,000 feet and then swoop down to the details.  Maybe “swoop” is the wrong word.  

So let me ask about the sources of capital

expenditures.  We talked to your -- one of your O&M panels about this the other day.  I'm just trying to get a sense of how your budget is made up.  As I understand it, there is four ways that you get capital expenditures in your budget and let me outline the four and tell me whether this is right.
     You have capital expenditures that are direct payments to third parties.  You get a – hire a contractor to build a line or you buy a piece of gear that's capital, and it's all capital from the get-go.
     Then the second -- then the other three categories are all allocations of internal resources and you do it in three different ways.  Some internal resources are, again, 100 percent capital.  You just put them directly in the capital budget at the outset.  So people, for example, who work on capital projects exclusively.
     Then you have some shared internal resources and in your O&M budgets for at least some of the departments you deduct -- you put in your O&M amounts then you deduct out the amount that you have capitalized for resources that are partly allocated.
     Then finally, the overall corporation has an allocation to capital for its basically like a share of overheads that is appropriate to be added to capital.  Are those four categories; is that fair?
     MR. LADANYI:  Roughly correct, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the first category is easy because those expenses, for the most part, there is not much judgment in whether they're capital or operating; right?  If you buy a building you know it is capital; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  That would be material and labour.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.
     MR. LADANYI:  It would be material and construction labour you're talking about.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  But you're characterizing it as capital is not a difficult judgment, usually.
     MR. LADANYI:  No, that wouldn't be.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You get a few of those third-party payments like your payments to Accenture, for example, for EnVision, where there is a little more judgment in it.  But again, it's a relatively straightforward decision, right, how much goes to capital is relatively straightforward?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then skipping to the last category, you have actually a formula, don't you, that takes your sort of overall corporate -- general corporate support costs like HR and corporate and finance and that sort of thing, and says:  Because a portion of our activities is capital, therefore a portion of our support costs should also be capital.  Right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  That's called administrative and general expense capitalization, overhead capitalization.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's that amount of 17.8 million that we saw in K6.4.
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so then it's the middle two categories that I guess I want to ask a little more about.  It's true, isn't it, that an employee who is part of your O&M budget this year, let's say in regional operations, could be part of your capital budget next year because they're assigned to a new project.
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That happens on a regular basis?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it does.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you have a person who works on both types of projects, on a regular bases, there is -- the percentage split, if you like, of that person or those types of resources also may shift from year to year.
     MR. LADANYI:  It may.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could turn up VECC interrogatory number 38.  That's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 38.
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I have that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In the first paragraph here, it talks about the reasons for the big increase in customer-related capital.  One of those reasons is "higher allocation of regional overhead costs"; do you see that?
     MR. LADANYI:  I see that, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right in understanding that the total budget for regional operation has actually increased more than the O&M budget has, but you've allocated more of the budget to capital than, for example, in 2005.  Right?
     MR. LADANYI:  The first part of the sentence I'm not sure that I can really agree to that.  I'm not entirely sure what the answer is.  Certainly the second part is relevant because, yes, we have allocated a portion of the regional expenses to capital projects because people are working on capital projects.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that additional allocation is part of the 458 million capital budget; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So some portion of that $458 million is for people or other resources that were part of the O&M budget in 2005; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  It may have been.  I really don't know specifically.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess what I'm trying to figure out is, we don't have anywhere in the evidence the entire budget for regional operations, for example, that shows both capital and operating costs as well as the comparative figures from historical bridge and test year, do we?
     MR. LADANYI:  Well, the difficulty I have actually is like this, is that in our capitalization not only do we capitalize the regional overhead costs, but we're also capitalizing costs from the planning department, which would be Mr. Milne's department, and we're also capitalizing costs from the work management centre and they're all coming into the same pool.  And also the fees from Accenture.  So they're all together.  So I can give you a number of the total overhead capitalization but I am not sure whether it is due entirely to regional operations or not, that's why I'm having difficulty.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not where I'm going with this, Mr. Ladanyi.  Sorry.
     If I am the head of regional operations - I should be so lucky, of course - then I have a whole budget and the fact that some of the people are allocated to capital and some of them are allocated to O&M really doesn't affect me at all.  “Empire” is a poor word, sorry, my responsibilities.
     I still have this group of people and the amount of money I have available to spend on those people and those resources has a certain increase from one year to another; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Whether it is capital or O&M, doesn't affect how I manage it, does it?
     MR. LADANYI:  I'll accept that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have, as the big poobah in this area, I have one budget, and that budget, how much I have to spend on regional operations, that's nowhere in the evidence, is it?
     MR. LADANYI:  The total that would include both capital and O&M is nowhere in evidence.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this Board doesn't know how much of an increase percentage increase, for example or dollar increase you're proposing to give to that manager of regional operations, do they?
     MR. LADANYI:  But I mean that kind of question can be asked.  I think that you've been, through several panels now, Mr. Shepherd, you've been trying to get at what salary increases we have given to different people and I think you can ask the question directly.  You somehow are attempting to work through this backwards and to see if you can come up with a number.  You can ask us a question directly what salary increases we gave to different people and we will tell you.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Ladanyi I didn't ask you anything about salaries and, I do have my own way of asking questions, so I'm sorry if you don't like it.
     MR. LADANYI:  No, no.  I'm trying to understand what you are trying to get at.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm talking about the whole budget.  The whole budget.  I'm not talking about part of the budget.  I'm not talking about the salary component.  I'm talking about the whole budget for any given department.
     We never see the whole budget for any given department, do we?
     MR. LADANYI:  If you're referring to the whole budget as being both capital and O&M components, currently it is not shown in evidence.  Capitalized portions are going directly to capital.  The O&M portions are shown in the O&M evidence.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to ask you to undertake to provide us with the whole budget for regional operations for the test year, including both capital and operating costs, including actual for the historical year, estimate for the bridge year, and budget for the test year.  I'm wondering if you can undertake to provide that.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we can undertake to provide that.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J18.1:  TO PROVIDE THE WHOLE BUDGET FOR REGIONAL OPERATIONS FOR THE TEST YEAR, INCLUDING BOTH CAPITAL AND OPERATING COSTS, INCLUDING ACTUAL FOR THE HISTORICAL YEAR, ESTIMATE FOR THE BRIDGE YEAR, AND BUDGET FOR THE TEST YEAR, AND ALSO INCLUDE THE BREAKDOWN FOR ENGINEERING AND IT

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there's only two other departments that have high levels of capital expenditures, right, engineering and IT?  


MR. LADANYI:  Could you repeat that question, please?


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's only two other departments that have really significant levels of capital expenditures, engineering and IT; right?  There's others that have small amounts, but the big numbers are in those three departments; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I guess, yes, I would say that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So could we get that same breakdown for engineering and IT, please?


MR. LADANYI:  In the same schedule?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Could we include that in the same undertaking; is that all right?


MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, if that works for the witness.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Now, you remember my four categories.  We know what the figure of the last category, the general O&M -- or the general allocation of overheads is 17.8 million.


MR. LADANYI:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is one part of your $458 million; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The third category, which is those costs that each department allocates as capitalized shared resources, we could actually add up the amounts on the individual budgets and get to a total; right?  Each of the budgets has an amount of cost capitalized; right?


MR. LADANYI:  When you say "each", which departments are you talking about?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Each of the O&M budgets.


MR. LADANYI:  Give me an example of which one so I understand.  Are you talking about engineering or are you talking about regulatory affairs?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm talking about all.  So your A6 series of evidence, each one has a budget for -- an O&M budget for department, and some of them have an amount that is capitalized.  If we just added those up, that's the allocation of all those shared resources; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, you can say that.  It's part of the ‑‑ are you talking about A&G overheads again?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I'm not talking about A&G overheads.  That's the 17.8 million.  We've got that already.


MR. LADANYI:  That's what those costs are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  We asked about that, actually, and were told that wasn't the case.  I think it was you who told us that.


MR. LADANYI:  That's why ‑‑ could you repeat your question?  I'm getting confused with what you're talking about.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  It is still early in the morning even for intervenors.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me give you an example.  In regional operations, you have a budget, and then there is an amount at the bottom - I think it is 3.7 million - which is the capitalized amount; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That part -- that isn't part of the 17.8 million.  That is separate?


MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  That's the third category I was talking about.  And if you added those up for all of the budgets in all of the departments, you would get that whole third category, all those shared resources --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  You would, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't have anywhere in the evidence ‑‑ and that would also be part of the 458 million?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know what that total is; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Do I know what that is right here?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't mean to put you on the spot.


MR. LADANYI:  I don't have it broken down on that basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't have anywhere broken down the amounts of direct expenditures of capital, and we don't have the amounts, the total amounts, allocated by the departments to capital, do we?


MR. LADANYI:  Again, if you're speaking about direct expense, you mean materials and labour versus, like, for each category of expense?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, remember we had the four categories; right?  We agreed on the four categories; right?  We don't have anywhere where we can look at the evidence and find out that $458 million, how is it broken down between those four categories, do we?


MR. LADANYI:  No, we don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you do that?  Would that be difficult to do?  I don't want to ask you to do it if it is very difficult, but if it is a relatively easy thing to do --


MR. LADANYI:  I think it could be done without great difficulty.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to split up the $458 million into those four categories.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J18.2:  BREAKDOWN THE $458 MILLION INTO THE FOUR CATEGORIES

MR. LADANYI:  Just for clarification, you're talking only about overheads?  You're not talking about labour, or you're not talking about materials or anything else.  You're talking only about overheads now, are you?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Remember the four categories?


MR. LADANYI:  You're talking about all the direct costs, as well?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So you have a $458 million total that has four different ways you get to it.


MR. DeWOLF:  So if I am clear, for an IT project, for instance, where I have internal resources that are completely dedicated towards capital, you want that broken out, the hardware that I'm going to buy in that project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Category 1.


MR. DeWOLF:  Category 1, you want that all broken out.  I will tell you for IT that will be very difficult to do, because on an IT project that's going to happen in 2006, I don't know particularly how much equipment is going to be in that project versus how much consultants' time which would be in category 1 versus internal.  It would be extremely hard for me ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. DeWolf, I wasn't intending that you go back and look at all of your capital projects and split them up.  We're in the middle of a rate case.  That is not fair to ask. 


What I'm asking you is do you have that sort of breakdown anywhere around for the overall budget, that $458 million budget?  Do you have that sort of breakdown around somewhere or easy to get?  If you don't, I don't need the undertaking.


MR. DeWOLF:  Well, speaking for IT, we have ‑‑ I know the staff that is allocated towards capital, and I think that is why Mr. Ladanyi was looking at the staff component more than those other things.  Those other things are hard to get down.  So I know what staff I have in my organization who are dedicated to capital, and I can tell you what their salaries are and all of the rest of that, and their costs.  And I have in my O&M budget an estimate of how much of the O&M people are going to be on capital, so that's group 4 -- group 3.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. DeWolf, what is left over, then, is going to be your direct expenses; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is actually easy to calculate.  


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so I will ask for the undertaking.  Yes, thanks.


I want to turn to a second area now, and that's the rate base impacts of your capital expenditures.  To do this, I have prepared ‑‑ you can see what I did spend my nights doing, spreadsheets; right?  So I prepared a very simple spreadsheet which I provided to the Board and to the witnesses, and I wonder if we could get an exhibit number for that.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Exhibit K18.1, and it will be characterized as increases in closing rate base for distribution plant 2004 to 2006.

EXHIBIT NO. K18.1:  INCREASES IN CLOSING RATE BASE FOR DISTRIBUTION PLANT 2004 TO 2006

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, let's just deal with the simplest one here.  And I guess this is for you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Ratepayers don't actually pay for the capital expenditures; right?  They only pay the depreciation and the rate of return when cap ex gets closed to rate base; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct, yes.  They will pay the revenue requirement impact of that asset.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in keeping with our theme that we're only really concerned about the rates, we have to focus on the rate base, then.  The capital expenditures are a step along the way; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's true, isn't it, that a major capital expenditure will often only have a small impact on rate base in the first year, but a much bigger impact in subsequent years; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That really depends when that asset is completed or will be called close to rate base.  The rate base is an average of monthly averages calculations as the Board requires.  So an asset that is closing to rate base early in the year would have a large impact, and an asset that's closing late in the year would have a relatively small impact in the first year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, if you have -- let's say you have $100 million closed to rate base in December.  That will typically have an impact of less than $2 million in rates in the first year, but in the second year an impact of more like $20 million; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I will accept that, subject ‑‑ essentially if it's only going to be in rate base for one month, it is going to be one-twelfth of that, would be the amount in rate base, and then -- that's for the first year, and then you would calculate what the impact -- what the depreciation expenses, and then what the benefits of capital cost allowance are.  You would calculate a return.  So there are a number of factors included.


And, also, apart from the cost itself, if that asset is a revenue-producing asset, then you would have to take into account one month's revenues from customers that are, let's say, attached to that gas main and so on.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's if you have revenues in the first year.  Often you don't; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, sometimes you will have.  Sometimes you won't.  On certain assets there are no revenues.  For example, cast-iron expenditures will be a replacement of an existing pipe.  It doesn't create any new revenues, because there are no new customers attached to cast-iron mains.  Whereas, if we're doing a system expansion project, we might have customers attached to the project and they will be producing revenues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, you've got Bobcaygeon and Fenelon Falls.  I don't mean to get into the system expansion stuff, but just as an example, that is expected to close in December and you're not actually expecting to have any customer attachments until 2007; right? 


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But am I right that it is a reasonable rule of thumb for distribution plant to say, in December, if it closes in December, 2 percent in the first year, 20 percent each year after that.  Is that roughly in the ballpark?
     MR. LADANYI:  I've never heard these rules of thumb, but they're probably right.  I will accept it for now.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But of course the other side is that when you spend money you normally have revenues coming in; right?  I mean, the whole point in spending the money on capital is you're eventually going to have enough revenues to more than pay it back.
     MR. LADANYI:  That's essentially the concept of making investments, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in theory, at least, capital expenditures should always end up driving rates down, shouldn't they?  I mean with few exceptions, we'll talk about cast-iron mains later but with a few exceptions.

MR. LADANYI:  That's the whole basis of utility accounting, is all of these assets eventually pay for themselves and they create revenues in excess of costs and that's why you have the 188 guidelines, for example, for example, for system expansion and investments in your distribution plant.  
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to use the gas-fired generation as an example.  Now, I understand that we're going to talk about that in more detail this afternoon, but just let me use it as an example of this concept.
     You have a placeholder of 36.3 million that you're anticipating will close in December of 2006; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that the approximate increase in rates in 2006, as a result of that, is less than a million dollars?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I think the interrogatory -- I don't need to turn it up, I think it is Board Staff 70, talks about a rate base impact of one and a half million dollars for those RFP projects.  So you can do your calculation, what it is.  It's probably quite low.  My guess would be maybe 200,000 or so impact in 2006 with a larger impact in subsequent years.
     I want to point out, though, those projects are really based on our calculation using EBO 188 feasibility guidelines, those projects are at PI of one, profitability interest of one.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to get to that this afternoon, but let's just see if we understand this correctly.
     The cost to rate base -- the cost to ratepayers in 2007 for those projects is somewhere in the order of seven or eight million dollars; right?  Am I in the right range?
     MR. LADANYI:  No.  I said that the rate base impact of those projects -- 2007 you're talking about?  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

 
MR. LADANYI:  Sorry, I'm in 2006.  I don't know what they are for 2007.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, using that sort of 20 percent benchmark, typically it would be in that range, right, seven, seven and a half?
     MR. LADANYI:  I will accept it for now, but we'll just leave it at that.  I don't know exactly what the revenues would be in 2007.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to get to the revenues.  you're anticipating distribution gross margin from those two projects will be enough to pay for them starting in 2007; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Over the life the projects.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Not starting at the beginning?
     MR. LADANYI:  Remember all of these calculations are on a net present value basis.  So a marginal residential customer, we're talking about a 40-year life.  For those projects, we're talking about a shorter life.  It really would be generally dependent on the contract signed with the power producer.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it might well be that in 2007, the ratepayers still are subsidizing it for a while, on a temporary basis.  But that is an investment by the ratepayers and later they're going to get it back.
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  I think one way to look at utility accounting, again, is that any new customer, whether it is you or anybody else, probably doesn't pay all their full costs in the first year.  It really is that over the life of that customer, that the customer is -- I don't mean actually personal life, by the time the customer is on the mains, that customer's revenue will more than offset any of the costs.  But initially, there is virtually no customer that's going to be profitable in the first year.  That is -- with the level of rates that we have, our rates are far too low for any customer to be profitable in year one.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn't it, that your general rule is that residential customer attachments, for example, are even in the first year.  You don't make money.  You don't lose money.
     MR. LADANYI:  Absolutely not.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, you think there’s a cost to them.
     MR. LADANYI:  For sure.  That's right.  That's how EBO 188 works.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I want you to turn to this Exhibit K18.1, if you could, please.  Will you accept, subject to check, these numbers are direct from your prefiled evidence?
     MR. LADANYI:  I looked at some of the numbers.  They look like they're correct, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And they show the increase in closing rate base year to year; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  And I should -- I want to point out one thing.  Rates are actually calculated on an average of averages rate base, rather than a closing rate base.  But percentage wise they're about the same percentages.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they're not, are they?
     MR. LADANYI:  I mean in the long run, they're the same.  If you have a sharp increase, it will be different.  But if you look at the average of averages, the numbers will be different.  So if you're going to discuss rate increases, you really should have put in here the number for average of averages rather than the closing rate base but I’ll accept your exhibit as being about closing rate base and I will leave it at that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before we discuss the implications of it, can you explain why the closing distribution plant and closing accumulated depreciation in 2004 would be   different than the opening figures in 2005?  Do you know why that is?
     MR. LADANYI:  Just give me a minute.
     What we are doing here is that, in the opening 2005, we're opening on a calendar-year basis.  And in closing 2004 we're closing on a fiscal-year basis.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that difference is the stub period.
     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the stub period, you had about a five million increase in rate base for distribution.  This is only distribution plant; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Right, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I read somewhere in the material, I couldn't actually find it last night but I'm quite sure it is in there somewhere, that your increase in rate base, that is average of monthly averages, proposed for 2006 is something under three percent; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  I don't know.  You'd have to point me to the place in rate base -- in the evidence.  I don't specifically recall that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I can't find where it is, so why don't I ask you.  What's the increase in your rate base from 2005 to 2006?
     MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  The utility rate base for 2006 -- maybe you can all turn to Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a good place to look.  I'm looking at the distribution plant component, PP&E.
     MR. LADANYI:  First you talked about rate base.  That's the rate base increase.  So if that was an increase you might have been referring to, it's shown there at $73.7 million increase in rate base.  I know this includes the entire rate base and not just property plant and equipment.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's affected heavily by some things like gas and storage, which are affected by commodity prices; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  It's affected by gas and storage and other items, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Whereas the PP&E, which is the sort of base capital expenditure, that's going up by about three percent.  Roughly.
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  If you're talking about the    line-up there, 105.2 million, let's do a calculation.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But because of your aggressive capital expenditure program your closing rate base is proposed to increase by more than nine percent; right?
     MR. CASS:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I think Mr. Ladanyi is still doing the calculation from the previous question.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I'm sorry.
     MR. LADANYI:  It is three and a half percent increase in property plant and equipment, and that would be as per Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 1.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  But your closing rate base is proposed to increase by more than nine percent; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I would agree to that because what it is is that a lot of those projects are closing late in the year.  And as I explained earlier, the rate base and rates are calculated on an average of averages bases.  So the annual impact in 2006 is obviously going to be lower.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But what happens is in 2007 you get the full brunt of that; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  You would have a larger impact in 2007, correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And nine percent is significantly more than normal, right, for an increase in closing rate base?
     MR. LADANYI:  Well, the word “normal” is I think -- when I was here a couple -- I lost your exhibit.  But I was here a couple of weeks ago with the policy panel.  You might have heard Mr. Schultz and Mr. Player explain how this is not a normal year.  There's a lot of significant new challenges we're facing, and we're spending money to deal with those challenges.  One of them the cast-iron replacement.  Others are system reinforcements.  


We're also dealing with issues of electricity power generation, and we are doing what we have to do to meet the energy needs of the province.  So, yes, we're spending a lot more money.  There is no secret about it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the answer to the question is it is significantly more than normal?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, if you call normal, you know, like, having a capital budget of roughly $250 million a year, yes, it is very much higher than normal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know when the last year was that the company had an increase in its closing rate base of more than 9 percent?


MR. LADANYI:  No, I don't know.  We certainly had large capital budgets in the years -- in the '90s, when we spent a lot of money on buying rental water heaters, and we also had some significant system expansion projects, but I can't offhand right now tell you when ‑‑ there might have been a year, ten years ago or so, but I don't know right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It would have been a long time ago?


MR. LADANYI:  It would have been a fair time ago.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You're currently anticipating that because of this capital program in 2006, your rate base will increase in 2007 by more than $410 million; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I believe I saw that some place in the evidence, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reference is I, 5, 14, if you want to look at it.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I see that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would be a further 14 percent in rate base, right, roughly?


MR. LADANYI:  Fourteen percent over what?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Over the closing rate ‑‑ over the average rate base in 2006.


MR. LADANYI:  I will accept that.  I don't want to try to do it with a calculator right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.  Can you tell us how much of the $458 million capital budget is expected to close to rate base in December of 2006?


MR. LADANYI:  I actually don't have that information that I can give you a simple answer, so I will have to give you an undertaking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.3.


UNDERTAKING NO. J18.3:  PORTION OF $458 MILLION

CAPITAL BUDGET EXPECTED TO CLOSE TO RATE BASE DECEMBER OF 2006

MR. SHEPHERD:  We know that figure is going to be at least 60-odd-million dollars, right, because we already know the gas‑fired generation is expected to be in December and we already know that the aggressive system expansion is expected to be in December; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Well, I can give you some specific projects.  I just can't give it to you in a total, if you're asking -- yes gas‑fired generation is going to be in December.  Newmarket reinforcement is December, and we mentioned before that the aggressive system expansion projects will be about that time, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So maybe 100 million or more?


MR. LADANYI:  Very likely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  I wonder if you could turn up -- going to another area now, I wonder if you could turn up School Energy Interrogatory No. 27.  That's I, 18, 27.  Do you have that?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I have that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your average capital budget for the last five years was $251.3 million?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in 2005, in fact, your estimate is almost exactly that, 250.5; right.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if I look at this history of your capital expenditures, 2004 was higher than average, but 2003 was lower than average.  Why was that?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd, could you just step back for a second?  I just got to your exhibit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I want to follow the numbers.  Could you be a little more explicit?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry.  Mr. Ladanyi there is a column here, five-year average, which has a number at the bottom, total capital expenditures 251.3.  That's your average for the five years ending 2005; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the column to the right of it, 250.5, that's your current estimate of capital expenditures for 2005?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2004 is a little higher than the average, and 2003, a little to the right of that, is a little lower than average.  Why that discrepancy?


MR. LADANYI:  I don't think that we actually had analyzed this on the basis of a five‑year average.  It's not like a five-year plan, I think, that Chairman Mao used to have, so we don't kind of look at it that way.  But, you know, there's reasons why 2004 expenditures were what they were.  


I mean, it is discussed in the evidence.  I don't want to go into it in detail, because I don't want to burden the record with it, but if you turn, for example, to Exhibit B3, tab 2, schedule 1, and you will see there 2004 expenditures laid out and explained, and there is variance explanations and we can go through the detailed explanations of customer-related distribution plant and improvement mains and service relays.  


So if you like, we can go line by line through this and discuss it.  There are good reasons for it.  Normally what we do is, as a gas distribution utility, we have to respond to the marketplace out there.  If there is a demand for gas service, if developers are building a lot of new housing, we have to go out there and do something about it.  So that would be one thing.


There might be requirements for new IT systems if we are faced with obsolete IT systems.  We have to invest in that.  I don't want to go into it right now, but if ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, maybe I can simplify it a bit.  Can you turn up Exhibit K14.1, please?  Don't lose the other one.  We're going to come back to it.


K14.1 is your 2004 annual review and financial statements. 


MR. LADANYI:  Oh.  Yes, I have it here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at page 16 of that.  You will see a capital chart there, capital expenditures year by year.  And just after that chart, it refers to the fact that your capital expenditures were lower in 2003 because of the deferral of certain projects in fiscal 2003; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, in fact, what happened was, in 2003, you deferred some projects and you did them in 2004, and that's why 2003 is low and 2004 is high; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, I guess you could say that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the average of the two in fact is 250, isn't it?


MR. LADANYI:  I will accept that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And 2002 was also very close to the average of 250, wasn't it?  Sorry.


MR. LADANYI:  I lost your interrogatory question.  Which one were you referring to again?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I, 18, 27.


MR. LADANYI:  I, 18, 27.



MR. SHEPHERD:  2002 was 252.9 million?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 2001 was 249.8 million?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you really have been, in the past, remarkably consistent about your capital budget, haven't you?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, if you are calling consistency around 250 million, yes, we were consistent, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to come back to this overall level of the budget, but let me first ask you a little bit about how you got to the 458 million.


You're aware, Mr. Ladanyi, that questions about the budget process, particularly for capital expenditures, were asked of the policy panel a few weeks ago?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I am aware of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've had a chance to review those transcripts, I assume?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so maybe this question is for the other members of the panel, although feel free to help, Mr. Ladanyi.
     When you do your budgeting, I think we've heard that it's a grass-roots process.  You as managers develop -- for capital expenditures -- you develop a plan for your capital works in the test year, you cost it out, and then you present that plan to senior management and say, This is what we think we need; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's the process in general.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that process starts about 15 months before the test year roughly, so in this case the fall of 2004.
     MR. LADANYI:  Actually, our intentions when we first started the process was to file earlier than March.  It just turns out that it was, the filing was in March.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  But the budgeting process started in September/October, right, of 2004?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  I'm just giving you an example.  We're currently working on the 2007 budget at the office and our intentions are, currently, to file as early as November of this year.  So it normally wouldn't be that far ahead, but it just -- that's the way it turned out last year.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I so, okay.  So it's true, isn't it, that the bulk of your capital budget comes from regional operation?  About 65 percent of your budget is regional operations and capital.
     MR. LADANYI:  That would be a significant portion.  Other parts come from the planning group, which would be Mr. Milne's group, and some come also from Mr. Fox's group which is engineering, and some come from Mr. DeWolf, which is IT.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to turn up CCC interrogatory number 16, which is I5-16.  I'm actually starting at page 23 of that response.
     MR. LADANYI:  Page 20, what?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 23.
     MR. LADANYI:  23.  Yes, I have that.
     MS. NOWINA:  We have it.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Milne, you're in regional operations?
     MR. MILNE:  No.  I'm in engineering.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Fox, are you in regional operations?
     MR. FOX:  I'm in engineering as well. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nobody from regional operations? 
     MR. LADANYI:  Nobody from regional operations.  You'll have to try me with the question.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, darn.  All right.  In this presentation, it's dated December 14th, 2004.  The regional operations department seeks a 35 percent increase in its capital budget to 190 million; is that correct?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the capital budget for regional operations that you're currently seeking?
     MR. LADANYI:  I don't have it on that basis.  That's my problem.  I don't have it as per regional operations.  I mean our capital budget, as presented, doesn't have it as a regional operations capital budget.  It just has it by asset categories.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  At some point you have to allocate it to regional operations, right, that's where you got the budget from in the first place, isn't it?
     MR. LADANYI:  When you look at this, this is just a summary presented by regional operations, but in actual fact, it really -- regional operations staff would have entered this information in Khalix and then would have got rolled up in sales mains, services, metres, regulators.
     So when the whole budget was summed up, it was no longer regional operations capital budget.  It was together co-mingled with everything else.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's actually done both ways, isn't it?  In fact, in this presentation it’s shown both ways.
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is shown both ways.  But if you're telling me what the final version of this thing is, I don't have it as a final version.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could go to page 31 of this exhibit.  In the top slide there on page 31, regional operations in this presentation in December, they tell you the breakdown of their 190 million; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you know what those new numbers are.  You have them around somewhere, right, what you actually are asking for approval for, it's not 190 million anymore.
     MR. LADANYI:  Are you talking about total capital budget only related to regional operations?  What I'm looking at, I really don't know -- there might be some projects which were later put by engineering that are not included here, that's why I really confirm that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  There are also things put in by senior management; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  There were certainly -- as pointed out by Mr. Beaumont and Mr. Schultz, the policy panel, there were changes made to this budget later on.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to tell us what the capital budget for regional operation is that you're currently seeking from this Board.
     The equivalent of that slide, but what you're actually asking for, where it ended up.  Could you do that?
     MR. LADANYI:  Just for regional operations, yes, we can.
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J 18.4.
     UNDERTAKING NO. J18.4:  PROVIDE CAPITAL BUDGET FOR

REGIONAL OPERATION CURRENTLY BEING SOUGHT FROM THE 

BOARD
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that -- if you could turn to page 33.  And look at the bottom of that, the bottom of that page.  It's true, isn't it, that the original regional operations budget that they asked for in the first place, it already included the gas-fired generation expansion and it already included the big Newmarket reinforcement project; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact those two were among the reasons why they asked for such a big increase, that 35 percent increase in their capital budget; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then let's go back to page 31 of that --
     MR. LADANYI:  I just want to point out one thing though before you leave the Newmarket reinforcement.  Newmarket reinforcement in that budget is 19,400,000.  And as Mr. Milne pointed out at the start of this hearing today, the current Newmarket reinforcement is 38,800,000.  So that project actually expanded during the review process.  So this is a smaller version of the Newmarket reinforcement project on that slide on page 33.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to come back to that.  I wonder if you could turn back to page 31.  If you look at the bottom slide, you will see that -- what you just described happened, of course.  They put their budget into Khalix and out popped the whole budget; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's what that bottom slide is.
     MR. LADANYI:  More or less, yes.  It's a summary for power point purposes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's a budget of 298.9 million; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I understand correctly, what the company's managers ask for, what they said they needed for what they thought was appropriate was less than $300 million; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  I would say that this is the number that came out of regional operations and it was presented at a meeting at that time, and at this stage in the budget process, that was the capital budget.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that 298.9, that is not just regional operations, that’s everything.
     MR. LADANYI:  It includes a number of other projects.  It includes NGV, I see it here as well, and some other things.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the whole budget, isn't it?
     MR. LADANYI:  It appears to be the whole budget.  I'm checking whether IT is there and I don't specifically see IT.  So it is not everything, but it includes, I would say things -- distribution plants plus NGV.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is not everything?
     MR. LADANYI:  Well, it doesn't seem to include IT.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what's that $38.8 million in general plant?  Isn't that mostly IT?
     MR. LADANYI:  It might be.  We're not sure.  Just give us a minute.  You're moving very quickly.  It probably is IT.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. DeWolf, Mr. Milne, Mr. Fox, you’re managers who ask senior management for money to do things; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Ladanyi is sort of the policeman to watch what you're doing and make sure that you don't ask for the wrong things; right?  I mean I don't mean that pejoratively, that’s his job; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  He reviews the process and ensures that it facilitates it.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm right that in December, in fact, throughout the process except for the EMT, the executive management team, except for them, all of the company's management assumed that something between $250 million and $300 million was the right capital budget; isn't that right?
     MR. MILNE:  I would characterize it as that was our initial preparation of the budget.  It's an evolutionary process.
     MR. DeWOLF:  During the budget process we make assumptions.  So as we go through and build our budgets from the bottom up, as you've described, we make assumptions.  And so we assume that certain things are going to happen, the policies of the company are going to be such and, therefore, that goes there.
     And so what sometimes happens is we will come back and say, Well, what would happen if we changed this strategy, or something like that, and then we would go back and say, Oh, well -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Until the strategic planning session on January 17th, 2005, the budget was still in the range of 250 to $300 million, wasn't it?


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I wonder if you can tell me -- maybe, Mr. DeWolf, you could tell me.  You've been around a while.  When was the last time you went to the EMT with a budget and they said, We want a $200 million increase or a $100 million increase in this budget?  Has that ever happened before?


MR. DeWOLF:  It's never happened to me, but I've had the EMT come back to me and say, If we were going to go off and do more customer systems for customers, which we haven't done in a while, what would that mean?  And I have gone back and I've said, Okay, fine, if we built a portal, then this is what it would mean.  


And so we would have those discussions, and then they would look at it and say, Okay, is that something we think we can justify or not?  And so that is how the discussion goes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Milne, when was the last time you saw the EMT ask for a $100 million increase in the budget?


MR. MILNE:  My answer is similar to Mr. DeWolf's.  It's not in my memory, but my answer and my elaboration is a little bit different, in the sense that a lot of my projects are still undergoing the basic analysis as to what is required, so often it is not the EMT that comes down.  It is me saying, You know what?  We have sharpened our pencil.  We have done some more analysis here.  I actually need a bigger piece of pipe or I need it for a longer distance, and, therefore, I want to adjust my numbers.


So in many cases, particularly the one with the 19 million there with the Newmarket, as you walk me through that, that's the kind of answer you will find, is that we were basically still in our analysis process, and I gave them the best picture I could at that particular point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's how the process normally works, right, is that the managers say, This is what we think we need, and then senior management, in their role as guardians of the company, in effect, the overseers of everything, they test what you're saying to see whether you justified everything; right?


MR. MILNE:  Hm‑hmm.  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I wonder if you can turn to ‑‑ back to Exhibit K14.1 for a second.


MR. LADANYI:  Before we leave this area, I think we -- you know, without checking a number, I agreed to something which I shouldn't have agreed to, that the budget wasn't $250 million in December.  In fact, it was 326.9 million capital budget.  And you can see that, in fact, in the PowerPoint presentation of the entire budget which was given on December 17th, and it's filed in ‑‑ at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25 on page 27 of 37.  You can see the capital budget was 326.9.  So that is the number that went to the EMT from the various groups preparing the capital budget.  It wasn't 250.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So on December 17th, 2004, you thought that your budget for 2006 would be $326 million?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  That included the RFP project and explains what is included, as well, on that slide.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I wonder if you can turn to K14.1, please?


 MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm looking at page 9.  This document is a public disclosure document required to be filed by law, isn't it, Mr. Ladanyi?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're required to give full, true and plain disclosure in such a document?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the company says there ‑‑ this document was filed in January 2005?


MR. LADANYI:  I'm looking at the date.  Yes, I believe it was.  Yes.  Let me just check this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or maybe early February.


MR. LADANYI:  I think it was later.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was also filed in August, but I think we were told when we asked about it earlier that it was filed in August, but the two components of it were filed earlier in the year; isn't that right?


MR. LADANYI:  I think it was in March.  I don't know whether ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  So in March, then, you told the financial community, and I'm quoting from under the heading "Capital Expenditures":  

"The company anticipates capital expenditure requirements of between $250 million to $300 million a year in the near term to support the current level of customer growth."


Now, at that time, you already knew that you wanted a $450 million budget, didn't you?


MR. LADANYI:  I can't explain this wording.  The only thing I can say is this was written at some earlier time.  That's the only thing I can say.  I am really not entirely sure.  I cannot explain this particular sentence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  It was actually filed again in August, wasn't it?


MR. LADANYI:  Filed again?  No, I think you might have been aware of it in August, but it has been available since -- I think since the spring.  I'm not entirely sure what the first date is.  I can find out, if you give me a minute.  It will take me a while to -- there is another interrogatory which has in it the financial statements.


 Sorry, the date of this report actually is January 25th, 2005.  You can see the date at Exhibit A1, tab 7, schedule 2, page 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. LADANYI:  So at January 25th, that was the knowledge of the management, which I think is completely consistent with what happened.  As was pointed out in the two strategic planning sessions -- not two strategic planning sessions, but the discussion during when the policy panel was on, the management had two strategic planning sessions, one in January, one in February, and the final decision to increase the capital budget was not made until after the second session, when the whole process was over.  


So on January 25th, to the best of the knowledge of the people writing this document, that was what they expected.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is, in fact, signed by Mr. Schultz; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And at the time that he signed this, he already knew he had asked for an increase to the cast-iron mains budget; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I think he, if I recall his testimony - I don't want to go to the transcript right now ‑ he said that he had asked Mr. Beaumont to see what can be done to accelerate the replacement of cast iron and bare steel.  He was very concerned about the leak frequency and the danger this posed to the public, and he wanted more focus on that.  And Mr. Beaumont presented a program, but the program wasn't finally approved at that point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true that this was also filed, this same document was filed, in August as a disclosure document at the Ontario Securities Commission, wasn't it?


MR. LADANYI:  It's the annual ‑‑ it's the 2004 annual review, so it couldn't be changed.  It was -- essentially, it's the same document as was -- what was available January 25th.  It just has a different cover on it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so will you undertake to file with the Board the new disclosure document that shows that the capital needs have increased by more than 80 percent?  You must have disclosed that to your investors, right, that you have an 80 percent increase in your capital needs?


MR. LADANYI:  I am not sure.  Are you talking about -- a similar document would be a 2005 annual report, which would be filed, which we prepared in January of 2006.  So it's not the end of 2005 yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have an obligation to file material changes in your financial ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  I can undertake to find out for you what kind of disclosure has been given publicly, but, beyond that, I don't have a similar annual report, obviously.  The year isn't over yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, of course not.  So you will undertake to provide us with whatever filings you have which your updated 2006 capital needs?


MR. LADANYI:  If there is such a document.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.5.


UNDERTAKING NO. J18.5:  REGULATORY FILING OF UPDATED

2006 CAPITAL NEEDS

MR. SHEPHERD:  You understand, Mr. Ladanyi, that the difficulty here is the impression of, I guess, some of your ratepayers that the only people that you're telling that you need all this money is the Ontario Energy Board.  To everybody else it's business as usual, $250 million a year, except to the OEB, and to them you're saying, No, no, no, it is 450 million.


So I'm trying to dispel that impression.


MR. LADANYI:  Well, I really -- I thank you for trying to dispel that and I think you're doing a good job.  I think you gave me an opportunity to point out that when the annual report was filed, we were still in the process of looking at the capital budget.  That process really took place and was completed in February and in March.  So it is quite consistent with the public disclosure so far.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I also want to point out the obvious.  We brought Mr. Schultz here to answer questions that intervenors might have of him about policy issues around the O&M capital budgets.  Mr. Ladanyi is now being put on the spot to try to answer questions about a document signed by Mr. Schultz.
     Well, the questions could have been put to Mr. Schultz when he was here.  That was the reason for bringing him here.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Had the company filed this document, yes, we could have asked Mr. Schultz those questions.  The company didn't file this document.
     MR. CASS:  You just -- sorry, Madam Chair, through you, Mr. Shepherd made a big point that this is publicly  available, public disclosure document of the company and how long it's been available.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm finished in this area, Madam Chair.
     I wonder if we could turn to your IT capital budget.  I only have a few questions there.  But I wonder -- Mr. DeWolf, this is for you.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn up CCC interrogatory number 112.
     MS. NOWINA:  What number was it, Mr. Shepherd?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I, 5, 112.
     MS. NOWINA:  112?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at page 4 of this.
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this 490, is this just hardware or is it hardware and software?
     MR. LADANYI:  490 is hardware and software.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Hardware and software.  So, Mr. DeWolf, it's true that you're proposing an increase in your IT component of rate base of 26 percent at the end of 2006 as opposed to 2004?
     MR. DeWOLF:  As opposed to 2005.  In 2004, we spent 45 so the decrease from 2004, there was a huge decrease from 2004 to 2005.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking about rate base.  Not capital expenditures.
     MR. LADANYI:  If you're looking at the rate base, so a good indication of rate base would be, by the way, everyone should be at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 112.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 4.
     MR. LADANYI:  Page 4.  We're now looking at comparison of column 7, which is the 2005 figures and column 8, which is the 2006.  2007 net book value of, in account 490, computer and equipment is 62.2 million.  And in 2006, it's 70.8 million and we can calculate the percent increase, if you like.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I was actually asking about 2004 to 2006.  But that's fine.  So 2005 to 2006 is 11 percent.
     MR. LADANYI:  Are you interested in percentages or well just let it go?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm asking you whether there is a 26 percent increase from 2004 to 2006.
     MR. LADANYI:  I have 9.7 percent increase over the 2004 stub because they're on the same calendar-year basis.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you added 8 million in that stub?
     MR. LADANYI:  Pardon me?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You added 8 million in that stub period.
     MR. LADANYI:  8.2 million.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Approximately that, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  We'll leave it at that.  No.  It is true, isn't it, that your year ended 2006 is almost four times your year ended 2003?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.  We made significant investments in IT since 2003 to replace our legacy hardware.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  A lot of that was because you ran down your -- I don't mean ran down in a bad sense, I mean you took your rate base down --
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- in 2002.  Then starting in 2003 you started to build it back up.
     MR. DeWOLF:  We ran the old capital as long as we could to benefit the ratepayer and then when it couldn't be run any longer, we then started replacing it.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  We heard you talk about that in your O&M as a strategy to save some money.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But the levels you're going up to are a lot more than the levels you were at in the first place; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  If we look back -- I will turn you to my evidence Exhibit A5, tab 4, schedule 1 -- back in 1997, we were at $143 million in capitalization.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's really a different sort of thing because you had your CIS -- no.  That --
     MR. DeWOLF:  The CIS wasn't in there.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But it did include a whole lot of other things you since transferred out to other entities; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  No.  It included SIM, strategic information management applications, a whole series of applications.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not really a comparable number?
     MR. DeWOLF:  It's a comparable number, in that the only things that it would be missing would be the enterprise-wide financial system and the work and asset management system.  So those two systems are the only two systems in here that have now been moved out.  And I would say that that might be $43 million of that.
     And we got to look at net present value, too.  So I would say that we're no longer -- nowhere near up to where we were before.
     MR. LADANYI:  I want to put this – because SIM is actually an important thing to consider.  When we introduced the strategic information management initiative, which was, I believe, in 1991 test year, we had a program to replace a lot of our really obsolete applications and also to introduce new applications.  We also rolled out PCs to employees in that project and the Board at that time decided that this would be tracked separately in a separate account.  You can see that on the previous page, which is page 3, and it's account 489 SIM.
     So a lot of those -- and that, that essentially the gross plant value of those applications is $62 million.  These were close to rate base in September of 1997 and they're now depreciated.  These are the applications which are being replaced with new applications but the new applications are going into account 490.  The old ones were in 489.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So you have to add the two together to --
     MR. LADANYI:  If you were to look at the whole thing, yes, you would have to combine the two together.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. DeWolf, it's true when you have a capital budget for IT, it isn't always spent on which it was originally authorized for; right?  You often change priorities.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Often priorities, the thing we anticipate 18 months ahead are not what, when we come to around to the period, that -- the business needs or things change and, therefore, the business decides to deploy its capital on another project rather than the one that we originally anticipated, that is correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn up Board Staff interrogatory number 62.  Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 62.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at the first paragraph there, I think what this says is that you redirected about 2.7 million from an approved project for CIS interface enhancements to basically a new fancy website; right?     Web portal.
     MR. DeWOLF:  A Web portal.  I wouldn't call it a fancy website.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's a great website, by the way.  Great website.  But that wasn't authorized by the Board; right?  What was authorized by the Board was the CIS interface enhancements; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's the description I gave the Board when I gave my evidence as to what I thought I was going to do when I do it.  I don't think I would characterize it as being that the Board approved that that was the actual thing I was --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not being critical.  A normal part of what you do is when the time comes, you re-establish your priorities based on what's important today and you live within your budget or you try to live within your budget and spend on the things that are most important today.  Right.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's true.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the most important thing is not the CIS project but is the website because that was a higher priority, more critical in 2004 -- or 2005, that's what you spend it on.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  An then what happens is, if you spend on something that wasn't in the budget in the first place, in the next rate case, the Board looks at it or can look at it and assess its prudence; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But as a matter of practice, you don't actually include in your prefiles, the documentation to demonstrate prudence on past projects; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  No, I don't.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you do is you wait and see if any intervenors or Board Staff have questions about the prudence of those past expenditures, like the website, and if you do, then you provide them with the information in IR responses.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in this case, this web portal, you believed that that spending was more than justified because of the benefits you will get from increasing web access for your customers; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And those benefits include things like reduced call centre volume, reduced letter enquiries, all sorts of stuff like that; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes, and customer satisfaction in that the customers have been unhappy with our web site previously.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, in fact, you're planning to spend more on the web ‑‑ I don't like to call it a web site, because it's really way more than that; right?  You're doing business through the web?


MR. DeWOLF:  It is an infrastructure that will allow us to do many kinds of transactions with our customers in the future.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're planning to spend more on that in 2006; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How much?  Just give me an idea.


MR. DeWOLF:  It's in my evidence, so I can give you the number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.


MR. DeWOLF:  We anticipate about $5 million of things that, once we have built the infrastructure, we will now start putting the applications on that infrastructure that would provide services to our customers, and our estimate is that that will cost about $5 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, my understanding of the concept behind this approach is that the more your customers can use what is, in effect, self-service through the web to deal with you on all sorts of customer care matters, the less customer care costs you; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes, if all of the applications that we're throwing on were customer care.  I would think that also we will be putting different applications on the web, too.  For instance, as the price of gas potentially will go up this winter, we may be putting on applications to help our customers determine how efficient their home is, so that they might look at window replacements and those kind of things, which would not change the call centre at all, but would have benefit to our customer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you will have some benefits in things like DSM?


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will have some benefits in your routine customer care costs, less calls to the call centre; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we wanted to look for the benefits of this spending, we should look in those sorts of areas and see reductions in those costs; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  Over time, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But we're not actually seeing any reductions in customer care costs, for example, are we?


MR. DeWOLF:  You'd have to ask the customer care panel, but I'm not overly familiar with their evidence, so ...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm really -- I'm actually not focussing on that.  I'm really focussing on your ‑‑ your project.


MR. DeWOLF:  Right.  My project delivers benefits, but they don't happen right away.  When you invest in an application, it takes time for the customers to get used to doing things on the web.  The older customers have reticence to using the web.  And so it will take time for those things to actually happen.


When they first come on, we will have people with questions about the web and help, and so we'll have added costs in that area, and so the benefits will come over time as the customers become more ‑‑ know that the web is there and understand that they can get those answers there, rather than a call centre. 


What we're trying to do initially is get the customers who aren't phoning the call centre and aren't getting the information, who are going to the web looking for it and they're not finding it and they're not phoning the call centre.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The things like doing business through the Internet, those are the best example or a very good example of projects that you do in IT that drive rates down, right, in the long‑term.


MR. DeWOLF:  In the long term, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you've been doing that for years with different types of systems that drive rates down over time; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's my desire.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But not all of your projects have benefits for ratepayers; right?  Some of your projects are more qualitative or more indirect?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.  Some of them are so we can provide better service for the customer and, therefore, when they ask us to do something, we actually do it at the time that we told them that we were going to do it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can turn up CME Interrogatory No. 21.  That's I, 3, 21.


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes, I have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If I read this correctly ‑‑ and tell me whether I'm wrong, but as I understand this, what you're saying is that the costs listed here Entrac and for Enmar don't have any offsetting financial benefits to the ratepayers; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  In general, no.  Some of the enhancements to Entrac may indirectly, through the marketers, have benefits to those ratepayers who choose to buy their gas through marketers, but, in a general sense, not directly from the utility to the ratepayer, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'm still within IT, but I am going to move to another area.  Maybe this is an appropriate time for the break, if it's convenient to the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  Good idea, Mr. Shepherd.  Why don't we do that?  We will break until 10:45 a.m. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:50 a.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I thank you Madam Chair.  

Mr. DeWolf, in 2004 you went over budget - no, hang on a second.  I'm in the wrong place.
     Never mind.  I want to finish off on the CIS interface enhancement.
     You will recall that they were included in your 2005 budget but then you spent the money on the web access thing; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right that those are now back in your 2006 budget?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes, the CIS, because the project was postponed and so now we're looking to do that in 2006.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I don't mean to be cynical, but it looks like you had it included in rates in 2005.  So the ratepayers paid for it once already.  And now you're coming back and asking for the ratepayers to pay for it again.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Not quite.  Well, we gave the ratepayers something else, rather than the CIS interfaces in 2005.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what happened, in fact, is when you didn't have to spend the money on that CIS project because that project was delayed, instead of saving the money you spent it on something else; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.  Because the ratepayer had paid for that, so we thought we should spend the ratepayers' money.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  That's good.  In 2004, you went over budget 7.4 million in IT capital.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And most of that you're closing to rate base in 2005; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that, the breakdown of that 7.4 million is detailed in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 69.  Can you turn that up.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, that reference again.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I, 1, 69.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
     MR. DeWOLF:  I have that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just -- you didn't include in your prefiles any evidence to back up the prudence of these additions to rate base; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you still haven't done so, except in response to Board Staff 68 which I am going to come to in a second.  That's the only place where you have given us evidence as to the prudence of these expenditures; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only one that you've dealt with in 68 is the Entrac scope changes; is that right?  Have you dealt with the other ones too?
     MR. DeWOLF:  No.  I think we have dealt with all of them in 68.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You dealt with all of them in 68, okay.
     So let's turn to I-1, 68, then.  I'm looking first at pages 3 and 4 of the actual IR response itself.  Not the attachments.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This appears, to me -- tell me whether I'm right, Mr. DeWolf -- to be a list of the scope changes on Entrac totalling 1.8 million.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so most of them say they're included in the original benefit of the project.  What does that mean?
     MR. DeWOLF:  When this table was put together, I asked that if the addition of the change was going to give benefits beyond what had been initially envisioned by the project, that they be identified.  And those where the change to the project was still going to get us to the same place, because when we look at these enhancements, we categorize them that way to say -- as we get them signed off, to say:  This is something that not only is going to be added cost it is going to give an added benefit, or, no it is an added cost.  It is something we missed in the design.  So therefore we're going to have to do this.  And it doesn't give us any more benefit than before.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I understand correctly, 1.2 million of the 1.8 is stuff that didn't give any more benefit; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have two other categories, regulatory and user request.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What are they?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Regulatory were places where, because of changes in regulation, we had to make some change.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's not an additional benefit that is complying with the change to rules.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.  But we do categorize that differently when we come on and use a request where -- other user requests to add definite functionality where the user was able to specify a benefit and, therefore, we decided that it should be gone forward with.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So those ones would have customer benefits, although those aren't necessarily financial benefits; right?  This is not something that’s driving rates down, this $1.8 million.
     MR. DeWOLF:  The $1.8 million, in total, the 1.2 definitely wouldn't.  The 81,000 wouldn't because it is a regulatory overhead.  Some of that $511,000 could have benefits either through the marketers or directly to the ratepayers.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, scope changes are a common feature of IT projects; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I heard someone say, maybe it was you in the last couple of weeks, that when you go into an IT project, you expect that there is going to be lots of scope changes.  That's the nature of the beast.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't matter how well you plan it.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So when this Board approves money for your IT capital budget, is it reasonable for the Board to expect that the amounts you spend on particular projects may well end up being more than what's approved because of scope changes?
     MR. DeWOLF:  In general, we try to keep the scope changes inside the project.  So therefore the -- we take an estimate of what the scope changes are going to be, and so these scope changes were scope changes that went beyond what Sapient -– in this case we contracted the job out to Sapient, what Sapient had, because we had a fixed price    for the design that we had.  So these were where the design that we gave to them was changed and, therefore, they were able to come back and say, There is an added cost to that because you guys have now changed what you wanted.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a standard 20 percent contingency that you use for IT projects?
     MR. DeWOLF:  The contingency changes by projects.  I wouldn't say that it's 20 percent, but 20 is one of the percentages we use.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's typical of the range of contingencies you try to put in; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  On a big project, that would be the kind of contingency we might put in on a project.  But if we're just replacing a unit server, we wouldn’t be putting that in.  If we were replacing desktops, we wouldn't put those kind of contingencies in.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, of course.  The place you have uncertainties is when you're writing custom software or you’re doing customer interfaces or you’ve got a whole lot of consultants that have to work with each other, that sort of thing.  Those are areas where you can end up with lots of changes and overruns; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct. 
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I want to just look at one example of one of your projects and see if I can understand how you contain these costs.
     In this same IR response, you have a number of original authorization documents.  So I have turned to attachment 1, this is the Enrich project.  Do you see that?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell us what the Enrich project is.
     MR. DeWOLF:  The Enrich project was a project to enhance the employee portal that we operate to provide information to the employees.  So this is different than the customer portal that we talked about earlier.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is actually an expense saving device, right, the idea is to have a more efficient way of delivering information to your employees so you drive your communication -- your internal communication costs down and you improve the quality of the communication.
     MR. DeWOLF:  You improve the quality of the communications.  I'm not sure that we would, the amount of paper or e-mails that would be sent out.  It's basically a change of venue so that instead of sending large amounts of e-mails out to everybody to keep them informed, we can post it once and I suppose there is a saving in that, in that there is less disk space because 1,600 e-mail messages sitting on servers take up space where putting it once on the portal and having people go there for the information saves some disk space.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It also improves the efficiency of the company by making your communications more precise and more robust.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The executive sponsor -- I'm looking at this approval form here.  And it says, the project or business sponsor, which I guess is the executive sponsor, is Mr. Player, who is the vice president of finance.


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the project manager, the person who is asking for the money, I guess, is Reg Elliott?  


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  He works for EI; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- but this is a ‑‑ why does this project involve EI?


MR. DeWOLF:  Because the portal is an EI portal, so it is an Enbridge-wide portal, and Gas Distribution was using this portal and becoming more and more reliant on the portal, and there were changes that we wanted to have made to the portal that the other business units couldn't support and didn't need.  And I was convinced that there would be no real benefit to them for these enhancements, and so, therefore, Gas Distribution took on the cost of those changes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. DeWOLF:  And we had Reg do the project, to get back to your original question, and so we ‑‑ he actually was on the project for free, because he's already paid for portal through the allocations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Through the corporate cost allocations?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Uh‑huh.  So -- but the capital costs of this project is paid by EGD?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And these enhancements, they're available to everybody in the enterprise-wide company?


MR. DeWOLF:  They are available to everybody, but the other business units will not take advantage of them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're not being allocated any of the capital cost?


MR. DeWOLF:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Elliott's salary is not being charged to the project; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're already paying for him through another means?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm looking at this authorization sheet, and it says it is just under $1 million, $966,000?


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's characterized here in this box in the centre as non‑discretionary and providing intangible benefits.  What does that mean, "non‑discretionary"?


MR. DeWOLF:  Well, in that it wasn't something that just came out of a pool of funds.  This was ‑‑ I would have to check with the finance department to know precisely what they mean by that word, but basically it's that there is no return on investment.  There are no tangible benefits.  


So if you look at the different categories there, there are non‑discretionary where we -- we haven't really ‑‑ there is no return on investment.  There is no intangible benefits, and so, therefore, you've got purchase of new equipment to be meet business needs, replacement of stolen assets, those kinds of things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that sort of means like, We need this?


MR. DeWOLF:  We need this.  We need this and it needs to be done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, there is a business case attached, which we're going to get to in a second, which talks about the benefits, the intangible benefits, of having a better system; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not doing it for fun.  You're doing it because it is going to be much better than what you've got?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And just this is -- because it is over $750,000, it has to be approved all the way up the line, even by Mr. Schultz; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And although this isn't signed by Mr. Schultz, presumably a copy of this somewhere is signed by Mr. Schultz; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  I would expect so, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I mean, that's not something that you ‑‑ the step you skip?  


MR. DeWOLF:  No, that is not a step we skip.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not at Enbridge.


MR. DeWOLF:  The other documents we have have his signature on them.  This copy, for some reason, doesn't have his signature.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm just looking at the top right.  It says, "Paid out of a budget of pool of funds."  Does that mean it is within your existing budget?


MR. DeWOLF:  It's within an existing pool of funds that we have from our corporate to spend, and so it means that we don't have to go back to corporate to get approval for this.  That's basically what that means.


So either it is in a budget, okay, or that it's in Jim's realm of give and take that he's got before he goes to Calgary, because he's gone far beyond where he said he was going to in his budget.  So basically it means that -- that is what that means.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we know this was a cost overrun, so obviously it wasn't included in your Board‑approved budget; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- but it was included in your internal corporate budget?


MR. DeWOLF:  The finance people had capital budget that they could tie this to, and it would be okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. DeWOLF:  And that's all I can say.  You'd have to ask the finance people what precisely that means.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the project was approved in September 2004?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've been spending on it in the stub period in 2004 and throughout 2005; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  And into 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so remember that this is a $966,000 approval, and I'm going to ask you to go to page 5 of this attachment.  Do you see the numbers page 5 of 24 at the top.


 MR. DeWOLF:  Page 5 of the attachment, so is this 5 of 21?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it is 5 of 24.  Five of 21 is at the bottom.  There's two sets of numbers, but the numbering of the exhibit is at the top.


MR. DeWOLF:  Five of 24, okay.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And about a third of the way down it says that the cost is 2,115,000 plus a 20 percent contingency of 404,000, so you've got a little more than 2.5 million, not even including the licences for LiveLink from the good boys at OpenText; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how come that budget is different from the $966,000 you got approved?


MR. DeWOLF:  Okay.  First of all, the costs, not including the LiveLink licence, was because they were funded -- those -- that part of the project was going to have benefit to the other part of the entity, so those licences were bought by Enbridge Inc.  So when it talks about another corporate budget -- so those aren't in there, so they never came to this project, anyway.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you still pay your share of it; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  Through the allocation, so we don't have to budget in this budget -- in this --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you analyze the cost effectiveness of this project, you assume the cost of the LiveLink licence is zero?


MR. DeWOLF:  No.  We go through this and we specify it here - and I don't know whether it comes out and actually says how much in the project - that the LiveLink licences were, but it states that they were there.  And so, therefore, whoever is reading this understands, and if they wanted to find out what those costs were, they would find those out, if they're not already in it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm just looking further down that ‑‑ this page, and tell me whether this is roughly correct.  As I read it, your current Plumtree product is out of date.  It doesn't handle documents well enough.  So you're upgrading to a newer version of Plumtree.  That's the portal; right?  And then you're replacing the document handling with the better capabilities in LiveLink?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's essentially the project in a nutshell?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's essentially the project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the reasons for this is that EI has separately made a decision to standardize on LiveLink for document management; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  For records and document management, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is not actually something that you're asking for because you want to standardize on it.  EI has already told you you're using LiveLink in the future for records management; right?


MR. DeWOLF:  Yes, but not through the portal.  So, therefore, the records on the portal were being managed by the records management within Plumtree, which was not robust enough for our needs, because we were having thousands and thousands of documents that were being posted and people couldn't find them.  The searches were taking long, because the Plumtree package is not a document ‑‑ is not a document management tool.  It has it in there for rudimentary usage, but we got to the point where we were using it to such an extent we needed to integrate LiveLink, which we could run separately and we could keep our documents separate from that, and we do and the corporate office does, but not necessarily through the portal.


And so this was the portal documents, to make the portal documents be managed by the same application that we were using to keep our other documents.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't disagree with you on the logic and I don't disagree that LiveLink is way better than Plumtree for handling documents.


The question is:  The impression one gets from this is that you came up with the idea that you would upgrade what you were doing and the rest of the company didn't need it.  But, in fact, what really happened is EI went to LiveLink, and because document management was being done in LiveLink, you had to change how you did it in the employee portal; isn't that right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's not right.  Because the -- we could have continued to manage our documents inside LiveLink, which we still do.  We don't -- the documents and the records that we use outside are managed using LiveLink as a separate application, not through the portal.
     It was the fact that we had the documents on the portal that we wanted to manage that didn't fall under our records retention policy and our document management policy, that we wanted to have those more easily accessible to our employees at a faster method, et cetera.  And so -- and because Enbridge Gas Distribution was using the portal in a way larger extent than the others.   The other business units, with the number of documents they were putting on the portal, didn't require LiveLink.  They were quite happy with the Plumtree document management.  It was working for them perfectly fine.
     However, Gas Distribution, because of the volumes, decided that we needed to have something better and because we already had the agreement and the benefit of having LiveLink licenses out of the corporate office for records management, it actually saved us some money in that we didn't have to go and find, get documents or one of the other packages to put it on.  We already had something.  We were able to negotiate a price which, again, Enbridge Inc. paid for, and we went forward with the project.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the things that you have to do as part of the cost of this, which you don't know yet how much it is going to be, is that you have to make the LiveLink access 7 by 24.  So you talk in here about the fact that that is an additional cost; is that right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.  That we wanted it to be a 7 by 24 environment.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know how much that is yet?
     MR. DeWOLF:  No.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it a lot?  It could be.
     MR. DeWOLF:  It could be.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So at the time Mr. Player and everybody else on that list of people who approved this project approved it, 965,000 anyway, they didn't know the costs of the LiveLink license and they didn't know the cost of the 7 by 24 access.  Did they?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Not through this document.  They knew they could find out the LiveLink price if they wanted to, if it's not in here.  So I am taking your word it isn't in here.
     And at that point, we did not know what the costs of the other was and so -- and in eventuality it was just left out of the project altogether.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you can turn two pages over to page 7.  I see here a heading called "out of scope".  This means things that -- the things on this list are not included on the budget; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Which of those things are likely to proceed in any case, eventually?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Eventually?  Um ...
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're anticipating all of them; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.  There is a potential for some people to want to have specific documents, specific applications that use both LiveLink and Plumtree features together.  There is some of those.
     So they're not included in this project.  Implementing single sign-on for resource too is not envisioned to be part of this.  Whether we get to that, or not, is yet to be seen.  So I don't know whether that will ever come, single sign-on is one of those fads that has come into fashion and whether it stays around or not, we will see.
     Microsoft Office, for use with LiveLink, et cetera, all of those things which are more document management things, were left out.  So all of those things are potential there and that's why we list them because we don't want somebody coming along and say, Oh, well this project was supposed to give me this.  So anybody who wanted to do any of these they would have to come up with their own project.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know the cost of those things; right?
     MR. DeWOLF:  No, I don't.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Going along to page 15 of this attachment.  Do you have that?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  15 of 24.  And there is a section there, annual operating cost.  All of the numbers there, all the place for numbers are blank.  At the time this was approved, you didn't know the annual operating costs of this new system?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Of the changes.  What the annual operating costs of the project would be to Gas Distribution, because our view was that there would be no incremental costs to Enbridge Gas Distribution, that the portal, once we got the project done, it could be supported by the same people who were supporting the portal at the time.  That was the assumption.
     And so we said it was left to be determined because the people in Edmonton who actually support the portal said, Well until you get the project done we're not sure -- or father into the project, we will not know whether we need added support staff to support this implementation.
     As it turned out, they did not.  They have been able to support it with the same people that were supporting the portal so there are no added extra cost to Gas Distribution for that added support.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Was there a change in the corporate cost allocation as a result of the enhanced use of the portal by EGD?
     MR. DeWOLF:  No.  I wouldn't believe so.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No?
     MR. DeWOLF:  No.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when you had this approved, Mr. Player thought the cost, operating cost of this enhancement was zero.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Panel, if I have questions about    gas-fired generation, I understand that those are for this afternoon?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, they are.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, joy.  Let me just ask you one sort of related area.
     You have $36.3 million as a placeholder for gas-fired generation; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You also have $36.8 million for Newmarket; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Originally, that was $19.4 million in the budget; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it was.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The increase of $17.4 million, that's because you anticipate distributed generation in the Newmarket area.
     MR. LADANYI:  No.
     MR. MILNE:  Actually, if I could answer that as well.
     The 19 million was actually based on our first analysis as to what was required to get a pressure of at least 425 pounds per square inch at a gate –- sorry, district station along the south shore of Lake Simcoe.  What we were looking for there is a way to reinforce that whole York region in the most cost-effective way.  So what we did originally, we said let's see if 16 inch will do it.
     We came up and we did the math and we did it for our analysis.  And at that time it came out to – the pressure at the end of the pipe would only be about 409.  It wasn't good enough.  

So what we did then is ran the next size up.  It's 20 inch.  We ran that for the scenario and said what would the pressure be at the end of the pipe when we did that, and it ended up 424, just, just enough.  The concern there was that probably doesn't give you enough flexibility.  If any of your growth assumptions are wrong, you'll have to back in a few years and reinforce that system once again, that’s not cost effective.
     So what we then did is say, okay, what would 24 inch do for us?  We ran that through the model.  That actually gives us about 431 pounds per square inch at the end of the pipe as well.  So we went through a series of sort of iterations.
     When I entered that in or my staff did in about -- I think it was first couple of weeks of November, that is when the budget was open for us, for the managers to input values, we were still working on the 16-inch scenario, that's all I had at that particular point in time so as a placeholder, I put it in.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's what was in the budget until December 14th; right?
     MR. MILNE:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then between December 14th and December 17th, you increased it to a 24-inch pipe.
     MR. MILNE:  No.  What we did is in November, we ran a whole series of scenarios taking a look at what would be needed, the size of pipe, and the length in which we would have to install it, provide the pressures we needed to maintain the pressure at the end of the pipe, and make sure we could handle all the growth in the area.
     So that occurred over November into early December.  At the end of it, by the time that the next iteration, which you have here, I believe, as the March 2nd budget.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  March 2nd?
     MR. MILNE:  The budget that was filed here which has the $36.8 million.
     MR. LADANYI:  The regulatory filing.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  There were a whole lot of iterations between December and March weren't there?  We know there was a presentation in January.  We know there were changes between January and February.
     MR. LADANYI:  The presentation was December 17th and it's in the evidence, and that is what Mr. Milne is talking about.  That's the budget that has $19.4 million for Newmarket reinforcement, and any changes were after December 17th.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.
     MR. MILNE:  I think you were also going to ask me, going back to your original question, about the impact of the power generation.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to get to that.  I'm looking at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 76, Board Staff interrogatory 76 in which you talk about the Newmarket reinforcement main.


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there you talk about the fact that the scope of the project is going to be driven by a distributed generation plant, or the potential for a distributed generation plant, in 2005 in the Newmarket area.  Do you see that?


MR. MILNE:  I do see that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell us about that.


MR. MILNE:  I mean, give me a second, because I will read the answer.  I didn't prepare this interrogatory.  Let me ...

     MR. LADANYI:  I actually had something to do with writing this interrogatory.  In the time the interrogatories were filed -- was filed, that was our best understanding of what is going to happen.  We felt that we would know better what would be happening in the York region.


The project, as filed, did not include the energy plant, but if there was some announcement had come out, we would of course be ready to respond to it.


Since then, the most recent announcement about York region needs came from Ontario Power Authority on September 9th in the press release, a news release, and they're talking about, in that news release, what they have in mind.  It doesn't look like there will be anything in 2006 for the -- for this power plant in York region.  It looks like it will be after 2006, but it is still -- plans are correct that we will not need to do anything with Newmarket reinforcement in 2006.  The budget as filed is a correct budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are still sizing it to be big enough to handle power generation in Newmarket; right?


MR. MILNE:  Actually, when we did the 24-inch, I then asked my staff saying, Well, if there is a power generation in that area - and the one proposal there was for something about 82,000 cubic metres and the pressure -- delivery pressure between 200 and 400 pounds per square inch - would this 24-inch pipe, okay, give us still the volume to meet that customer and still provide the volumes required for growth and still provide the pressure required at the end of the pipe?  And the answer was, Yes, it would.  


If that proposal goes ahead, if the changes ‑‑ if there's other ones, then I think what we're going to do with this proposal is -- it is actually several stages.  What I'm describing to you here is phase 1.  There's five different phases.  I suspect that as we get more information about these power generation sites, where they are, do they want us to come off our system or do they want a direct line, the impact could very well be is that we move forward in time the next phase. 


What I'm proposing at this point in time is phase 1, is that we build about -- I think it is 11 kilometres of 24-inch ‑‑ sorry, it's in here.  It's 24 kilometres at

24-inch ‑-


MR. LADANYI:  No, 11.3.


MR. MILNE:  11.3.  Thank you.


What we would do is, in phase 2, which we believe now to be scheduled for about 2010, I would probably have to move that forward.  It might be 2008, depending on what comes out of the RFPs.


So to me right now what I have, we'll deal with what we know, but if there is more, I'm going to have to move some of those reinforcements and advance them in time.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  In past years, Mr. Milne, if you had -- during the budget process, had to re-size something like that, you would typically be told by senior management, well you know, that's a really big increase, so you better find some way to save money somewhere else in your capital budget; right?  That's the normal way it is done at Enbridge; right?


MR. MILNE:  Well, let me back up on that.


Everything that we propose when it comes to reinforcement is based on modelling using our synergy, and it is basically saying, What are the pressures and what are the volumes that we need to meet our obligation to provide gas to our customers, but also have enough volume and pressure for the long term out to 2015?


And so those projects go for a software package that we use, and we analyze it based on customer growth.  So I would say that each one of those has been gone through and can stand on its own.  And if senior management were to come back and just say, That's a lot of money, can you not offset it with savings elsewhere, I would have to go back to them and say, This is what the system needs.  This is what the model requires.  There is nothing in this particular area that I can do to offset that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. MILNE:  Within my area, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to turn to cast-iron mains.  I know you've been dying to talk about this.


Your proposal is that you will get rid of your cast-iron mains at a rate of 181 kilometres per year starting in 2006, so that they will be gone by 2008; is that correct?


MR. MILNE:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As I understand it, this amounts to about a $50 million per year increase in capital expenditures for each of the next three years?


MR. MILNE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, up to 2004, you were replacing cast irons at a rate of 50 to 60 kilometres per year?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they would have been gone by the end of about 2015 at that rate?


MR. MILNE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your proposal is to triple the replacement rate that was approved in EBRO487 and 490.


MR. MILNE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, for 2005, you increase your rate already to 92 kilometres; right?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  Actually, I'm hoping by the end of this year to actually get about 100 kilometres of cast iron out of the system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you had increased from 50 to 60 to 92 in last year's rate case; right?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the way you did that is you did it within your normal capital budget of 250 million.  It was uncontroversial; right?


MR. MILNE:  Hm‑hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You just decided that was a priority.  It was more a priority than other things and --


MR. MILNE:  What I'm doing is making sure that I spend every single red penny that I have on the replacement program this year and that I spend that budget to the Nth degree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't my question, though.  When you came to the ‑‑


MR. MILNE:  I'm explaining why I'm being able to actually ramp it up to a certain degree within this year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But last year when you came to the Board, you said, We're sticking within the 250 million standard budget, but we're re-prioritizing.  We're going to do more of this cast-iron mains, because we think a little faster is a good idea; right?


MR. MILNE:  I would actually characterize it as, during this whole process of establishing the 2006 budget and when the senior management said that their risk tolerance had changed because of information, all of the information that was coming in, what I said is, Well, originally the budget says we hope to replace about 90, I want to see if I can't use that up.


So we did increase it, but I think it is also ‑‑ I call it sort of the warming-up stage.  I can't go from zero to 100 kilometres in one step.  So what I want to do is try to accelerate as much as I can this year, get the bugs out of system, so that if the Board agrees with this level of funding for next year, some of the homework has already been done and we're already starting to put and replace the pipe at an accelerated rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you're still talking about the change from budget to actual --


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- for 2005?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm back at how you set the budget for 2005.  When you set the budget for 2005, you said, I think - tell me if I'm wrong - we've been doing 50 to 60 kilometres.  We think maybe ramping this up would be a good idea.  We're going to make it 92 kilometres in 2005.  That's going to be what is in our budget, and we're going to get that from re-prioritizing within the budget.  That's what you did; right?


MR. MILNE:  Actually, I said that we wanted to do the 92 clicks.  I didn't say necessarily that I would re-prioritize.  I would say that I would actually spend every red penny that I was given towards that.  So I didn't cut back on relocation.  I didn't cut back on reinforcement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, did you ask for more money for 2005?


MR. MILNE:  No.  We're spending what we got.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's just go back.  When you filed your regulatory budget for 2005, did you ask for more money than 2004?  "No", right?


MR. MILNE:  Actually, 2005?  Forgive me here.  Let me ...

     If I go to your Exhibit K6.5 ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why don't you use -- because I don't have 6.5, I wonder if you could go to I, 18, 27 as the detailed break down.


MR. MILNE:  Sorry, could you give us the reference again, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 27.


MR. MILNE:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 2, there is a chart of your capital expenditures for several years.


MR. MILNE:  Okay.  I'm with you now, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't ask -- when you went to the 2005 budget, you didn't actually ask for more money than you had spent in 2004, did you, or that you were planning on spending in 2004, did you?  And, in fact, you're not planning to spend more than in 2004, are you?


MR. MILNE:  Sorry, in your exhibit here, are you looking at line 1.2.2?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
     MR. MILNE:  You're looking at the 2005 estimate which is 30.2 million?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
     MR. MILNE:  Comparing that against the 24, actual of 21.5?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
     MR. MILNE:  So that's a bit of an increase.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is the cast-iron mains.  And what you did you found it in the rest of the budget, right, because the budget is actually within your $250 million standard envelope; right?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.  Well, at that time, the scope of the project was driven by what we call a risk assessment model that we call CIRAS and basically it's a way to evaluate the number of mains, in a particular year, that we believe need to be replaced.
     So from that bottom-up, we used the traditional CIRAS modelling and that is the number that actually came out of that.
     MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Shepherd, there was a settlement agreement for 2005, so our agreement was to manage to a budget of $247.1 million and that's what we tried to do.  That was the objective.  So it is not surprising that that is what happened.  That was part of the settlement agreement.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  I wonder if you could look at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 74.
     MR. MILNE:  Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 74?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  74.
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This says the status quo replacement program would replace cast-iron mains of 75 kilometres a year.  How is that the status quo?
     MR. MILNE:  What it did, the 75 kilometres was based on the average replacement rates done between 2000 and 2004, over five years.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But in fact what you'd been doing is 50 to 60 kilometres up to 2004 and then more in 2005.  92, right?  So your actual standard was 50 to 60.
     MR. MILNE:  In 2004, we replaced 67 kilometres of cast iron.  2003 it was 75.  In 2002 it was 96.  2001, 68 -- call it 69, and in 2000, 62 kilometres.
     So the average of that is what I said was my status quo based on an average over five years.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Where did those numbers come from?
     Sorry, I didn't see them.

MR. MILNE:  They weren't in evidence, forgive me, Mr. Sommerville, it's actually a document that I have.  So the bottom line is that really what we're trying to do today is, I guess it is fair to say, is go above the status quo I try to get all my ducks lined up and make sure I can actually manage to do kilometres a year of replacement.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask you to turn to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 36.
     MR. MILNE:  Sorry forgive me, Mr. Shepherd.  Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- 16.  Page 36.
     MR. LADANYI:  We have it.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is, in the middle you see an

e-mail from Mr. Beaumont to Mr. Schultz; do you see that?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Beaumont says for the years 2004 and previous, you were replacing about 50 to 60 kilometres of cast-iron mains per year at a cost of roughly ten million dollars.  That's what he says.
     MR. MILNE:  That's what he says.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not correct.
     MR. MILNE:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.
     MR. MILNE:  I think what Mr. Beaumont did is basically his gut feel, and what I was quoting from you is actually pulled from our records.  We went through them and did an extract.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  We've heard this described as an issue of safety and reliability.  You need to speed it up if you want the customer -- company's system to meet acceptable safety and reliability standards; is that right?
     MR. MILNE:  That's correct.  Among other things as well.  It's a cumulative of many factors.  Safety is primary.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I only heard safety and reliability.  Is there something else?
     MR. MILNE:  Well, I think Mr. Beaumont when he was here also talked about how we were aware of pending legislation change, how we take a look at some of the benchmarking, how we actually look at the impact of services, so we're trying to take a more holistic look at the system and reinsuring the continued safety and reliability.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in the past, you said that your previous rate of replacement, call it 75 on average, allows you to maintain a safe and reliable system.  That was true when you said it to the Board all those many years over the last 20; right?
     MR. MILNE:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Something changed your mind.
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it was.
     MR. MILNE:  It's actually an accumulation of several things.  First of all, we took a look at what we expected to see from the rate of main breaks.  And they were --actually, prior to 1990 they were going up exponentially.  We started replacing our cast iron.  And then we thought because we were replacing the worst sections, that that actually would go down.
     It's really sort of flatlined out.  The second element --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Hang on.  Hang on.  Let's just ask about that.  I wonder if you can turn up Energy Probe interrogatory number 77.
     MR. MILNE:  Okay.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's I, 8, 77.  I'm looking at page 1.  Do you have that?
     MR. MILNE:  I do.  Thank you.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I think what you just said is that you expected that the rate of breaks would peak around 1990 or so, in the early 90s and would go down.
     MR. MILNE:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at this chart and it looks like that is exactly what happened, hasn’t it, it's gone down 50 percent since that early 90s period.
     MR. MILNE:  In five-year chunks, that's right.  But it still – it’s not coming down in the last five years.  It's plateaued right out.  I don't see it, when you map the individual breaks per year, in that five-year period, between 2000 and 2007, you don't see the decline that you hope to see.
     Bear with me.  There is another chart in the evidence that --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually going to take you to that.  It's IGUA interrogatory number 34, at page 20.  This is Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 34, page 20.  Is that chart you're talking about?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes, it is.  Yes.  Let me see if my numbering is the same.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let the Board get it.
     MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a page number on that, Mr. Shepherd?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  That is page 20 of the attachment.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a chart headed up “Cast-Iron Main Breaks”.
     So Mr. Milne, it looks to me like that's gone down too.  So explain why that is not the case.
     MR. MILNE:  Certainly, I -- and I agree with you.  When you plot that line, that regression, there is a downward slope.  The critical fact is if you look at the 

R-square value, which is basically a statistical measure as to how strong is that relationship, it's very, very low.  That number ranges from zero to one.  So at .017, it's saying the relationship that you see there is not very strong.  And the reason for that is basically those two years where you've got, in '95, and in 2003, you get those spikes.  And that's what is happening.  We're having a lot of scatter in the data and what it shows, at a superficial level, a downwards -- it is not statistically valid.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, I see.  So we have the absolute numbers, reduction in the last five years as compared to 15 years ago.
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is a substantial 50 percent.  And we have this chart that seems to show a downward trend.  But you're saying those are numbers that you don't feel are reliable numbers?
     MR. MILNE:  I'm saying the statistics that you apply to them indicate that that is not a strong relationship.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your first thing was break history.
     MR. MILNE:  That's right.  Then I was going to go into leaks.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So leaks.
     MR. MILNE:  Leaks do show a continued upward trend.  Leaks are often almost like the canary in the mine.  You often end up getting more leaks, and it's an indication that perhaps in time you are going to end up getting more main breaks.


So there is a chart in the evidence, as well, I suspect ‑‑ oh, thank you.  Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 34, page 23 of 24.  I'm sorry, it's the same document.  It's a later slide.  It's entitled "Cast-Iron Main Leaks".


MS. NOWINA:  We have it.


MR. MILNE:  Okay.  In there ‑‑ excuse me.  You can see that there is an upward trend.  You also have an R2 that actually now is about 0.7, which is much stronger.  The implication here is that leaks ‑‑ and I must explain something.  These are actually repaired leaks.  So this is a subset of my leak data, and what I want to do is I want to verify that the leak actually was coming off the

cast-iron main.  So these were verified by the very process of fixing the leak.


MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the problems with leak data generally, and the American Gas Foundation has talked about this, is that the leak data is generally very unreliable, because a lot of the causes aren't known; right? 


So you have taken a subset of what you know precisely what the cost is?


MR. MILNE:  Exactly, because we dug this up to actually repair the leak, and so at the same time, it verified where was it, on what pipe, what material.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so this is an increasing environmental issue?


MR. MILNE:  I would say that it's an indication of an increasing safety issue.  So what you see here is that for the first time, in about 2004, we exceeded about one leak per kilometre.  I've got it expressed here as 100 leaks ‑‑ it's actually about 109 leaks per 100 kilometres.  The rate was 1.087 leaks per kilometre.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, go on.  So your second reason is leak history?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.  And to a certain degree, we compared that with some of our other colleagues.  I'm not necessarily at liberty to mention the names, but there is a company that also has an accelerated replacement program, and their leak rate at which point they thought that they should proactively approach their regulator to engage this was actually about 0.8 leaks per kilometre.  So they actually decided that they needed to do something a little bit sooner than we did here, to be honest.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your break history is actually better than most people with cast-iron mains, isn't it?


MR. MILNE:  Yes, I would say.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But your leak history is not as good, or is --


MR. MILNE:  I think our leak history is pretty good.  It's just the trend line is not where I would like it to go.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So break history and leak history are two of the reasons.  Then what other reasons are there for this acceleration?


MR. MILNE:  Actually, the implications and the impact of services that come off the cast-iron mains here, there's about -- in Toronto, which is where all the cast iron is, there's about 73,000 customers that are serviced by that cast iron system, and about, I would say, 54,000 of them have inside meters.  And of the 54,000, 17,000 actually have a straight service line.


The reason why that is important is that one of the things that recent incidents have shown us is that wherever you actually have a steel service line that goes into the basement of a building below grade in a straight run, with the meter and the regulator on the inside on the basement, if there is ever a situation where the excavator hooks that steel line, there is the risk that they will actually pull it out.  The way that steel line breaks, it usually breaks at what we call a junction.  It is usually where the service line joins to the regulator or the meter and pull out, that way.  


Now, plastic is not as strong, so what happens is it just breaks at the point right there, as well.


So we factored that into our thinking, as well, based on the experience that we've had.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So that's interesting, because that is actually a different problem, right, and that is the problem of having meters inside the building?


MR. MILNE:  It's an issue, what I would call, of configuration.  It's meters inside associated with below-grade steel services that go straight in that don't have what I call an external weak link outside the building itself.  So there is nothing that can give outside.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you're generally doing to fix that is you're moving the meters outside as much as possible?


MR. MILNE:  What we usually do to fix that is when we replace the cast iron, we re-lay the service at the same time, and then use new material, and so you're back into plastic.  And so what you have really done, you've changed the configuration and you have changed the risk profile.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're not moving meters?  I thought you were moving your meters as much as you could.


MR. MILNE:  I think when we do our ‑‑ we do our cast iron, I do believe we take the opportunity to take inside meters and put them outside.  I'm not sure if we say it is mandatory at that point in time.  There's lots of ways you can change the configuration.  You can change the material.  You can put a weak link in.  You could put in an excess flow valve.  There's other things you can do.


I think, with respect, Mr. Shepherd, you're also thinking of an initiative that we've got underway to remove inside meters associated with IT systems out, and that was based on a recent incident, and there we are aggressively doing that and pushing and pushing to get all of those - absolutely all of them - out of the system, in terms of inside to outside.


MR. LADANYI:  In general, though, in a cast-iron program, what we would try to do is we would try to move the meter outside and we would just follow outside regulator, and we would go through the wall above grade.  


So if the old service went below grade and there was no regulator, pressure regulator -- because the old cast iron operates at a very low pressure.  It does not require a regulator at the premise, in general.  So, therefore, we would, in the new system, be operating at a higher pressure.  It requires a regulator and will also have typically a meter which will be hanging on the outside of the house that would be easily accessible to the meter reader.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But this isn't one of the reasons why you replaced cast-iron mains.  It's one of the collateral benefits, is that when you're replacing cast-iron mains, you also fix this other problem?


MR. MILNE:  I would say that's correct, and -- but it is an important by-product of that, given recent incidents.  We actually are -- I think Mr. Beaumont mentioned this, as well.   We're now taking a more holistic view, and we're getting a better understanding that sometimes the risks associated with the services coming off the mains for

cast-irons main is just as problematic as the cast-iron main itself is.  So it's like two birds, one stone.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is not the cast-iron mains that causes those other problems?


MR. MILNE:  You're right.  It's the configuration of the service coming off the cast iron.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the fact that just as the cast-iron mains are old, so are those old configurations, and so it just happens they're both old?


MR. MILNE:  That's true.  Most of the cast iron, just so you know, is installed around the turn the century, so about 1901, up to about 1955.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Another one of the reasons -- we heard Mr. Beaumont talk about this.  One of the reasons that influenced your decision to move to an accelerated program was the American Gas Foundation report in January 2005.


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is an undertaking to file.  Have you filed it yet?


MR. MILNE:  I believe we have not at this particular point in time.  I believe, though, it is in process of being filed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because that undertaking was given a couple of weeks ago, wasn't it?


MR. LADANYI:  We don't know.  Maybe our counsel can help us.  We're not sure.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  The undertaking was given.  And as far as I know, it has not been responded to.


I don't pretend to know a lot about the report.  I have heard some discussion of the fact that the body of the report itself is sizable.  I hope I'm talking about the right report here, but it has attachments that are particularly sizable, 100 pages or more in the attachments.  Maybe the witnesses know a little bit more about this than I do.  So with all of the attachments, it's quite a large document.


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  And it is available, I believe, on the web site.  So I think, Mr. Shepherd, you probably went to the web site.  Is that how you accessed it there?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MILNE:  There is about A to O appendices, and they are indeed several inches thick, but that is indeed the American Gas Foundation study.  So we are going to comply with that undertaking.  I believe we have actually submitted the undertaking and it's probably just caught in the processing of getting it out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Well, I'm going to ask you some questions about this.  You're familiar with the report; right?


MR. MILNE:  I am, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you some questions about it, and I won't turn to particular pages, because everybody doesn't have it.


MR. MILNE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The report doesn't talk anywhere about cast-iron mains being the big problem, right, or an increasing problem, does it?


MR. MILNE:  It does.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It does?


MR. MILNE:  But what I would like to do is ‑‑ you're probably referring to the statistics that said that, you know, there is about -- in the United States, about 4 percent of the mains are cast iron, and they contribute to what they call 24 percent of the serious incidents, serious incidents being defined as either loss of structure or loss of life.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MILNE:  That actually was compiled from basically pulling information off of two charts.  I would refer you ‑‑ and I know in the fullness of time, when the undertaking is given people can follow this, but if you turn to figure 3-2(b), you will see distribution mains by material construction, 2002.  And there you will see that cast iron is roughly about 4 percent of the total.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Sorry, could I ask the witness to indicate the page number.
     MR. MILNE:  Certainly, on the copy that I have it is 3-3.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I don't think it is appropriate for us to be going through these.  I'm going to ask some general questions.  I don't know why it hasn't been filed yet, but I'm going to ask some general questions and hope not to refer to the particular report.
     MR. MILNE:  Okay.  I can answer it that way as well.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think it is fair to everybody who doesn't have a copy.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  I wished we had a copy so you could ask those specific questions but since we don't, let's try to stick to the general questions.
     MR. MILNE:  Mr. Shepherd, can I take another crack at answering your question.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.
     MR. MILNE:  What I did then is I took information from two charts contained within that report.  One that showed how much cast iron is in the system, and the other one that shows of the cast iron that is in the system, how much it contributed to the serious incidents.  That's where I got the 4 percent and 24 percent.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So 4 percent of the system is -- systems in of the United States --
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- are cast iron and 24 percent of the serious incidents are from cast iron?
     MR. MILNE:  No.  24 percent of the incidents associated with cast iron -- sorry.  I want to get the wording correct here, so forgive me, “Serious incidents by main by material.”
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.
     MR. MILNE:  Okay.
     MR. MILNE:  Now, just so you know, because there is another -- there is another summary there at the very conclusion that says basically, you know, serious incidents over the last few years are coming down.  The general trend in the United States is actually an encouraging one, okay.  The point that we're saying is that overall, yes, there is an encouraging trend and the industry as a whole works hard to do that.  But there are still issues associated with bare steel and cast iron that we feel we need to address.  So I pulled out some statistics from that report that actually illustrate that, and included that in the evidence as well.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And all of the stuff in the report, this is stuff you already knew, isn't it?
     MR. MILNE:  This is stuff that was coming out, I think the draft of it was actually in around the late fall of 2004.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Let me just stop you.  Sorry, I'm not talking about the draft of the report itself.
     MR. MILNE:  Okay.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The fact that cast-iron mains were a small percentage of the system and a larger percentage of serious incidents, this is stuff you've known for years, right, that's why you had a replacement program in the first place.
     MR. MILNE:  I agree.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, you have filed somewhere, and I don't have the exhibit number, but maybe you know it, the major findings of this.  Right?  Pages 8.1, 8.2 and 8.3 of this report.  You filed that somewhere, haven't you?
     MR. MILNE:  Not to my knowledge.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeRose, can you help us?
     MR. DeROSE:  No, unfortunately.  Unless my suggestion --
     MR. DINGWALL:  Actually, it was my exhibit, Madam Chair. That's filed at K7.2.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     MR. MILNE:  Yes, okay.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I would like you to turn in that exhibit to a page numbered at the bottom 8.2.  Do you have that?  I don't actually have the exhibit, but I have the report itself and I guess it's the same.
     And you see right at the bottom of that page an item number 2, at the bottom, it says:

“The top five processes identified by the survey group,” that is all the utilities, “as having the highest impact on distribution integrity are,” and it list five items; right?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The fifth of those is planned pipe replacement programs which would typically be cast iron and bare style; right?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're doing all five of these things, aren't you?
     MR. MILNE:  I'm not sure that we could say we're doing number 3, which is a unique qualification program that's in the United States.  I suspect it will be adopted in Canada in the years to come.  But it's not mandatory at this point in time.  But certainly if that protection -- forgive me, leak surveys, one-call system, planned pipe replacement are certainly all things that we do.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are all things you're doing?  

MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have extensive training programs; right?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So although you may not have formal qualification programs, you're always training your people, right.
     MR. MILNE:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now for number five, you're planning to spend 80-odd million dollars in 2006; right?
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  How much are you planning on spending on number 1 in 2006, cathodic protection systems?
     MR. MILNE:  I'm afraid, Mr. Shepherd, you probably have me there.  That is something I don't have at my fingertips.  You're going to walk me through how much we spend on leak survey?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to tell me, for each of those five items, what you're currently proposing to spend on each one.  Can you undertake to do that?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.6.

MS. NOWINA:  What was it, Mr. Battista?
     MR. BATTISTA:  J18.6.
     UNDERTAKING NO. J18.6:  ADVISE WHAT EGD IS CURRENTLY

    PROPOSING TO SPEND ON EACH OF THE FIVE ITEMS LISTED IN

EXHIBIT K7.2
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I just have a couple more questions.  In the United States, and, in fact, the AGF report talks about this, there are comprehensive pipeline safety regulations in the United States; right?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And there is also comprehensive rules in Canada; right?
     MR. MILNE:  For transmission pipelines, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have no rules for distribution pipelines?
     MR. MILNE:  Oh, we do.  Perhaps Mr. Fox can speak to that.
     MR. FOX:  Yes.  We have -- in Ontario the TSSA Act under one of the O regs adopts the Z-662, standard, or Canadian Standards Association Z-622 standard.  That standard has a whole clause on distribution systems and how we have to treat distribution systems.
     In addition, this standard contains about 15 clauses, that all of the other clauses in the standard apply to distribution systems, unless something in the distribution clause says, No, this is -- you're going to treat it differently.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And they include -- there is a pipeline integrity program that you're required to have; right?
     MR. FOX:  Not in -- the current Z-662 standard does not.  Therefore, the TSSA had to make an amendment in the code adoption document, and I believe they did this in June 2001, where it instructed pipeline companies to have an integrity management program for what we call high-stress steel pipelines and those are pipelines that operate at or over 30 percent of specified minimum yield strength.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  In neither Canada nor the US is there any requirement to replace cast iron or bare steel, is there?
     MR. FOX:  There is no specific requirement to replace cast iron or bare steel.  However, in the standards that are adopted as part of the O regs, we have to ensure that we have an adequate level of safety and reliability in our system.  And some utilities must have a program in place to replace cast iron in order to achieve that.
     For instance, we are the only utility in Canada that has cast iron left.  The other two major utilities have replaced all of their cast iron.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you were also add at it earlier than anybody else, weren't you?  You were in this business a lot longer than anybody else; right? 
     MR. FOX:  Yes.
     MR. LADANYI:  Actually, not quite.  Just a minute.  I think that was gas in Montreal before there was any gas in Toronto.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me put this another way.  You had a lot more cast iron than anybody else.
     MR. FOX:  That, I don't know.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know?
     MR. FOX:  I don't know how much cast iron the other two major utilities in Canada had at their peak.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If cast iron represents a safety risk, I would have assumed that there would be public statements about that.  Are there public statements, outside of this Board, in financial disclosure documents, et cetera, about this particular safety risk and how you're managing it?
     MR. MILNE:  Could you give us a moment?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. LADANYI:  We're not aware of any such documents or statements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I can take you to one ‑ and we've already talked about it ‑ K 14.1.  I wonder if you could turn in that document, which is an annual review, to page 13?


MR. MILNE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Hang on.  Page 13?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 13.  K14.1, page 13.


MR. MILNE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It talks about -- you will see there under "Operational Risk", it talks about your various operational risks in your distribution network, and it says:   

"The phased replacement of cast-iron pipes significantly reduces the exposure."


MR. MILNE:  Hm‑hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that is describing your old replacement system; right?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I assume that now that you've

re-evaluated the safety risk, you've made some public statements to say, It's a more serious thing than we thought and we're ramping it up?


MR. MILNE:  To my knowledge, we have not yet.  But to your point, we will have to -- when these kind of filings come forth in the future, I think we will have to reconsider how we word this particular paragraph, given the case that we're making here today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  But as of right now, the only place where you've said this is a much higher risk than you thought before is at the Ontario Energy Board; is that right?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  I think this is the first venue in which we can share that information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question, then, is to do with rate impacts.  For that, I wonder if you can go back to CCC Interrogatory No. 16.  That is I, 5, 16.  I'm looking at page 48.  Do you have that?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that that area under the black line and above the white line, that area is the amounts the ratepayers ‑‑ the extra amounts that ratepayers will have to pay in the next five years because of this accelerated program; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  Assuming that the graph is to scale, I guess you can look at it that way.  But I just want to caution you for a second.  On the next panel, we're going to have Mr. Kancharla, who is actually the author of this document, and although he is not specifically with us in cast iron, you might want to pursue this further with him.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will, but, in the meantime, it's right, isn't it, that you're asking the ratepayers to pay about an additional $40 million over the next five years, but then they're going to get it back a little at a time, as you can see, where the white line goes over the black line, over many years after that; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's essentially the case, yes.  And I think if you look at page 45, when the same graph was used in another presentation - it's the same exhibit - you will see that whoever prepared that said that ratepayers are better off after year 2011.  So it's not going to be -‑ they're not going to be better off instantly, but over a length of time on a cost basis, they will be better off with accelerated replacement program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, those are all of my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will have our lunch break now and resume at 1:20.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:05 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 1:25 p.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Before we begin again, Mr. Cass, I wonder if you could give us an update on the status of the production of the undertakings.
     MR. CASS:  Yes, I think I can do that, Madam Chair, thank you.
     PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. CASS:  A number have been handed around today over the lunch break.  I'm not sure if they have made their way up to the desks of the panel members.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     MR. CASS:  The company has tried to include in this package some of the undertaking responses that could be relevant to the testimony of this panel.  I have a list of what's just been handed out.  I don't know whether you would want me to read that into the record, but there are, by my count, about ten undertaking responses that have now been provided.
     I believe that there are others in process and at this point it is really just a matter of getting copies made, if I'm not mistaken.
     Yes, Mr. Hoey has confirmed there are others that are in process and should be on there way shortly.  The large one that we discussed prior to the lunch break is the report of, I think it is the American Gas Foundation.  The report itself, I'm told, is 1100 pages.  I don't pretend to have read this thing myself.  The copying of that is underway.  The Board can appreciate at, say, 30 copies that is 30,000 pieces of paper for one undertaking response.
     What the company did over the lunch break was e-mail it to intervenors, I believe, so that everyone will have it and the copying is underway, but it's a very large document.  So that's as much as I can tell you about outstanding undertakings.
     The company has had a little more difficulty answering them, the undertakings than it expected because, in addition to trying to keep up with the ongoing hearing, there have been some witnesses away from previous panels.  However, with the break in the middle of this week and I think there is also a break next week, the company is going to devote its attentions as much as it can to getting more and more of these undertakings answered and getting caught up on the outstanding list.
     MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate that, Mr. Cass.  Maybe as much as possible, if the company can predict what undertakings they think that the intervenors will want to use with the coming panels, they could make sure they're here and the intervenors perhaps let you know, if they know ahead of time, which ones they want to use to make sure that we have the appropriate ones as we have the panels in.  I think the last thing any of us want to do is recall panels for questioning.
     Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm done.
     MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry.  Mr. DeRose.
     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I can try to think of some more.
     MS. NOWINA:  No, no.
     MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, don't give him the opportunity.  Madam Chair, as you see, I have just moved positions so that I can see the panel a little bit better.
     MR. DeROSE:  On a preliminary matter, we just received the undertakings which Mr. Cass has just discussed with you about five minutes ago.  I've taken a very quick look at them, in particular Undertaking J14.8, which was a request from Mr. Thompson for the company to ascertain what documents were available with respect to what has now come to be known as the strategic planning sessions in January of 2005.
     As I understand it, the company was to provide a list and then there was going to be discussions offline, if there were documents that were to be produced.
     Mr. Cass and I have not discussed that.  And all that I wanted to put on the record is that given the timing that we have just received them, I haven't had an opportunity to go through that document.  I haven't had an opportunity to talk to Mr. Cass about it.  I would expect Mr. Thompson or myself will.  But there is a possibility that we may be requesting that a panel be recalled.  We simply won't know that until we review the documents and talk to Mr. Cass, but I know some of those documents relate to some of the witnesses on this panel and I apologize in advance if we make a request, for instance, calling Mr. DeWolf back or others.  So I just wanted to put that on the record.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.
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George DeWolf; Previously Sworn
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeROSE:
     MR. DeROSE:  Mr. DeWolf, I will start with you this morning.
     MR. DeWOLF:  This morning?
     MR. DeROSE:  If you recall last week, I began to ask you a question about Entrac and Enmar and the capital costs of those projects.
     Mr. Stevens objected, indicating that it would be more appropriate to ask it to you today.  So we will start with that question.  Just to put that into context, as I understand it, there are costs related to EnVision, Entrac and Enmar interfaces of about $4.5 million which are in your capital budget; is that correct?
     MR. DeWOLF:  They're not all interfaces.  For EnVision, because the EnVision application resides at Accenture and is run at Accenture -- owned by Accenture, the EnVision capital that we need would be associated with the interfaces as we upgrade the technology that those interfaces sit on.
     Enmar and Entrac would be upgrades to interfaces as well as the application.  So it includes both.
     MR. DeROSE:  Let's focus in on EnVision first, then.
     Why are those particular costs in your capital budget and not in what has been called the EnVision costs?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Because they are the normal maintenance of the interfaces between the non-EnVision applications and the EnVision application.  And so as I mentioned on Friday, the Enmar passing of requests for work for meters to be replaced off to EnVision.  And so somebody needs to own that interface and we would prefer to own that.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Would there have been a business case developed for the EnVision interface for those costs?
     MR. DeWOLF:  For the 2006 project?
     MR. DeROSE:  Yes.
     MR. DeWOLF:  The business cases have not yet been done.  They will be done before the project is approved and gone forward in 2006.  At this point, it's a projection that we would be having to do those, and we've put together an estimate of how much it would cost to do this whole section.
     MR. DeROSE:  And am I right in my understanding that the same answer would be true for Entrac and Enmar, you wouldn't have business cases for those either?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. DeROSE:  And I take it that we've seen an EnVision business case.  That wouldn't be included in the EnVision business case, the interface component of it?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MR. DeROSE:  And is it your normal practice, as a department, to create business cases after a rate hearing?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That is correct.  That's because the business cases is done just prior to the start of the project to determine what the costs are at that time.  We have a better understanding of what the requirements of the project are and, therefore, what the costs are and we also have better information on the benefits.  And so that's in the time that we do it and then management decides whether they want to go ahead with that project or not.
     MR. DeROSE:  And at this stage have you undertaken -- other than you haven't done a business case.  But have you undertaken any type of assessment of what benefits will flow?  From these -- for instance, the EnVision interface?
     MR. DeWOLF:  The EnVision interface will -- we don't know what those benefits might be.  We know that there is a new release of the EnVision application, the works suite part of the EnVision application.  And the some of the functionality that would be in that might require more information or provide more information to our other applications, in which case the interfaces would have to be enhanced to provide that extra information, either going to our applications or out to EnVision, to take advantage of the new feature that might be in the new release of the work suite application.  

MR. DeROSE:  Mr. DeWolf, correct me if I'm wrong, but to me it sounds a lot like you don't know what the benefits are.  You don't know exactly what you're going to do, but you think you're going to have to do something with EnVision and you've picked a number; is that fair?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That is, to a certain degree, how the situation was stuck in because of the period, in advance of when we actually do these projects, that we have to file our year end.
     MR. DeROSE:  And can the same be said for Entrac and Enmar?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Entrac and Enmar, Enmar we know that there are a number of regulatory requirements.  Measurement Canada is changing some of its regulations and procedures on gas meters and so we know that for Enmar there will be a number of those.  And for Entrac, we know that there will be some, what I would call infrastructure upgrades that need to be happening, because there's a new version of the Oracle database that is coming out and that will have to be done to keep the application up to the current level of release.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But at this point in time, you can't give us any further information on what benefits will flow from that or what exactly will occur...

     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.  As I mentioned to Mr. Shepherd, to a large degree, the benefits of those will be to keep the applications current with current standards, current supported software and to keep up with regulatory changes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And what happens if you receive Board approval, you go ahead -- and, for instance, we'll take the EnVision interface.  You go ahead and you spend the money and you find out that absolutely no benefits are flowing from this, that it was just a bust.


What happens from a company perspective?  Do you bring that forward in a future rate case, or is it just that's the way business works?


MR. DeWOLF:  Well, it would be very difficult for one of these things to go bust if they had no benefits.  At least the part of the project that would keep it up to date with current releases of software, so that the software continues to be supported, would be there and there would be benefit from that.  So that would be the minimal.


If, as it turned out, there was no new benefits that could be gotten out of the new interfacings, then that part of the project would be left out.  So I am not sure how we would see whether there were benefits ‑‑ how the benefits would go bust.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, thank you, Mr. DeWolf.  I will move on to another area.


I would like to turn to Exhibit K6.5, panel.  I suspect it is Mr. Ladanyi that will answer these questions, but I am in the panel's hands.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I'm just going to make sure that the Board all has ‑‑ I'll go ahead.


On column -- as I understand it, column 7, that's the December 17 draft budget, and at the bottom the total capital expenditures show $316 million.  And on column 8, that's the current budget you're seeking, which is $458 million.  That's correct?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. DeROSE:  And within -- we'll start with the column 7, so that's the draft budget in December.


A significant portion of that number is a group of projects that you will require leave to construct applications; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And, panel, would you be able to tell me, if you were to take all of the projects which you will require a leave to construct application within the draft budget for 2006 ‑ so out of the $316 million ‑ and total them up, how much of that budget is tied to projects that will require leave to construct? 


That was a little bit convoluted.  Would you like me to rephrase it?


MR. LADANYI:  No.  We understand what you're saying.  We have an interrogatory that deals with that.  I'm just looking for it.  Just give me a minute.


MR. DeROSE:  If you could take me to that, Mr. Ladanyi, I would appreciate it.


MR. LADANYI:  That would be VECC Interrogatory No. 47.  It's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 47.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Ladanyi, since you have it right there, would you just be able to tell us, what is that number?


MR. LADANYI:  It's not total, but the dollar amounts are shown for each project.  What's not shown here is a total.  I mean, I don't want to add it up right now.  You can add it as well as I can with a calculator.  All the dollar amounts are shown there.  The projects that require leave to construct, I could read them into the record now but ‑‑


MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  Subject to check, I think it's about $54 million of the 316.


MR. LADANYI:  It's a bit more than that.  It's 36.8 million, plus 20 million, plus 16.3, plus 16 million, plus 3.8 million, plus 2.5 million.


MR. DeROSE:  That's with your $458 million budget; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.  Plus 1.3 million.


MR. DeROSE:  As I understand it, it's about 92.9 million of your ‑‑ of what you're seeking in 2006; that's of the 458 million.  Can you accept that?


MR. LADANYI:  I will accept that, subject to check.


MR. DeROSE:  What I am interested in is also the number for your initial budget in December, which is of the $316 million.


MR. LADANYI:  Which ones of those project required leave to construct?


MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  What I would like to know is, of the increase between December 17th and your current rate application, ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  Just give me a minute.


MR. DeROSE:  ‑‑ how much of that increase would fall into projects which are leave to construct or which require leave‑to‑construct approval?


MR. LADANYI:  Starting from the top on that VECC Interrogatory 47, Newmarket reinforcement, the Newmarket reinforcement in the December 17th budget was at $19.4 million, and it would have been ‑‑ would have required a leave to construct.


Going down, RFP number 2, which is $20 million on that list, that was also in the December 17th budget and that would have required the leave to construct.


RFP number 1, 16.3 million, that would have also required a leave to construct, and that was also in the December 17th budget.


Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, these are projects that were added after December 17th, so that was not in that budget.


Neilson Road reinforcement, Neilson Road ‑‑ let me just check my notes here.  Just give me a minute.  Neilson Road was not in the December 17th budget.


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, was not?


MR. LADANYI:  Was not.  So that the $3.8 million was not.  It was added later.


The next project in the spreadsheet, control stations, they do not require leave to construct at all.  Then we come to St. Isadore.  That's one of the aggressive system expansion projects, $2.3 million.  That was not in the December budget.  Beachburg work does not require a leave to construct.  


York region reinforcement does not, and Markham 9th Line reinforcement might require leave to construct and - I'm looking at it - it might have also required that, and that's sort of a borderline case, so I can't tell you definitively whether that one would require it or not.


What happens with Markham 9th Line reinforcement, if you read the regulations, and I think they're on the previous page ‑‑


MR. DeROSE:  If I could stop you there for one minute, if it does require leave to construct, would that have been included in the December 17th budget?


MR. LADANYI:  If it does ‑‑ yes, that project was in both budgets.  So it is ‑‑ if it does require leave to construct, it would have been in both cases.


If you go to the previous page on schedule 47, tab 25, which is VECC 47, you will see under ‑‑ if you look at leave to construct hydrocarbon line criteria from the OEB Act, I actually cut and pasted that directly from the Board's web site, and if you look down in the paragraph 90, (2), it says:

"Subsection 1 does not apply to the relocation or reconstruction of a hydrocarbon line unless the size of the line is changed or unless the acquisition of additional land or authority to use additional land is necessary."


So in cases of projects where we would not change the diameter, I would read this, one would not need a leave to construct.


MR. DeROSE:  Can we leave that one that it might be?


MR. LADANYI:  Might be, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Now, with respect to those projects that either do require leave‑to‑construct or might need a leave‑to‑construct approval, is it fair to say that whether the costs, the capital costs, associated with those projects actually are ‑‑ actually will be included in your 2006 capital budget depends on whether you get approval?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, I think we've had this debate in past rate cases over the years, and the question often is:  What exactly does the Board's approval in a rate case of a situation like this mean, if there is a subsequent later leave to construct or, in some cases, a certificate of public convenience and access that is required before there is any significant expenditure of money.


I think the way to look at it, in these cases it is more of an amber light than a full green light for these projects.  The Board is saying they believe that the projects are worthwhile but they will still be giving their final decision after they see more details in the leave to construct or in a certificate application, that's been normal process.  
     MR. DeROSE:  And there would be nothing stopping the company from -- well, let me rephrase the question.
     If you were not applying to increase your capital budget for these particular projects in this case, and you brought a leave-to-construct application for all of them tomorrow, there would be nothing stopping the company from seeking to -- an increase of its capital budget for each of those projects in the leave-to-construct application; correct?
     MR. LADANYI:  You mean -- are you talking about increases from these numbers or just increases in general?
     MR. DeROSE:  No, increases from the particular projects.
     MR. LADANYI:  I don't think there would be anything stopping, as long as we could justify the reasons for the increase.
     Just so you can -- let's say to give you more information about what I said earlier about the amber light.  What it really means is if the Board were to approve these expenditures, pending a leave-to-construct all it would mean, that the company should not have any concerns of possibly ordering materials early or doing some early work but the company would not go and do any excavation or do anything on the actual construction site.  So that is all it means.  But the company could safely engage, for example, environmental consultants or other consultants that might be required to work on these projects.
     MR. DeROSE:  And in terms of, for instance, engaging the environmental consultants, what you have just described, the work associated with an amber light, are we talking significant money?
     MR. LADANYI:  It really would depend on the project.  So I don't want to give you, you know, an absolute number.  It really would depend how large a project it is.  Like to give you an example of what's going on here, and what we're concerned about and I think we will deal with it more in our next panel, is that we believe that we might have to respond very quickly to the province's need for power generation.  And once the province decides what needs to be done, things will start moving very quickly.
     So to have some money in the budget and to have what I would call an amber light from the Board would give us some comfort that we're not going to be criticized later on for spending some money in advance of having a 

leave-to-construct.
     MR. DeROSE:  But you aren't just seeking some money.  You're seeking the entire amount, are you not?
     MR. LADANYI:  We are seeking the entire amount, absolutely, but with the conditions that we would not spend this money unless the Board grants us leave-to-construct approval.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.
     MR. LADANYI:  In a subsequent application.
     MR. DeROSE:  My last question on this point is, if you so chose, you could simply apply for an amount of money that you think you would need for the, what we'll call the amber light work, the work that you would need to do in advance of Board approval which, I assume, would be much smaller than what you're seeking right now?
     MR. LADANYI:  You could theoretically do this.  But the practice before this Board, and I've been here as a witness or participated in other ways for about 15 years now, has been to present the entire budget, not to go and present snippets of a project budget like you're suggesting but to present the whole thing.  So what you are suggesting is a process which would be very different than has been my experience over the last 15 years.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I would like to move to your infrastructure replacement.  As I understand it – well, I will start with cast-iron mains.
     First of all, can we agree that it is in the interests of the shareholder to have a large project such as

cast-iron main replacements receive Board approval under a 

cost-of-service regime, other than -- instead of in the midst of an incentive regime?
     MR. LADANYI:  Well, it really would depend on what type of incentive regulation regime one has.  There are numerous types of incentive regulations.  Some incentive regulation regimes do allow for recovery of expenditures of capital -- of expenditures and really -- and others do not.  So I really cannot tell you specifically how a particular regime would function.  I think we're likely to have, over the next few years, a very interesting debate before this Board about what an appropriate incentive regulation regime would be for this type of industry.  And one that is a pure price cap, which I think you might be alluding to, would probably not have sufficient provision in it for system expansion and for capital replacement investments.
     So that would be a concern.  And we would certainly be arguing against that, I can tell you that right now.  So, yes, if we would be restricted from making safety related investments, under a pure price cap regime, we would be very concerned about this because safety and reliability are very important to the industry.  They're important to the shareholder and they're certainly important to the public at large.
     MR. DeROSE:  Well, Mr. Ladanyi, I think we can agree that there are some incentive mechanisms which would expect the shareholder, during the incentive period, to manage their capital budget and manage the safety concerns   within that budget.  Those do exist; correct?
     MR. LADANYI:  They do exist, yes.
     MR. DeROSE:  And if the Board so imposed -- so imposed such a regime at some point in the future, the company would be better off to have the cast-iron mains replaced under cost of service than under such a regime.
     MR. LADANYI:  If that's the case, yes, the company would be better off to do the replacements when it can pay for them, really.
     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  But I take it the same would be true for additional reinforcements.
     MR. LADANYI:  Again, as I said when you -- and I think I mentioned this a couple of times, under EBO-188 guidelines, when you look at the cost of investment in system expansion and also in the reinforcements there would be situations where it might be difficult to pay for it under a pure price cap where there is going to be additional cost pressures and it might be very difficult to manage that under a pure price cap regime.
     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, as I understand it, Mr. Shepherd has dealt with a lot of this so I won't tread ground that you have been over.  As I understand it currently or in 2004 and 2005, you had about $30 million a year in your capital budget for the cast-iron main replacement; is that correct?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.  It's actually about 21.5 million in 2004 and 28.9 in 2003.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you're seeking to increase that up to just under 80 million.
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. DeROSE:  So it's about a $50 million increase?
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. DeROSE:  And when I do the math, 80 million a year for three years is about 240 million.  And 30 million a year over eight years is about 240 million.  It's going to cost about the same whether you do it over seven or eight years or over three years, correct, it's just what time frame you're going to pay for it?
     MR. MILNE:  I think that is a fair assumption.  The work has to be done.
     MR. DeROSE:  And, in that case, so for instance, if we're dealing with a $240 million number, if we did it over six years, would it be about $40 million a year?
     MR. MILNE:  I think -- bear with me here.  If you turn to interrogatory -- Board Staff number 74, Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 74 if I could ask you to go to page 3 of 8 on that.
     MS. NOWINA:  What page was it, Mr. Milne?
     MR. MILNE:  3 of 8.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     MR. MILNE:  Thank you.  I took some liberty with the Board's interrogatory and what I did is actually combined several other interrogatories there and tried to give how much it would cost if we were to spread this program over different years.  So you will see there's three years there with about 78.5 million per year.  There's five years there with 47 million for five years.
     There is, next page over, 39 million for six years, each of those six years.  And then last but not least, on the next page, is 29 million, if we were to spread it over the eight years.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you for taking me to that.  That answers that question.
     Now, we've heard a lot of concern about safety and reliability and that this is a safety issue.  Are you able to tell me what the company has spent on cast-iron replacement to date, in 2005?


MR. MILNE:  In 2005, to date?  I'm sorry, I don't have that number at my fingertips.  I can tell you that there are 28 discrete projects.  All of them have been designed, drafted.  Most of them have gone out to construction.  But I don't have the actual answer for you of where we are at the end of August.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Milne, perhaps we could -- by way of undertaking, I would like to ask for two things.


MR. MILNE:  Okay.


MR. DeROSE:  First, what the company has spent year to date fiscal 2005 on the cast-iron main replacements; and, secondly, if it's possible, if you're able to project what you will spend for the remainder of the year, so that we get an idea of ‑‑ this was identified by -- just to provide a context of why we're asking for this, this was identified as a safety issue in January of this year, and I would expect to see, if it was a safety issue, the company to increase its budget and we would be interested to see what the budget is for 2005.  


Is that something you would be able to provide to us?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  Absolutely.  Absolutely.  I apologize, actually, for not having it at my fingertips.


MR. DeROSE:  That's quite fine.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that undertaking J18.7, and that's for both the year-to-date spending on the program and the projection for the whole year 2005.

UNDERTAKING NO. J18.7:  YEAR-TO-DATE SPENDING AND PROJECTION FOR 2005 OF CAST-IRON MAIN REPLACEMENT


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, again, when you were talking to Mr. Shepherd, you were talking about the risk assessment model that you used for cast-iron mains, and I believe you called it CIRAS.


MR. MILNE:  Yes, CIRAS.


MR. DeROSE:  And you said that you ‑‑ that model, as I understand it, is what initially produced the $30 million

-- approximately $30 million a year over an eight-year period?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  That program was actually introduced in '99 and we've been using it since then.  Before then, we were using a point system, but it was indeed the risk assessment model for us to focus on those sections of the cast iron that needed to be replaced immediately.  


So each year we would go through the process to see what this model would tell us, what sections needed to be replaced.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is that the ‑‑ have you used that model to come up with your current budget that you're seeking, the $80 million?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  Actually, we're using that model to actually help us prioritize what sections ‑‑ I want to be able to actually replace all the cast iron, but I still want to be able to replace those sections that need it first, or the worst sections first.


And so what we did is we ran the program.  We identified, under that model, which sections of pipe needed to be replaced, and then what we did is we looked at the neighbourhood and said, Is there any other cast iron in that same neighbourhood?  If we're going to go into that neighbourhood, let's remove it all in one fell swoop.  


So it is really a bit of a combination, in fairness.  It is using the traditional model, but also trying to say, We're in the neighbourhood, let's get rid of all of the surrounding cast iron at the same time.  So it's almost like grid by grid.


MR. DeROSE:  And perhaps I misunderstood when you initially -- as I understood, when us used this model the first time, you used it to both prioritize which cast-iron mains to replace, but you also used it as a risk assessment tool to determine whether you needed to do it in one year, three years, eight years; is that not correct?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  I would say that it's actually -- its strength is actually giving you a sense as to, any particular point in time, which sections of your main have the worst performance based on the age, the diameter, the material, the soil conditions, your main break history, your leak history.  


It was all of those things going into the mix, which mains required replacement the most?


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. MILNE:  But in my mind, I don't consider it so much a bit of a forecasting.  What we have tried to do is marry it to our synergy, which is a program that we used and analyze our system in terms of pressures and volumes.  So now I can do a little bit of sort of forecasting saying, If I remove this section, what does it do to my system?  If I remove this out, do I have to reinforce the system else somewhere to maintain adequate pressures?


So it has some limited ability to do that.


MR. DeROSE:  All right.  Just to be very clear, is it your evidence that CIRAS was not used to determine that it was appropriate to replace the mains over an eight-year period?


MR. MILNE:  CIRAS would be used to help us replace the mains over the eight years by, each year, identifying which of those mains is the worst one for that particular year and needs to be replaced.


MR. DeROSE:  Again, to Mr. Shepherd you indicated -- talking about sometime after the December 17 budget when you had about $300 million go forward, you had indicated that management's risk tolerance had changed.


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  How was that communicated to you?  How did you learn that management's risk tolerance had changed?


MR. MILNE:  Well, the way I learned is that my supervisor, Glen, called me in and said, We've taken a look at this as senior management and we've looked at what's being proposed.  We're also aware of what ‑‑ and you've indicated to us the performance of the system in terms of leaks and breaks, and we also have been working on looking at the role of services and we're just not comfortable that this level expenditure addresses the potential risk profile these cast-iron bare steel gives.  


So I would say, in response to your question, it was probably early January, after the Board ‑‑ or not the Board, the EMT reviewed the first cut of the budget.


MR. DeROSE:  And I'm sorry if I'm naive, but was ‑‑ was that not management telling you that you weren't doing your job, because they had identified a safety concern that you had somehow missed?


MR. MILNE:  Well, I was aware of these other things going on, but I made an assumption that we could probably continue to develop this budget for the cast-iron program similar to what we had done in the past, and so I made a mistake.  I didn't realize at the time that the senior management group had actually changed their risk tolerance for these things, and that was communicated to me back through the budgeting process itself.


So, yes, you could say I probably should have checked the ground before I made an initial submission.  In fact, based on these questions, I wish I kind of had done that, and then I wouldn't have to explain the variance.  But that's how it happened.


MR. DeROSE:  So is it fair to say that you were working on the old risk tolerance and you didn't know what the new risk tolerance was?


MR. MILNE:  I would say that, yes, I was working on the old policy at the time.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, at the time that you had -- you would have had all of the information with respect to the rate of main breaks and the leaks, et cetera?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  We track the performance of the system.


MR. DeROSE:  So that information hadn't changed?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.


MR. DeROSE:  So it's fair to say ‑‑


MR. MILNE:  We had another year added onto it, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it's fair to say that the risk hadn't changed.  The cast-iron mains were there.  You knew the rate of main breaks.  You knew the leak rate.  


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  But it was the -- what was the acceptable tolerance of that risk had changed?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.  Let me describe it this way.  You know, I'm keeping my eye on performance and metrics of the system, you know, the number of main breaks, the leaks per kilometre, how our system is working.


Under engineering, there are other activities going under way at the same time.  There is a better sense of trying to assess our system in a more holistic way in terms of what is the role of services that come off cast iron.  What is the risk assessment and risk profile trying to use newer, more sophisticated modelling than those things.  


I guess if I were err - and I did err - is that I did not appreciate the impact that that would have on the senior management team when I made my first submission.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I think you have already said they just had a different risk tolerance than you?  Sorry, you nodded.  Was that a "yes"?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, if you will just bear with me.  I'm actually striking things off as I go that Mr. Shepherd covered.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.


MR. DeROSE:  Panel, at CCC or ‑‑ CCC Interrogatory No. 13, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 13.


I suspect, Mr. Ladanyi, I'm back to you.  Do you have that?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I see that.


MR. DeROSE:  As I read that interrogatory, it implies to me that for every $25 million reduction, there's a revenue impact of about $1.2 million; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  I think this type of interrogatory comes up in every rate case, and this is really to assist the -- generally to assist the parties who are negotiating in settlement negotiations to put some rules of thumb around what kind of – what the impact of different reductions in the capital budget are.  So I think this can only be read as sort of a very high-level type of response.
     One would have to specifically address reductions in different capital budget components to find out what it is.  So on the high level, that's correct.
     MR. DeROSE:  But as I take it, it depends -- it would depend what capital expenditures are taken out and where they fall in the year; is that right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.
     MR. DeROSE:  It doesn't necessarily mean a $100 million decrease would have a $4.8 million on revenue requirement.
     MR. LADANYI:  Not really.  Like I said, only at a very high level.  One should really look at the specific projects.  Mr. Culbert prepared this response, I am not really that familiar with it, but I will try to help you as much as I can.  
     MR. DeROSE:  Well, what would be helpful to us is this:  Would you be able to tell us, and I would assume it has to be by way of an undertaking, what the impact on the revenue requirement would be on a full-year basis, if the capital budget was reduced by $100 million.
     And if we agree it's to be done on a full-year basis, would that then take away the concerns of whether it falls in month 1 or month 12?
     MR. LADANYI:  We'll have to get specifics on that.
     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I might point out, Mr.

DeRose did refer to CCC interrogatory number 13 and in the context even of the amount of time allowed for interrogatory responses, the Board will see at the end of the first paragraph of the response, the concern expressed by the company about the amount of time and effort that is required to run the sort of calculations that are now being talked about.  I won't read the sentence but the more might want to just glance at the first paragraph of that response.
     MR. DeROSE:  Well, if Mr. Ladanyi tells me that it can't be done in a reasonable time, then that's the answer.  But if this is something that, given interrogatory CCC you already have a database or some sort of easy calculation at a high level, it certainly would be appreciated.
     MR. LADANYI:  I wouldn't be the one doing these calculations.  Like I said, it is Mr. Culbert and this is his response.  He obviously had a lot of concerns about doing this work and how long it would take.
     I will have to leave it at that.
     MS. NOWINA:  Where does that leave us, Mr. DeRose?
     MR. DeROSE:  Well, would we be able to ask for it on a best-effort basis and if it does turn out, as he indicated, it takes a significant amount of time and effort, Mr. Cass perhaps could just advise us and that would be that.  If it's something that can be done in a timely manner without too much effort, it would help us in our argument.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. Cass, is that reasonable?
     MR. CASS:  I'm being told, Madam Chair, that the implications of doing this are very complicated and it is a considerable amount of work.  Unfortunately, we don't have Mr. Culbert on the panel to elaborate which is why I, of course, took the Board to the paragraph he had provided.  But it's -- my understanding, it is not the kind of thing that can just be given a thumbnail sort of approach.  It does require a complicated and time-consuming calculation.
     MS. NOWINA:  I think the way Mr. DeRose phrased it --you're okay, Mr. DeRose?
     MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.
     MR. LADANYI:  Mr. DeRose, it would help us if you gave us more what you have in mind.  Are you talking about a general capital expense reduction of 100 million or are you talking about something more specific?
     MR. DeROSE:  No.  I was actually thinking of a general --
     MR. LADANYI:  Like across the board in all categories of capital expenditures from IT projects and so on or are you thinking of cast iron only?
     MR. DeROSE:  No, I was actually thinking general use.  If it was either cast iron only or across the Board, does that make it easier for you, Mr. Ladanyi?
     MR. LADANYI:  If it's only dealing with one single category, it makes it a lot easier than if it is multiple categories.    

MR. DeROSE:  Well, in that case, would it be easy to tell us what the revenue requirement reduction would be if the Board approved $30 million for this year as opposed to the 80 that you're seeking, or is that in the record already?
     MR. LADANYI:  We believe that might already be in the record, somewhere in one of the interrogatories.
     The interrogatory itself already gives a $25 million general capital expenditure, so you want to change to a 30 million capital expenditure reduction?
     MR. DeROSE:  You know what, actually, Mr. Ladanyi, I was actually willing to walk away on it and you offered it and I couldn’t resist.  So how about for five million we will let you get away from this one?     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Let's drop it.
     MR. DeROSE:  Yes, I will save you that little bit of effort.  

Just give me one moment, Madam Chair.  I just want to make sure that we have covered everything.
     Panel, this is more of a question of I want to make sure that the panel this afternoon is the right panel to ask this question to and that I don't miss you when I have you here.  

First of all, with respect to system expansion, that is covered by this afternoon's panel?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.
     MR. DeROSE:  The next panel, in completeness.
     As I understand it, your capital budget, we have talked about the iron main replacement and we talked about the additional reinforcements and I will talk about system expansion this afternoon.  There is also a category "other add-ons".  Is that -- is that something that we can address with this afternoon's panel or would that be you?
     MR. LADANYI:  Where are you looking at?
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay, maybe I should rephrase it then.  Sorry, I don't have the interrogatory I was looking at.
     As I understand it, there is additional reinforcements, there is in -- under “infrastructure replacement” there is cast-iron mains and there is additional reinforcements, there is system expansion, then there are some other items.
     MR. MILNE:  Other plants?
     MR. LADANYI:  Are you talking about land, structures and improvements?
     MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  If you just give me one moment, Mr. Ladanyi.  

Actually, you know what, Madam Chair, that's fine.  Thank you very much, those are all of my questions.  Thank you, panel.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  

Mr. Dingwall.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Good afternoon, panel, my name is Brian Dingwall, I'm here asking questions on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters, also taking advantage of the relaxation in the dress code.
     One of the things I'm trying to understand is the divergent terminologies that -- and I will address my question solely in the area of cast-iron main replacement and associated services.
     In looking through the risk assessment that's come back today in response to Undertaking J7.2, the term “associated services" is used.  Can you give me some help in understanding what that means, Mr. Milne?
     MR. MILNE:  Yes, I can.  Those are services that come off the existing cast-iron mains system.  So they can be made of plastic, steel, bare steel, there's a variety of materials but it is those services, servicing commercial and residential buildings coming off the cast-iron system.
     MR. LADANYI:  So service line is the line goes from the main to the premise, so the associated services are those, everything that hangs on that -- comes off that service line, which would be, whether it is a meter or a regulator or whatever.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, just so I understand it because this term appears other places within the evidence.  Would this be the same as a service relay?
     MR. MILNE:  Service relay is really referring to how the service is being installed.  So ‑‑ but it is the same asset, absolutely.  It is the service line running from the main basically to the curb, up your front yard into ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Milne, could you speak into your mike, please?


MR. MILNE:  I'm sorry.  Forgive me.  I was trying to make eye contact.  Sorry.  So basically service relay refers more to the technique.  You know, what are we doing with the service?  We're relaying in bringing the service, but the asset is exactly the same.  It is a supply line that goes off the main, basically perpendicular, runs up the property line, and then attaches to a regulator in a meter set alongside of the building that is being served.


MR. DINGWALL:  So then to understand what we're dealing with, the cast-iron main is the big pipe that runs down the middle of the street?


MR. MILNE:  Correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  And the service relay, which is also called the associated service in some contexts ‑‑


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  -- is the smaller line that goes from the big pipe into the service facility?


MR. MILNE:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, we're dealing with two kinds of mains in this program.  One is cast iron; the other is bare steel.


MR. MILNE:  Correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  As I understand it, in reading through J7.2's response, one of the main risks associated with bare steel is corrosion.  Is that pretty much the principal risk?


MR. MILNE:  It is.  There's two sources of risks associated with bare steel.  The first is corrosion, rusting away, and the second one is basically what we call fittings.  The system -- a lot of the older fittings were actually threaded, and so what happens is over time those start to fail, as well.


MR. DINGWALL:  So the risk is corrosion and where the fittings are connected?


MR. MILNE:  Exactly.  It leaks in around those things.  Those are the failure modes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And I understand, in looking at the first chart, that really the principal risk associated with bare steel ‑‑ I'm referring to J7.2.


MR. MILNE:  Oh, thank you.


MR. DINGWALL:  The principal risk associated with bare steel is simple leaks resulting from the fittings?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.


MR. DINGWALL:  So these are not high incident, dangerous ‑‑


MR. MILNE:  No.  And that's the nature of the risk.  You're know, you're multiplying the frequency of the event with the consequences of that event.  So, in many cases, these are, what they call here typical leaks, small consequences, but because there are so many of them, they can't actually propose -- and few develop a unique risk profile.


So just to put in your mind's eye, most of our bare steel is in our Niagara region and it only makes up about 1.5 percent of the mains in Niagara region, but it makes up 50 percent of the leaks repairs they have to do there.


So even though it's a small amount, okay, the fact that it's so concentrated there and there's so many of them, that's how it is being represented.


MR. LADANYI:  And leaking natural gas can seep into a building and cause quite a serious incident, so even though it might be a small leak, it could still pose a significant danger.


MR. MILNE:  That's what some of the other categories here are trying to show.  What happens if this is a small leak which you patch here?  You've identified it, you've fixed it, and, you know, business carries on.


Then there are other scenarios, if I may call those.  What happens if it actually migrated into a building and there was ignition, okay, and those kinds of things.  So those occur with less frequency, but obviously the consequences of something like that is much more significant.  And so it is the balancing of those two things.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, speaking of bare steel just in isolation at this point in time.


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Bare steel is used primarily for mains, or is it used also for associated services?


MR. MILNE:  Mains.


MR. DINGWALL:  So when you say about leakage potential, it's really leakage potential in the middle of the road?


MR. MILNE:  Actually, mains in ‑‑ well, let me back up.


Cast iron now is found only in Toronto, and it's usually found in the older part of Toronto.  And so often you will find it -- it's actually in the sidewalk and often very close to some of these older buildings, because that is just the way they were built.  In many cases, they're in environments that have been paved over, so they call those sort of wall-to-wall.


They have been capped with asphalt, and so there is no way for anything to migrate out to the environment.  It has to sort of follow that cap until it finds some place it can go.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm sticking here for the moment, I apologize for interrupting, Mr. Milne, but with bare steel.


MR. MILNE:  Okay, I'm sorry.  I thought you were talking about cast.


MR. DINGWALL:  No.


MR. MILNE:  With bare steel, primarily now the bare steel is along the southern part of the Niagara region.  So it's along the Lake Erie coast line, and some of it is actually not even buried.  It is actually on the top of the ground.  That is just the nature of these older service lines.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in reading through some precedents on cast-iron replacement programs and bare steel replacement programs in other jurisdictions, it seems that one of the arguments that seems to come up frequently is that an accelerated program is not necessary, because inspection programs are sufficient to mitigate the risk of a longer-term program.


MR. MILNE:  Right.  In response to that, it's actually our ongoing leak surveys and the statistics that we capture with our operations and maintenance that actually allowed us to say this is not trending the way we believed it would.  


So the fact that we actually ‑‑ we do do the leak surveys, and it is the result of those leak surveys, when we plot that over time, that we say that the trend is actually going up.  So we do do the leak surveys and we do it quite extensively. 


Actually, if I can convert back to cast iron, we do more surveys in wall-to-wall environments than we have to, as well, just because we want to ensure that we actually are on top of it.  So we do do that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Just looking, again, at bare steel, do you know what your annual survey costs would be for bare steel?


MR. MILNE:  No, but I will be getting back to you with the undertaking 18.6.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I take it that with bare steel, since corrosion is the material risk, that one of the things that you do is corrosion studies; is that correct?


MR. MILNE:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  And when was the most recent one?


MR. MILNE:  They're done ‑‑ I should let Rob answer.


MR. FOX:  I was wondering if you could just repeat the question, please.


MR. DINGWALL:  When or with what frequency are corrosion studies done of bare steel?


MR. FOX:  What we do is our annual program of doing ‑‑ we check our cathodic protection system on an annual basis, and we make any upgrades to the system that we need to, to keep it up to par with industry standard.  But that's for cathodically-protected systems, and a bare steel system is not cathodically protected.  So it is not practical to do a corrosion survey on bare steel.


MR. DINGWALL:  How do you then determine whether corrosion is taking place?


MR. FOX:  What we do is, when we dig up the pipe to do the repair on the leak, we would take a look at the pipe and examine it and study it, and then we would decide to what extent the corrosion is occurring.


MR. DINGWALL:  So with respect to ‑‑ do you do anything with respect to the exposed bare steel pipes that Mr. Milne was mentioning are in existence in that region?


MR. FOX:  Only when we do the repairs.  Other than doing the leak survey, it's only when we do the repair to a leak that we would examine the source of the leak and document that, that information.


MR. DINGWALL:  So am I correct in understanding from what you have said that the only time you look at corrosion, in the context of your bare steel pipes, is if there's been a leak in repairing it?


MR. FOX:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is that kind of industry standard?


MR. FOX:  That I'm not ‑‑ I don't know.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, moving on to cast iron, just again so I can understand the terminologies that you're referring to, when you say "replacement program", does that require full excavation and full replacement of the cast-iron pipes?


MR. MILNE:  We would put new pipe into ‑‑ or new main into the ground, and then we would abandon and place, using the existing main -- you sectionalize.  You cut it in sections and cement those sections.  That's what we do.


MR. DINGWALL:  I understand that a number of utilities in the States are doing, on pilot bases or in research projects, programs where rather than completely excavating and completely taking out the cast-iron main, they would insert polyethylene pipeline within the cast-iron main, thus achieving the goal of replacement without the full excavation cost.  Is that anything that you've investigated?


MR. FOX:  We have investigated those other methodologies of -- such as lining the cast-iron main with polyethylene, and we ‑‑ there are some older sections that we have -- where we have done replacement and a number of years ago where we have used that methodology.


There are some disadvantages to that methodology.  One is that when you're doing the insertion process, you have to inconvenience all the customers on the block by taking them off -- because you have to take that pipe out of service in order to do the insertion.  So we have opted for other methods of installation so we can avoid any inconvenience to the customer during the replacement process.
     MR. DINGWALL:  If that's what they're doing for, I think, Peoples Energy in Chicago, I would have thought interruption in a place like Chicago would have been a principal concern.  How did you weigh the cost saving versus the interruption concern?
     MR. FOX:  I'm familiar with the logistics more so than the cost studies associated with the different methodologies.  So -- and these studies were done a number of years ago.  So I don't know if I can answer your question.  

As far as what happens in Chicago, I don't know whether -- their environment may be somewhat different, in terms of how they -- whether the block sizes are relatively short and they can take those customers out of service for the few days that it takes to do the replacement.
     But we have opted not to inconvenience the customer.
     MR. DINGWALL:  You mentioned that you did look at cost studies at one point in time, but your data might be old.  Can you give me an idea of the vintage?
     MR. FOX:  I'm thinking in the 80s, 1980s.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I wonder if it is conceivable that a technological advance might have happened since 1980.
     MR. FOX:  There have been improvements on the relining process, but essentially they require the same methodology that you do take the customer off line for the period of time that you are relining the service of the -- or the main.  

MR. MILNE:  If I may add and just build on Mr. Fox's answer as well.  We do benchmark and we are aware of other techniques and where we think they may have applicability to our franchise area, we certainly wouldn't want to try them out on a pilot study as well and there are other techniques in terms of replacement pipe bursting and things like this, that are there as well.  So we stay with our traditional mode of operation, but we certainly could not turn a blind eye to any kind of advancements in construction techniques.  And if we can learn from others and if they have applicability and if they lower my costs and I can do this job more effectively, I would say, from my perspective, very much interested.  But right now for the costing of this proposal, I needed to go with a more traditional model.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Is some of the inconvenience that you've mentioned in making this decision of not going for pipe inserts driven by the aggressive time frame that you've got for replacement?  For example, Chicago's replacement policy is over 40 years.
     MR. FOX:  Perhaps I can answer that question in that there is a new technology that's upon us right now that is in a test phase with our company.  It's called large diameter coil plastic pipe.
     And when you couple that new technology with directional drilling technology, which is relatively new, we expect to significantly reduce the amount of reinstatement that is required.  But because this technology is not fully developed yet, and we're still experimenting with it, it's probably going to take a year or two to perfect it.  So in terms of us developing a model or a costing that would be less than what we've already put forward, I think it would be premature at this stage.
     MR. DINGWALL:  When do you anticipate that that technology might be tested to the point where you can have some more surety as to implementation and cost?
     MR. FOX:  I think we'll have a very good idea by the middle of next summer.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  With respect -- I'm going to ask you a couple of questions that will involve making some brief reference to interrogatory tab 11, schedule 34.  I'm going to ask you to turn up specifically page 17 of that, if you could, please.
     MR. MILNE:  I'm sorry, what page?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Page 17, please.
     MR. MILNE:  Thank you.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Before we get there.  Mr. Fox, the technology you're making reference to, is that the same one as Northern Utilities are testing in Maine over the next four years.
     MR. FOX:  I'm not familiar with their ...

MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Looking at page 17 here, there is a separation costs for this program which have four different categories.  The first is installation costs of new main.  Second is installation costs for service relays.  The third is installation costs for new stations, and the fourth is abandonment costs for cast-iron mains.
     MR. MILNE:  My apologies.  I don't think we actually have the evidence here yet.  Could you give us the reference again, please.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm sorry.  It's interrogatory tab 11, schedule 34, and it's page 17.
     MS. NOWINA:  Page 17 doesn't seem to be it, Mr. Dingwall.
     MR. BATTISTA:  I think it is page 16.
     MR. DINGWALL:  It is page 16.  I'm going on the electronic version, not the paper version.
     MR. MILNE:  Okay.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now very briefly, since it is such a small number, what is involved in the abandonment costs for cast iron?
     MR. MILNE:  That would be when we go back in and we actually abandon the -- or the decommissioning, it would be cutting that main, what we call sectionalizing it and   basically grouting the ends.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.
     MR. MILNE:  The restoration costs are actually engaged or part and parcel of the installation costs, so when you restore something after you've actually done some work, you excavate.
     MR. DINGWALL:  When you're speaking in terms of restoration, Mr. Milne, that's where you're putting the dirt back on top of the pipes and then paving the road and then hopefully not leaving too many potholes on my street, since I think is one of the older ones.
     MR. MILNE:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Installation for service relays, is this what we have been talking about in terms of associated services?
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct?
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, hopefully no one will get a paper cut, but I'm wondering if we can go back to J7.2 and what appears to be --
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  -- the second chart in that study, which is on the fifth page.  In looking across the bars on this chart, it looks like the darker coloured bar is representing existing CI mains.
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So I understand, Mr. Milne, does that also include bare steel?
     MR. MILNE:  No, this is actually strictly cast iron.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Then the lighter coloured bar on that graph is associated existing services.
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  It seems to me, and please correct me if I'm wrong, that the significant concentration of risk or loss of residents or what I'm presuming is an abbreviation for possible impact on public safety, seems quite focussed on the associated services; is that correct?
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So in terms of the focus for what provides the significant risks, it's really more on the associated services than the cast-iron mains; is that correct?
     MR. MILNE:  Sorry, could you rephrase that for me again?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Let me see if I can.  That was one of the lead-in questions.
     In terms of the concentration of risk, it's not on cast-iron mains it's on the associated services.
     MR. MILNE:  I would actually say it is actually on both.
     MR. DINGWALL:  How so?
     MR. MILNE:  How so?  Because as you replace the

cast-iron main, you will relay the associated services with it.  So you're getting – sorry, I must be missing the thrust of your question.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, as I understand it, the cast-iron main is the big pipe down the middle of the street.
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  The associated service is the little pipe that goes from the big pipe to the house.
     MR. MILNE:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And might include a meter or something like that as well.
     MR. MILNE:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. DINGWALL:  In looking at that, it would seem   that there is a higher priority on replacing associated services than there would be on replacing cast-iron mains.  Would you agree with that?


MR. MILNE:  Not necessarily.  We have lots of other programs in place within the utility here to actually try to manage that risk on the services.  And those are, you know, programs that we have with our One Call and trying to ensure that you call before you dig, and there's other mechanisms by which we manage that.


This diagram is trying to give a sense as to what are the relative risks under different scenarios.  It's not necessarily easily translatable in the fact that because, in this one scenario, your risk associated with the services is greater than the mains; that you should focus only on services and not on mains.


MR. DINGWALL:  All right.  So some of your ‑‑ some examples of other services are the programs that are already under way and continue to be under way with respect to bringing inside meters outside; correct?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's one example.


MR. MILNE:  That's one example.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I didn't hear that, Mr. Ladanyi.


MR. DINGWALL:  I didn't hear that, either, which is rare for Mr. Ladanyi.


MR. LADANYI:  I was going to say we also had the program over the last few years to replace copper service lines which had problems with choking and corrosion.


MR. MILNE:  So this is actually an evolution, as well.  You know, we started doing this semi-quantitative risk assessment on the cast iron; I think the first draft was out in 2003, and there was iterations ongoing.


And I think it is fair for us to say, as the utility, we're still learning how to actually do this, how to use it, what does it really mean, and how should that be reflected in both your budgets and your programs?  It is actually quite exciting, because I think this is a really powerful tool and, in the fullness of time, will make a real difference - a real difference.  


We're at the cusp of it right now, and what you're really seeing here is our first stab at exactly trying to move into that new environment.  


 MR. DINGWALL:  Now, taking a step back from this for a minute, there have been a number of statistics digested in your evidence from the American Gas Foundation study, which we have talked about.  I'm not going to ask anyone to turn it up, since I'm the only one that has a copy right now.


I didn't see any breakout in that study between mains and associated services.  Do the figures within that study, do they combine those statistics?


MR. MILNE:  I'm going to have to do this subject to check, but I believe that actually they did break out the system into its major components.  So there was a section that looked at mains, and there was a section that sort of looked at services and another one that looked at meters.  At least they tried to quantify a number of serious incidents that were driven by something happening to each of those different components.  


But you're pushing my memory now, I must admit.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So we can leave it to reading the survey, and I will find out if it's there and, if it's not, it's not there.


MR. MILNE:  I am sure you will find it there.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to the leak and break statistics that you produced with respect to Enbridge's experience, did they separate associated services from mains?


MR. MILNE:  In our leak survey, we tried to capture the asset upon which the leak occurs.  So was it actually on a main, or was it actually on the service at the time that we do the repair?  So we are trying to develop a database that allows us to capture that information.


It's a fairly recent development, I must admit, though, so I can't go back too many years where we did that.  Before, it was all just associated.  Mobile leaks was always considered to be mains, and walking-leak surveys were always considered to be services, and we're trying to bring a bit more precision to that.


MR. DINGWALL:  And, again, that I take it is one of the challenges of using new tools?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  By way of conclusion, it sounds like -- moving towards conclusion.  I don't want to create an unwise expectation.  It sounds like Enbridge has been responding to the challenges in the marketplace of using the new tools and new information to increase and enhance its survey, as well as its response capabilities.  Would you agree with that?


MR. MILNE:  I would ‑‑ the way I would phrase it is that we're always taking a look at what we can do better, because our priority hasn't changed regardless of time.  It is to have a safe and reliable system.  So new technology, new techniques, new tools, we definitely want to keep on top of it.


MR. DINGWALL:  So if we see an increasing trend in the reporting of leaks, what that may reflect is you having better tools in which to identify leaks?


MR. MILNE:  That's true.  What we do do, though, is we normalize the information, so it is on a per-kilometre basis.  The impact that you're suggesting that because you're focussing harder on it and you're trying to do that, we try to take that into account.  


But in my evidence, what I indicated is the leaks, for example, were based on repaired leaks.  So they're ones that we actually went out and dug up.  That hasn't changed.  I did that purposely so there would be no ambiguity as to where that leak came from.  We dug it up and we fixed it, so we'd know if it was a service or we'd know if it was a main.


MR. DINGWALL:  If you replace a line and the line has multiple leaks, are you recording the leak once or are you recording each leak?


MR. MILNE:  If we replaced a line -- we would record each leak as an individual event.


MR. DINGWALL:  So if you replace a line that has multiple leaks, the number of leaks would be reflected?


MR. MILNE:  Hm‑hmm.  And I only call it replace.  Let's say an existing main and it goes for five kilometres - bear with me here - and you had a leak every kilometre, right, and then that is one leak per kilometre on that particular main.  So I'm not too sure where the

double-counting potentially could come in.  


I wouldn't want to ‑‑ I think it is very important for us to understand what particular bits of main are leaking, you know, two leaks per kilometre, one leak per kilometre, 0.001 leak per kilometre, so that I actually, in my limited dollars, make sure that I replace the right chunk of main.


MR. DINGWALL:  So is there a benchmark that you use as to when you go from repair to replace at this point in time?


MR. MILNE:  We use a point or CIRAS, which is basically a risk ‑‑ I call it more a risk assessment model which is based on number of main breaks, your leaks, what the material is made of, the diameter, the soil conditions, and all of that goes into helping us identify which sections of pipe the time has come to actually replace them.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that's what you're using to prioritize at this point?


MR. MILNE:  Yes, exactly.


MR. DINGWALL:  In listening to your very candid and very helpful answers, sir, I'm left with an impression ‑ and perhaps you can comment on it ‑ we're at the beginning of a process whereby you're going to have an access to a number of tools, one of them being EnVision at some point in 2006 when that is fully rolled out, as well as the research that you might be doing on a moveable polyethylene pipe insertion, as well as more experience with the reporting and linking of efforts with the city.  


It sounds to me, sir, like a more fulsome planning exercise could minimize costs and that the aggressive timetable in respect of this replacement program could go against that.


MR. MILNE:  Okay.  Let me respond to that in two parts.


First of all, you know, with the fullness of time, there will always be new techniques, new equipment, new ways of doing things, as well, but it doesn't ‑‑ subtract the fact that we have come to the conclusion that the infrastructure needs to be replaced based on main breaks, based on leaks and based on benchmarking and based on pending legislation, and all of that, as well.


The second part is I am very interested in doing everything I can to reduce the costs of this, and if there are any synergies that I can get by working with city departments from either water, sewer, roads - and, actually, some of the other utilities, like Bell Canada, has got a major infrastructure renewal project going on - I will aggressively pursue those.


We have done our preliminary mapping as to where the projects are over the three years, and we're hopefully -- at the end of this month, actually, we're meeting with the Toronto Public Utility coordinating committee to share our plans with the other utilities, to get a better sense of where their projects are.  And if there are any ways that we can overlap and time it together so that we both go in and restore an area once, we will aggressively pursue those.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Just a few questions.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  We've heard a lot about cast iron and bare steel replacements.  I'm going to move to another area. 
     Before I do, just a preliminary couple of questions, just to confirm a couple of things.  The first is, we certainly heard this before, from 2005 to the proposed 2006 year budget, we're looking at approximately a $208 million increase in the capital budget; is that correct?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's about correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And given this increase, is it fair to say that all of the individual increases that make up this number have attracted a high degree of management scrutiny.  Would that be fair?
     MR. LADANYI:  I would say that is right.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If I can ask you to turn up Board Staff interrogatory number 72, that's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 72.
     MS. NOWINA:  What schedule was it, Mr. Millar?
     MR. MILLAR:  72, Madam Chair.  This is a question from Board Staff regarding a proposed $3 million expenditure on an operations and training centre.  

Do you have it?
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.
     MR. MILLAR:  The question asked if there is a business case supporting this particular item.  And if I can just read from the first paragraph of the response it says:   

“A formal business case for this project has not yet been prepared as the project is in the initial scoping stage.”

And then you go on to explain the rationale behind the proposed operations training centre.
     So could I begin by asking, if a business case has been prepared now?  It says here, it seems to suggest one will be prepared.  I'm wondering if it has been prepared as of today's date.
     MR. LADANYI:  I'm not aware if one is ready now.
     MR. MILLAR:  And do you know if the company does plan to prepare a business case?
     MR. FOX:  If I may speak to this one.  We are in the process of preparing a business case.
     MR. MILLAR:  And do you know when that will be ready?
     MR. FOX:  I'm not sure of the timelines.  I believe it is sometime this fall.
     MR. MILLAR:  So presumably before you build the centre?
     MR. FOX:  Of course.
     MR. MILLAR:  Now, how does the company have confidence that this project is necessary without having the business case finished?
     MR. FOX:  Well, it's been a number of years since we have not had a -- a dedicated training facility.  We have been working out of some of the regional offices for the time being and we're missing some vital training tools, such as what we call a small Cityscape, it's outside where we can set up different leak scenarios for training people that are out there looking for leaks on our system.
     We don't have that kind of a facility and we think it is very beneficial to the ongoing training of our personnel.  So that is one of the reasons.  There are other elements to it that we feel it's time for us to build this kind of facility.  And these will be expanded upon in the business case.
     MR. MILLAR:  Did you used to have such a facility in the past?  It sounded to me like -- you said you don't currently have one.  It seemed to suggest you used to have one.
     MR. FOX:  We have never had a facility, to my knowledge, or in the time I have been in the company, where we had an underground infrastructure to train our leak surveyors on, other than the actual plant that is out there. 
     MR. MILLAR:  Let's imagine that we accept that such a training facility is, as a general idea, a good idea.  How can we have confidence without a business case that the amount of $3 million is appropriate?
     MR. FOX:  These are based on preliminary estimates and they will be updated when we finish the business case.
     MR. MILLAR:  Well I notice, for example, that part of the cost is a five-acre parcel of land at $400,000 an acre.  I assume you have a specific parcel of land in mind, or is that just an estimate?
     MR. FOX:  To my knowledge we don't have a specific parcel of land in mind.  And that's an aspect of the -- of this preparation I am not familiar with.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I'm not sure if you will be able to answer this question then but I assume when the business case is prepared, these would be the types of things that it might look at, if the costs for land, for example, are appropriate?
     MR. FOX:  I believe so.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So before the company actually cuts a cheque, I guess, they'll have the business case prepared and these questions will be answered?
     MR. FOX:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Now, do you think -- I will put this question to you.  Do you think it is fair to ask the Board to approve these amounts without the business case being prepared if the company, itself, wouldn't, as I said, have cut the cheque until they have seen the business case?
     MR. LADANYI:  I think that's one of the difficulties in this whole process is the rate case is found so filed so far in advance of actual expenditures taking place that some these things are in the very preliminary stage and the Board, in general, in the past, in situations like this, has trusted us to make the appropriate business decisions.  So we would hope the Board would do the same this time.
     MR. MILLAR:  But it's true, for example, if you're doing a system expansion, you would have a business case before you came to the Board; is that correct?
     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  Well, there would be a process and the largest systems expansions that we talked about a little while ago, there would be a leave-to-construct.  Or if we didn't have a certificate of public convenience and necessity for that municipality, there would also be that application as well.  
     In the case of general plant additions, I would say that sometimes there would be business cases in advance.  Sometimes there wouldn't be.  It really depends on the timing and what the nature of the investment is.
     MR. MILLAR:  Well, something like a training centre, if we're to agree it's a good thing, it doesn't strike me as something that is urgent, for example.  I mean if it happens in 2006 or 2007, it would seem to me that you would have time to prepare a business case in advance and bring that to the Board.  Is there a reason that this has to go ahead in 2006 or before a business case -- as you said, I think the business case is supposed to be ready in the fall.
     MR. FOX:  Yes.  I'm not sure that I could speak to the urgency, relative to other capital expenditures.  This has been -- the training centre has been an item on our list that we feel we need to do for sometime now.  But it's something that's built up over the last, that we have put together the information for over the last year and a half or so and we feel it is -- we need to get this done sooner than later.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I will leave that.  If I could get you to turn to Board Staff interrogatory 62.  That's the same exhibit, I, tab 1, schedule 62.
     These are questions related to a web-based infrastructure to support provision of web-based services to customers and business partners.  Do you have that?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes, I have it.
     MR. MILLAR:  If we look to question D on the first page, it's a similar question, it says:

“Please provide the overall business case that justifies the expenditure of $5 million in 2006, and costs that will be incurred in 2005.”

And if you flip to page 2 of that schedule, we see the answer and the company's response is that: 

“The business case for this investment will be completed prior to its approval by management in 2006.”

So I guess I will ask the same question, and I may get the same answer or you may have a different answer in this instance.  It seems to me that in order for the company to actually start paying for these items, they require that a business case be prepared.  However, you're asking the Board to approve the amounts without having the benefit of that business case.
     Would you care to comment on that.
     MR. DeWOLF:  Yes.  Madam Chair, and this goes back again to the difficulty in the way these proceedings work, the timing makes it difficult to have those business cases in advance.
     And so to go and think and work on what specifically the business is going to require in the way of an IT project, before we even get there, is very difficult.  So for instance, things change.  And so New Orleans has happened since this business case has been put together.  And if New Orleans pushes the price of gas to a certain point, I can see us moving forward, as I mentioned earlier, with information and technology on the website to assist our customers in looking for ways to reduce their energy costs on the website.  That would be something I would not have thought of when I was first putting this together.
     So the business case that we would bring forward would end up probably not being the business case that we would actually go forward with in 2006.  And so that's just the situation we're in with the way these hearings work.
     MR. MILLAR:  So I guess it is possible, since the business case isn't prepared yet for either of these projects, is it possible that once the business case is finished we'll find that it is actually not a good idea and these projects won't go ahead.  Is that a possibility?


MR. DeWOLF:  In the case of IT, there have been projects, for instance, as the one we mentioned in our 2004, where we had believed, with the timing of our CIS project at that time, that we would be doing CIS work.  That ended up not happening and we decided not to do that project, and then we found something else that we thought was equally important that we went ahead and spent that money on.


MR. MILLAR:  But if we look at the training centre, for example, let's imagine the business case comes forward and it turns out this just is not a good investment of money.  I assume, then, that money is just not spent.  It is not a case of you spending it on something else, I assume; is that fair?


MR. FOX:  Well, we would not be spending it on the training centre.  Typically, we wouldn't spend that money.  If we decided in our business case that we don't need to spend to on the training centre, then we wouldn't be devoting any funds to that purpose.  


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And you wouldn't take that $3 million that the Board approved for a training centre and go spend it on something else?


MR. MILNE:  All things equal, no.


MR. FOX:  If everything is -- as Mr. Milne says, if everything is equal, no, we would not be spending it on something else.


MR. LADANYI:  But you have to remember that during an actual year, what will happen, there will be pressures on the company, for example, to extend service to a new subdivision that some developer has put on the market.  So that might not have been in the original budget, so we may be forced to do that, in any event.  We can't have those customers going to electric heating, can we?  So we would have to very quickly respond to that.


So I think what's required really is that management must have a certain amount of discretion to manage the business.  Obviously we ‑‑ you're going to have to count on us to make prudent decisions and to spend the money wisely, but we have to have some kind of leeway.  This cannot be micro-managed to the degree that every single dollar spent can be forecasted in minute detail in advance.


MR. MILLAR:  That may to some extent be the practical reality, but I think you would agree with me at least ideally, if the Board approves a $3 million expenditure for a training centre, it is not intended that that money then be spent on a system expansion somewhere else?


MR. LADANYI:  No.  It's definitely -- at the time of the approval, to the best of our knowledge, we would go ahead with the training centre.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Can you give me an idea ‑‑ I know for some of the projects that come before ‑‑ some of the capital projects that come before the Board, obviously we do have a business case, some sort of a cost benefit analysis, and then obviously for some others we don't have it yet.  It's in the process of being conducted when the application comes to the Board, and we heard a little bit as to why that happens.


Can you give us an indication of what number of the projects we're talking about on the capital budget do have a business case to support them and which ones don't?  Is it possible to break those down?


MR. LADANYI:  Of the entire capital budget?  You mean everything?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, other than leave‑to‑constructs.


MR. LADANYI:  No.  Right here now, we can't give you that answer.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible to get an undertaking to provide that information?


MR. LADANYI:  We can take an undertaking.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.8.


UNDERTAKING NO. J18.8:  NUMBER OF PROJECTS IN CAPITAL 

HAVING BUSINESS CASE

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, would you like to do your re-direct?


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  I have a few questions here, and I apologize to the panel and to everyone else.  They're probably going to be mixed up in the order in which I have noted them, but I shouldn't be too long.


I have a follow‑up to a question that was asked by Mr. Shepherd in relation to the accelerated cast iron and bare steel main replacement program.


In the context of asking about public disclosure, I think he had asked you, Mr. Milne, about whether the OEB was the only place that this concern had been presented by the company.  Do you recall that line of questioning?


MR. MILNE:  I do.


MR. CASS:  And as I said, I think it was in the context of public disclosure.  I wondered if you could comment on to the extent that there would be any other non‑public disclosure, for example, to a body like the TSSA?


MR. MILNE:  We actually have had discussions with our other regulator on technical matters and have gone through our proposal to actually accelerate this program, and we have actually received the written expression of support for the accelerated replacement.  


I think, if memory serves me correctly, the wording was that anything that continues to improve the safety and reliability has our support.  So we have had those kinds of discussions amongst some of our other regulators.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Still with you, Mr. Milne, you may have covered this, but I just wanted to be sure.  Mr. Shepherd had asked you -- I think in his words, he had put to you that the company had changed its view about the rate of replacement of cast iron and bare steel mains, and he had asked you about the reasons for why the company's view might have changed.


As you were doing that, there were a number of digressions, so I'm not sure whether you got out all of the reasons or not, and I just wanted to be sure that you had done so.


MR. MILNE:  I can certainly take another crack at it.  Really, it is interesting, because it's really a critical mass of several different factors.


We continue to take a look at the performance of our system and we also, at the same time, try to consider new information that's coming available.  So some of the new techniques, like the risk assessment that we had some discussion here this afternoon, are part and parcel of that process, as well.


We do go out and we benchmark ourselves against other companies to see what's out there, and we are very concerned now that the time has come that we should take a more holistic view of our system.  It isn't just mains and mains alone.  You need understand mains and services are connected together, and you need to understand that implication.  


And so it is all of those things together that I believe actually has resulted in our decision to accelerate the replacement.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Just so that I can stay with you on this subject, Mr. Milne, I'll skip to a couple ‑‑ an area that Mr. DeRose covered.  You will recall that he had some questions to you about change in risk, as compared to change in risk tolerance.  Do you remember those questions from Mr. DeRose not too long ago?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And in that context, you referred to the risk assessment, as you have just done now.  And I think I understood you to say it was in another ‑‑ it was not in your area of the company.  I just wondered if you could elaborate on what you said in that context?


MR. MILNE:  Certainly.  What I can indicate is that under the VP of engineering, there are several departments.  There is one called integrity management.  It is that department, separate than planning, that has taken the lead in looking at the development of a risk assessment as a tool.  And they did that because they were instrumental in the implementation of a risk management system for a

high-stress steel pipelines, and then they were also helpful to us in terms of taking another look -- taking a new way of looking at our copper services.


And so this is a continued evolution.  They then took a look at, What is the risk profile for our cast iron system, starting in, I would say, 2003, and then they expanded that to take a look at the risk profile for other types of mains we have in our system, and that work was done, I believe, in the fall of 2004.


Going forward, I would very much want to see that we actually do a risk assessment on all of the assets that we have in our system, services, mains, stations, regulators, meters, so we fully understand how they all fit together and what is the risk that we're dealing with and how best to manage that risk, to optimize that risk profile.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  Now, still on this area that Mr. DeRose pursued about change in risk as opposed to change in risk tolerance, you had previously been taken to ‑‑ or perhaps you went to a chart.  I think it was during Mr. Shepherd's examination.  It was at Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 34, page 23.  So that's the cast iron main leaks chart.  It's IGUA Interrogatory No. 11 ‑‑ sorry, number 34, page 23 of 24.


MR. MILNE:  Yes, I have that.


MR. CASS:  I just wondered if you could think back to Mr. DeRose's questions about change in risk versus change in risk tolerance and put your answer into the context of this chart and what it is showing.


MR. MILNE:  Okay.  Well, this chart is actually showing an increase, or ‑‑ let me back up.  What this chart is showing is basically that the performance of the system is continuing to deteriorate notwithstanding our current rate of replacement.


If we are successful in replacing the worst sections of our mains using our existing CIRAS risk assessment, you would assume that at least your number of leaks per kilometre would be consistent over time.  We don't see that.  We don't see that performance.


Now, that is a little bit different than the senior management group of the company saying that, given a broader view of what is happening within the utility business, and given a better appreciation of some of the new risk assessment work that we're doing in integrity management, that we as a group our tolerance for risk has changed.  What this is doing is tracking our traditional performance metrics and seeing if the replacement of those cast iron, those worst sections of cast iron, is really making a difference on the street.  And the indication here on the leaks, is "not".
     MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.  Then I think I had one final question that related to cast-iron and bare-steel main replacement.  I don't know how far one needs to get into this subject at this point in time, but listening to Mr. Dingwall's questions about insertion of a plastic pipe within cast iron mains caused me to wonder how that would relate to your issue with the services coming off the cast iron mains.
     I wondered if you had any comment on that.
     MR. MILNE:  I'm sorry, myself or Rob?
     MR. CASS:  Anybody.
     MR. FOX:  I will answer that.  When you do insertion of plastic into a main, at some point you have to break the old main away so that you can get access to the new piece of pipe that's inside it so that you can then attach your connection to the main that brings the gas from the main into the building.
     And I think one of the other things that Mr. Dingwall was addressing was the difference in risk between the associated services and the cast iron mains.  And that -- I sense that he thought that we should perhaps be focussing on replacing services more so than on the cast-iron mains.
     One thing that perhaps will help clarify why we're doing it together is that, typically, the new main reinstall is at a different pressure rating than the current services or mains.  So that it allows us to use a smaller main and a smaller service in order to do the replacements.  So it's far more economical for us to install a small diameter service than it is like the larger diameter services that are typical of the size that there is there now.
     So that's one reason why we have to do this program together and we can't separate the two.
     MR. CASS:  All right.  I have a couple of other questions.  I'm going to skip to a different area now.
     A number of cross-examiners asked questions about the situation where, when the budget is prepared, a certain capital expenditure is envisaged and then when the test year comes around, the company actually gets closer to making that expenditure and does the analysis to determine whether it is appropriate.  I think in the IT context, there was an example given of where there was an adjustment to what was originally proposed, in terms of what was actually spent.
     I wonder if anybody on the panel, maybe it would be your area, Mr. Ladanyi, could comment on what the company typically files in a rate case to explain actual expenditures on capital projects over a certain threshold, as compared to what was filed in evidence previously.
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, Mr. Cass.  Typically in a rate case the company would file, in its B series of exhibits, variance explanations for capital and capital projects and it would file a schedule showing what the capital projects in that year were, and in the original budget, for example, and what -- that the Board had approved or had been settled in the settlement agreement.  And then would file various explanations to what the actuals were or the what new estimate is.
     And that has been a pattern here at the Board for years.  Essentially what we're following are the Board's own guidelines for filing that were developed quite a long time ago now, whereby this information is presented both for the bridge year, which is the year one is currently in and then also for the historical year.  We would compare the actuals to Board-approved with various explanations.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Then my last question is in another completely different area.
     During Mr. DeRose's cross-examination, he had some questions that related to incentive regulation and they seemed to put forward the proposition that it would be difficult for the company to achieve recovery of the type of safety-related capital expenditures that are being proposed in this case under an incentive regulation mechanism.  I wonder, Mr. Ladanyi, could you comment on the appropriateness of any incentive regulation mechanism that would discourage or make difficult investment in 

safety-related capital projects.
     MR. LADANYI:  I think that would be highly inappropriate mechanism.  And specifically one might recall when we had discussions in the past about performance-based regulation, we argued very forcefully that a safety-related investment should be treated as a Z factor, which is a cost that would be specifically outside the envelope of the performance-based regulation.  And we hoped it will be, in the future, successful in convincing the Board whatever the performance-based regulation or incentive-regulation mechanism is adopted by the Board, there would be provisions specifically for these types of investments.
     MR. CASS:  All right.  Those are my questions of the panel, Madam Chair, thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  The Board panel does have some questions. 

Ms. Chaplin.
     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Milne, you described how, after the draft, I will call it the draft budget was prepared, you received the information from the EMT that the risk tolerance had changed and they looked to you to provide and an accelerated cast iron and bare-steel reinforcement program; is that correct?
     MR. MILNE:  That's correct.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Now when they did that, did they ask you to examine whether or not that accelerated budget could be accommodated by either postponing or reducing other aspects of your capital budget?
     MR. MILNE:  No.  My memory recalls that basically the discussion was:  Is it possible to remove the cast iron on an accelerated basis?  What is the shortest period of time, if you think all things being equal, you could do that?
     There was no discussion, in terms of internal trade-offs, which I think you are asking for, and with respect to my area, my area is system improvement so it is the relocations driven by municipalities widening the roads, is it reinforcements driven by system need.  I need to ensure that there is enough volume in pressure to make sure that people don't lose their heat over the winter and then there is the replacement which is driven by the safety and reliability aspects of that.
     So each of those have very important drivers behind them, and so there was no discussion, within my context, of those things that I can show within the budget of any required trade-offs.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  So therefore I guess more generally, Mr. Ladanyi, were you aware, was there any discussion of whether or not trade-offs would be possible?  In other words, to introduce the accelerated program, but at the same time either postpone or reduce other aspects of the capital expenditure budget in order to keep it within the original draft budget envelope?
     MR. LADANYI:  I was never involved in any such discussions at all.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you very much.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     Mr. Milne, you indicated some kilometre numbers from the previous years of the cast iron replacement program.  Could you reiterate those for me, please.
     MR. MILNE:  Certainly.  If it would be convenient for the Board, I can actually do it as an undertaking as well.  It goes all the way back to 1960 and you can actually trace the amount of cast iron that we removed from the system in each of those years.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that would be helpful, if we could have that undertaking.
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.9.
     UNDERTAKING NO. J18.9:  PROVIDE CAST IRON REPLACEMENT

NUMBERS FROM 2000 TO DATE
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  For the purposes of this response you don't have to go back to 1960.  Say 2000 would be fine.
     MR. MILNE:  Certainly.  Would you like me to do it now?
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please.
     MR. MILNE:  Okay.  In 2000 the length, in terms of kilometres that we abandoned in that year was 61.9 kilometres.
     In 2001, it was 68.9.
     2002, was 96.8.
     2003 was 75.7.
     2004 was 67.
     And we are predicting, at this point in time, that we are hopefully we will replace 100 kilometres in this calendar year.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the amount of cast iron removed over that period has fluctuated fairly considerably.
     MR. MILNE:  Yes.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What are the reasons for that fluctuation?
     MR. MILNE:  It actually depends a lot on the break history and leaks.  If you get a really tough winter and the frost goes deep into the ground, as the spring comes, you will get an awful lot of breaks.  So that means a lot of repairs.  But that information then goes into our model and in the following year it says:  Well, this piece of pipe over these last couple of years have had these numbers of breaks, this number of leaks.  It may be driven by the weather, the ground shifting with as the frost heaves and that often drives some fluctuation.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is your risk assessment model, it attempts to --
     MR. MILNE:  Model that.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- to help you determine which pieces of pipe should be replaced?
     MR. MILNE:  Correct.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When you develop your budget in effect for 2005, that is the budget which you presented for ‑‑ actually, the budget you presented to the management team in December of 2004, the one that provided for fairly a conventional program, the seven‑year program.


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What assumptions did you make?  You've indicated that you made the wrong assumptions, but what assumptions did you make when you developed that budget?


MR. MILNE:  Well, what we do is we try not to make as many assumptions as we can.  We actually try to base it on the actual performance of the system, as well.  So what we would have done is we would have run our CIRAS, which is the cast iron risk assessment program, and we would have factored in the mains, their age, the soil conditions around them, the leak history, break history, and run that and let the system tell us what is being done.  


Then, in fairness, I would also have taken a look and said, Well, what has been the traditional level of funding in this area for that?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You've indicated that since about 2003, the company was benchmarking its activities in this area.  Did you benchmark that December 2004 budget?


MR. MILNE:  No, I did not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Did you budget or did you benchmark the level of activity represented by that budget?


MR. MILNE:  I'm not sure -- with respect, I'm not sure of the question.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, did you try to place Enbridge's program within the broader utility context with analogous utilities elsewhere in North America?  Did you try to place the program within that context?


MR. MILNE:  During the actual creation of the 2005 budget, no, I did not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the number that you brought to the leadership, leadership of your company, in December of 2004 was based on your historical activity.  You made no attempt to benchmark this way, that way or the other way?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you done that since?


MR. MILNE:  Yes, we have.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you done that in a programmatic fashion?


MR. MILNE:  We have done it through our contacts with the American Gas Association, in anticipation really of somebody asking me, you know, What is your rate of breaks compared to other utilities?  What is the rate of leakage on your cast iron compared to other utilities?


And in terms of the North American context, I think for main breaks we're actually fairly good.  I would like to be better.  In terms of leaks, there is actually some utilities in the United States, primarily, that have greater leaks per kilometre than we do.  There are some that actually have less.  So we're actually in the middle of the pack in that regard.  


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. MILNE:  I would say second quartile.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  The risk assessment document that was filed with J7.2, did you commission that?


MR. MILNE:  I actually ‑‑ I think the way to describe it is that I had asked that there be executive summary created on the two draft reports that were created by this consultant, because I wanted to be able to draw in sort of common findings of the two reports.  


There is one report that deals with cast iron and another report that deals with other main types, and there was no overall summary of the two documents together.


So I went back to the consultant and said it would be good and helpful for us if we were to prepare this in anticipation that there might be some questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  This was done for July of 2005.  The die had already been cast at that point.


MR. MILNE:  That's right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You had a new budget?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Did you see anything in this report that you didn't know?


MR. MILNE:  I actually had been privy and had had some understanding of what was in the cast iron one.  That process started in 2003.  So, yes, I was aware of this new approach and that some of the numbers that were coming out of this was actually more comprehensive than our more traditional performance-based metrics.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just with respect to public disclosure, did I understand you to say that the company has not contacted the City of Toronto, for example, with respect to its new program?


MR. MILNE:  Sorry, I do not want to leave that impression.  We have, indeed, had discussions with other utilities, with the City of Toronto, as well as the TSSA.


I must admit that my focus here was more of the financial filings and in terms of statement of risks that you find in your annual report.  So ...

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  When Mr. Beaumont indicated to you that the management team had a less tolerant -- was less tolerant of risk in this area, how did you defend your program?


MR. MILNE:  Okay.  When he said ‑‑ I say less tolerant, but the way it was put to me is Glen came back or Mr. Beaumont came back and said, You know, the EMT has reviewed this.  It's reviewed some the other factors, as well, and we think that we should be accelerating the replacement.  We think that we should see if we can get this program to happen faster.  


That's the kind of discussion that we had with that respect.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Was it just as simple as that?


MR. MILNE:  Just as simple as that, believe it or not.  It was, like, go back to the drawing board and tell me how quickly you could, all things being equal, get this out.  Go back to the drawing board and just take a look at those safety statistics again and what they actually mean.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one last aspect of this.  That led, I take it, to the report that was presented to the EMT in January of 2005; is that right?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Accelerated cast iron replacement?


MR. MILNE:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Were you the person that presented that presentation?


MR. MILNE:  I put the presentation together.  I do believe that my supervisor, Glen, presented it.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Beaumont?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is just that it suggests that the purpose of the presentation is to obtain EMT approval for a proposal to accelerate the de-commissioning of low pressure cast iron mains over a three‑year period.  As far as you knew, they had already come to that conclusion, hadn't they?


So the presentation was -- how did you see the purpose of the presentation?


MR. MILNE:  I see it as confirming that this, indeed, is the direction we want to go, and for me, or at least the planning department, to be able to come back and say, Yes, we think that we can do that in three years.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And just so that I understand the underlying technical aspects, there was, in fact, a decline in the absolute numbers of breaks in cast iron; is that right?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But your concern was that you didn't have a clear trend of a declining break rate?


MR. MILNE:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that really is the lynchpin upon which this budgetary and risk change is predicated?


MR. MILNE:  Well, with respect, I wouldn't say there was any one particular issue that was the determinative factor.  The number of main breaks was one.  The number of leaks was another.  An understanding of what's happening with integrity management was yet a third.  All of those together combined to that critical mass going forward.


So I don't want to leave the impression that any one particular fact was, in and of itself, sufficient for us to do this.  It was the accumulation of several bits of information.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, I'm just ‑‑ I want to be fair about that.  As I look at this presentation that was made to management in January of 2005, following your discussion with Mr. Beaumont, the rationales that seem to be a concern about legislative changes to the system, right, that would affect the integrity program, and then the absence of a clear trend of declining break rate, even though there was an absolute reduction in the number of breaks; is that fair?


MR. MILNE:  That's right.  It is.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir, those are my questions.


MR. MILNE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I have a few questions, as well.  Mr. Milne, just a clarification for you to help my understanding.


In the cast-iron replacement program that includes the $235 million, that dollar includes the replacement of the steel services that you're concerned about?


MR. MILNE:  Yes, it does.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  All of those that you come across?


MR. MILNE:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I just wanted to clarify that.  My other two questions are for you, Mr. DeWolf.


Was I correct ‑ I may not have been ‑ in understanding that the business case for EnVision did not include the interfaces to other systems?


MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct, because the business case for EnVision was done by Accenture, and the interfaces into our other systems would be an asset that Enbridge would want to hold onto and have, because it would be running in our infrastructure and not in theirs.  So that was the demarcation line, that we said that the information coming out of their systems, they're obviously responsible for their side of the interface to provide the data in, but the main interface transport, which -- we used ITRIA to do that, and our side was our responsibility. 


 MS. NOWINA:  So were the numbers ever run to get a PI that included both the EnVision piece and the interface piece?
     MR. DeWOLF:  Again, I'm not that familiar with the EnVision project evidence that's been put forward, so I don't know whether that was done, or not as part of the EnVision project.
     MS. NOWINA:  Maybe you're not the right person to ask the questions of.  Maybe you can answer this question.
     Is the EnVision software itself useful to the company without the interfaces?
     MR. DeWOLF:  No.
     MS. NOWINA:  So therefore the business case, there had to be some business case that assumed that the interfaces would be created?  And that the EnVision business case could not stand on its own.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  But we don't have those numbers?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's right.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  The other question was about the Enrich project. 
     Part of the Enrich project, part of the scope of the enrich project was to upgrade the Plumtree software from version 4 something to version 5 something; is that correct?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  Now, EI uses the Plumtree software as well, right, it isn't just used by EGD.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  But the cost of the Enrich project, all of that is going to EGD?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  Now, does EGD, do you, or does the CIO department of EI have some kind of policy about the currency of the versions they have:  Current version, version minus 1, version minus 2?
     MR. DeWOLF:  I'm not sure what the CIO department's policy is towards that.  Our policy is that it is a minus two.
     MS. NOWINA:  Minus two.  So couldn't we assume, then, that the upgrade to the version is of benefit to EI as well, that eventually the entire corporation would have to upgrade to a current version?
     MR. DeWOLF:  That is true, but we would have then had to wait for that version to be put in by EI to get our integration, because we wanted to have the most current version so that we could make our integration with LiveLink easier, because the newer version would allow that to happen a lot easier.
     So we believed that it was worthwhile for us to go ahead and do the upgrade, which was a smaller part of the operation and then integrate the LiveLink component.
     MS. NOWINA:  So it's a timing difference.  If you had done the new version a year from now, EI likely would have needed and wanted that newer version.
     MR. DeWOLF:  That's correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     Mr. Cass, it is 3:30.  I see that the other panel is here.  We could take a very short break, swear them and do your examination in-chief, if you thought that that was going to be fairly short.
     MR. CASS:  Mr. Lanni is actually responsible for the next panel.  So I hate to put him on the spot.  It would strike me that we should use the time, if we can, but let me just take a moment to check.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could pipe up here.  The intervenors have discussed the questions we have for this next panel.  And it may actually be very short.  It may be useful to hear the current estimates before making a decision.  Mine, for example, is ten minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we hear the estimates.  Mr. Dingwall.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I estimate that I will be in a deck wearing shorts by the time Mr. Shepherd's ten minutes are up.
     MS. NOWINA:  Don't ask me to repeat it.  Mr. DeRose.
     MR. DeROSE:  I have absolutely no way to follow that and nor do I want to.
     I would think I'm going to be in or around the 10 minutes and if I go first, I can be in a cab by the time Mr. Shepherd's done.
     MS. NOWINA:  I guess that all leaves it to Mr. Lanni, if he isn't.

MR. LANNI:  I think that is fine with me and I think that is fine with the panel.  That's actually our preference.
     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we take a five-minute break so the panels can switch and we will come back.  Thank you very much for this panel.  You are dismissed.
     --- Recess taken at 3:29 p.m.
     ---Upon resuming at 3:35 p.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Lanni.

MR. LANNI:  Seated to my left, we have Jamie Milner, Ms. Marika Hare, Mr. Tom Ladanyi, and Mr. Sagar Kancharla.  

As you know, this panel will be speaking to the customer-related portion of the capital budget.  And two specific items are customer attachment and system expansion and to some extent, that has been addressed this morning and earlier in the afternoon with the panel that as just on.
     The first few members of this panel have been sworn.  Mr. Kancharla has not, I would ask he please be sworn at this moment. 

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 15:

Jamie Milner; Previously Sworn

Marika Hare; Previously Sworn

Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn

Sagar Kancharla; Sworn

EXAMINATION BY MR. LANNI:
     MR. LANNI:  If I can ask each of the members on this panel to briefly state your positions with the company and your role in giving evidence on this panel.  

MR. MILNER:  Sure I'm the general manager of eastern region, Jamie Milner.  Seated next to me is Marika Hare who is the general manager of central region, and together we're here to assist the Board in understanding the company's plan for system expansion in the 2006 test year and to lend support to the capital budget to facilitate that expansion.
     MR. LANNI:  Mr. Ladanyi, same question.
     MR. LADANYI:  As manager of budgets and planning, I am responsible for the entire budget process at Enbridge Gas Distribution, including the capital budget.
     My role on this panel is to assist the Board in understanding the company's customer-related capital expenditure requirements for the 2006 test year.
     MR. LANNI:  Mr. Kancharla, your role on the panel, please.
     MR. KANCHARLA:  My position with the company is manager of financial and economic assessment.  The focus of my role on this panel is to assist the Board in understanding the process used by the company in forecasting customer attachments and the policy and procedure for determining the feasibility of projects.
     MR. LANNI:  Thank you.  I would like to ask the panel to please confirm for the Board that the evidence prepared with respect to customer attachments and system expansion including answers to related interrogatories was prepared under your direction and control.
     MR. LADANYI:  On behalf of the panel, I can confirm that. 
     MR. LANNI:  As well, can you please confirm that the evidence with respect to these issues is accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief.
     MR. LADANYI:  Once again, on behalf of the panel, I can confirm that subject to, however, to the following correction.
     I would refer you to Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 30 which is School Energy Coalition interrogatory number 30.
     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Ladanyi.
     MR. LADANYI:  Page 3 of this interrogatory, on page 3, column 10, line 4, the total customer additions for 2004 is shown as 46,175.  That number is a typographical error and should have been shown as 56,485.
     No other numbers on that exhibit are affected.  With this correction -- with the correction of this error, the company's evidence relating to customer attachments and system expansion is accurate to the best of our knowledge and belief.
     MR. LANNI:  Thank you.  And what are the company's customer-related capital budget requirements for the test year.
     MR. LADANYI:  The company's evidence, with respect to the customer-related capital budget is generally found at Exhibit A5, tab 2, schedule 1.  There are also a series of B exhibits that provide the Board with the information and various explanations concerning historic 2004 actual year results, 2005 bridge year, and 2006 test year capital expenditures and customer additions.
     The company's forecast for customer-related capital expenditures in 2006 is $172.8 million.  This represents an increase of $68.2 million over the 2005 calendar estimate.
     MR. LANNI:  Can you please provide a high-level breakdown of the drivers of that increase.
     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, Mr. Lanni.  First of all, I should explain that the customer-related capital is generally derived from the company's customer addition forecast which is prepared utilizing EBO-188, approved investment portfolio feasibility guidelines.
     Customer additions for fiscal 2006 are expected to be 49,011 which is close to the 2005 estimate.
     Customer-related distribution plant expenditures increased by about 65 percent in the 2006 budget over the 2005 budget.  This is primarily due to capital necessary to support the Ontario government's request for proposal or RFP initiatives for electricity, power generation and system expansion requirements.


The 2006 budget includes a number of system expansion projects totalling $26 million.


Finally, the remaining increases due to higher allocations of regional overhead caused due to a higher customer-related capital base relative to system improvement mains.


MR. LANNI:  I know we touched upon or your panel earlier this morning touched upon the RFP project.  Is there anything else you would like to add with regard to the request for proposal initiative vis-à-vis Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I would.  The 2000 budget includes 36.3 million as a placeholder for two potential RFP opportunities.  To date, the government has announced a 90-megawatt plant for the Greater Toronto Airports Authority, and two 280-megawatt plants for Mississauga.  One of the two 280-megawatt plants has since been withdrawn.  


Subsequently, the government has announced that it will be proceeding with another round of requests for proposal that will include a 1,000-megawatt plant for GTA west and a 600-megawatt for the Toronto downtown area.


MR. LANNI:  Can you please provide some more detail as to how the company forecasts customer attachment in a given year?


MR. KANCHARLA:  Yes.  The company has traditionally used a grassroots or regional level development process for customer relations.  Forecasts for customer relations are developed at a regional level based on a review of company's economic forecast and business plans.


In relation, consultations are made between field personal and the building industry representatives.  The economic forecast models factor in numerous sensitivities, such as housing starts and the estimation of customer additions.


The main economic drivers for customer additions across various sectors include housing starts, energy prices, general economic activity, vacancy rates, number of non‑customers on mains and capital costs.


These elements utilized in the development of the customer additions budget provide for a comprehensive analysis and also allows for the cross‑reference of information.


This high level economic analysis, combined with the consultations between the field personnel and the building industry representatives and the experience of the company's regional management form the basis on which customer relations are derived.


MR. LANNI:  And can you, please, briefly explain the basis upon which the company's feasibility policy is based on system expansion -- or, rather, explain the basis for the company's feasibility policy on system expansion?


MR. KANCHARLA:  Yes.  With regards to system expansion, the company's economic feasibility procedure and policy continues to conform with the Ontario Energy Board's guidelines for assisting and reporting on natural gas system expansion in Ontario.  These guidelines reflect the Board's conclusions in its report under Board File No. EBO188, a report dated January 30th, 1998.


MR. LANNI:  And how were Enbridge Gas Distribution's plans for system expansion in the test year developed?


MS. HARE:  The company system expansion plans were developed by the regional sales and delivery staff.  This staff has constant contact with builders, with developers, with customers.  They have knowledge of the communities and the proposed development that's going to occur there.  So they're the ones that identify the systems expansion plans.


System expansion into communities that are not currently served by natural gas allows for the displacement of other fossil fuels, mainly oil and propane, that aren't as environmentally clean from an emissions perspective and climate change perspective as is natural gas.


So having natural gas as an option provides economic benefits, as well as allowing for reduction in electricity usage, as we understand has been mandated by the government.


MR. LANNI:  Finally, earlier in this hearing, the Enbridge policy panel was asked in cross‑examination to touch upon the company's system expansion plans for 2006 and, in particular, to provide details with regard to the feasibility of system expansion projects with a profitability index of less than one.


Can you please explain the effect that system expansion projects, with the PI of less than one, will have on distribution rates in the short term.


MR. KANCHARLA:  The objective of EBO188 guidelines was to ensure that there would be no undue cross-subsidy required from existing customers as a result of capital expenditures for new customers.


The present value of revenues and costs of all new customers added in the test year are included in what is called the investment portfolio.  Some of the products in the portfolio may have a profitability index of less than one, while others would have a profitability index greater than one.


The entire investment portfolio is required to have a PI of greater than one to ensure that new customers in more feasible projects subsidize new customers in less feasible projects, while leaving the existing customers unaffected over the project's life.  


 There could be some cross-subsidization during the initial years due to the long horizon of analysis for these new customers, and this is recognized by the EBO188 guidelines.


MR. LANNI:  Thank you.  And what about their impact on distribution rates in the longer term?


MR. KANCHARLA:  In the longer term, as customers are added, the impact of additional customers would be that distribution rates would decrease for all customers.


This is particularly so, because for individual projects the PI is calculated based on the number of customers being added within the first five years.  But what we know is that once gas is brought to a community, the addition of customers continues to increase beyond the five-year horizon.  


Further, for the investment portfolio for which the PI is reported in this application, as required by the EBO188, the PI is calculated based on the number of customers being added only in the test year.


So adding customers decreases rates for all existing customers over the long term.


MR. LANNI:  Madam Chair, that concludes our questions in‑chief, and I can turn the panel over for cross‑examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Lanni.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I had only one question before the direct evidence and now, unfortunately, I have two.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Ladanyi, you made a correction to I, 18, 30 as part of your direct evidence.


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And after that correction, I can't make the column add up, because the column appears to add up to 46,175.  Am I missing something, or did I not hear your full correction?


Mr. Ladanyi ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  Just a moment.  We're just checking the numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I was going to say is it's quite a small point and I didn't want to take too much of the Board's time.  I would be happy if you undertook to re-file this page with whatever corrections are necessary.  Could you do that?


MR. LADANYI:  We will re-file the page.  The total number 56,045 is the correct number.  There must be something else wrong with that number.  We're just checking, because this evidence, this is also elsewhere in evidence, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, maybe that undertaking will speed things up.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Why don't we just take an undertaking to re-file the page?


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J18.10. 


UNDERTAKING NO. J18.10:  TO RE-FILE I, 18, 30 WITH 

CORRECTIONS

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm conscious of the scorn of my time estimates and I don't want to miss this one.
     MR. MILLAR:  Too late.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm only three minutes in.  Okay, now my real question is actually about gas-fired generation.
     You have this $36.3 million in your capital budget for gas-fired generation, is this you, Mr. Milner?  Who do I ask this of?
     MR. LADANYI:  No.  It's me.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have this amount as a placeholder; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know actually which project it’s going to end up being, you're starting to get starting to get a little bit of an idea but you don't know yet; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  We don't know yet.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't know how much it is going to cost you, do you?
     MR. LADANYI:  Well, we believe that it is going to be in that ballpark but we really don't know definitely.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What approval are you asking for from this Board?   You're not asking for the approval of the specific projects, right, because you don’t know what they are.
     MR. LADANYI:  We had hoped initially when we filed the case that we would know which specific projects would be involved.  Unfortunately, this process is taking longer than we expected.  So that, as I said this morning, it's more in the nature of an amber light now in terms of the Board would approve these amounts and we could start -- we could be ready to get the financing required.  We could start working on whatever projects are required as quickly as possible in advance of the Board's approval for a leave to construct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't need the so-called amber light to do all of that stuff, do you?
     MR. LADANYI:  Not really.  And I should actually again point out that it's -- the practice of this Board has been to the company to do its best to forecast its cost for the test year.  And what you are seeing here is our best forecast of the costs.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  These projects are going to be tested for prudence in a subsequent rate case, right, not in this one because you don't know what they are.
     MR. LADANYI:  Well, they would be – first, they would come up to the Board in a leave-to-construct application.  And the Board would determine if the company should proceed with it, and then after the projects have been constructed, if there was any concerns about prudence, the Board would possibly look at it at that time.  In most cases, there would not be an issue of prudence.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not anticipating that these will close to rate base before December; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  Of 2005, no.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of 2006.
     MR. LADANYI:  We have actually put in as closing of December of 2006.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you said it might be 2006.  It might actually be January 2007.  You don't know; right?
     MR. LADANYI:  It might be.  And I think one area that was, you know, that I pointed out in my examination 

in-chief, was the most recent announcement which I just got off the government's website, and it was last updated September 2nd, 2005 which discusses, particularly, the thousand megawatt generation in GTA west and another -- and more generation 600 megawatts downtown Toronto.  And together with that announcement, there is a schedule, actually, which shows, if I can read this correctly, what appears, to me, an in-service date for June 2006 for 600 megawatts downtown.  And March 2006 for GTA west.
     Now, I don't know whether this is still up-to-date, but the schedule -- I will be happy to file this.  This is straight from the website last Friday.  And you can make your own judgment.  But it indicates to us, here, that when this takes place, we will have to move very quickly.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- all right.  So the approval you're asking for, then, is not for particular projects.  There is not very much rate impact, right, in the rate year?
     MR. LADANYI:  There is very little rate impact.  As we answered in I think a couple of interrogatories that we have, we are contemplating closing this to rate base in December.  And there is a rate base impact of $1.5 million on an average of averages basis.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the real essence of this is you're asking the Board to say sort of in concept:  Go ahead and spend some money on connecting up gas-fired generators.
     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  The Board, I think, what would be saying to us that the Board would be cooperating with what the government's initiative is to provide power generation in this particular area, and the Board would be responding to what the energy minister had said and what his plans are and would say that, yes, this Board and the Enbridge Gas Distribution are ready to respond when the need comes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. DeRose.
     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     Is that within ten minutes?
     MS. NOWINA:  I think he was under budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Seven and a half.
     MR. DeROSE:  Congratulations, Mr. Shepherd.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeROSE:
     MR. DeROSE:  Panel, I have questions on two areas.  One, I would like to have a very short discussion about your PIs for system expansion and, secondly, I have a couple of brief questions about cost of service versus incentive regulation.
     So, with respect to the profitability index or your PI process, you described it in part in your examination in-chief.  First of all, is my understanding correct that you will prepare a PI for each project for each system expansion project?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  That is correct.
     MR. DeROSE:  And then you will take each of those PIs and create a rolling PI for the year; is that correct?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  According to the EBO guidelines, there are two portfolios one is the investment portfolio and the other is the rolling project portfolio.
     The rolling project portfolios are filed quarterly and the investment portfolio, with the rate case, we file every year.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I don't believe that the rolling portfolio or the rolling PIs for fiscal 2005 are on the record.  Are they?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  The last rolling project portfolio was filed in July 2005.
     MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  In July, the last rolling project portfolio was filed.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And will you prepare the rolling portfolio for upcoming projects as well?  Would you have a rolling PI for fiscal 2006 for the -- for what you are seeking right now?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  As it is required by the EBO-188 guidelines, it's done every month and quarterly, it is required to be filed.  So when we move forward into 2006 for the portfolio which is coming in 2006, we would file that.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I'm not asking what you will be required to file.  I'm actually asking if – well, let me back it up then.
     For the projects that you have listed for system expansion that you are seeking approval in this rate case for, which is for fiscal 2006, you have conducted a PI for each of those in advance; is that correct?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  For the test year 2006, for some of the projects we have the PI calculation on individual projects.  But for 49,000 plus customers, which we are adding in 2006, we haven't done that PI calculation.
     MR. DeROSE:  So you have only done it for part of your system expansion projects?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  As is required by the EBO-188 guidelines, when we put pipe in the ground, we ensure that each project meets the EBO-188 guidelines, which is to have a PI of 0.8 or greater.  But in the test year, what we file is an investment portfolio PI which is based on forecast customer rights and the forecast volumes, depending on the rate class.  For individual projects, we have not done a feasibility analysis.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So I think the answer is no you haven't for all projects; is that correct?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  For 2006, yes.  

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And have you done it for some for 2006?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  These are still preliminary estimates at this moment.
     MR. DeROSE:  And are the preliminary estimates, have you put those on the record?
     MR. KANCHARLA:  No.
     MS. HARE:  If I could jump in, Mr. De Rose, maybe this is helpful.  For example, Fenelon Falls and the Bobcaygeon projects are in my region.  At this moment, we’re having people that go to the community and they look at what types of customers are their prospective customers.  They will look at what type of heating they have now and what the load would be.  
     Based on all of that information, they will do an assessment as to how many customers they expect to come on in year one, two, three, et cetera.
     They will also have a better understanding of the costs.  And so for both of those projects, we're just at the stage of determining the route which would then give us an idea of costs and the actual number of customers.  So that's the work that's being done now.  So until that is completed, we won't have a PI.
     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.
     MR. KANCHARLA:  Just to add, according to EBO-188 guidelines, what is required to file with the rate case is for projects greater than 500,000 of capital investments.  So your question of have we done the feasibility analysis for all of the projects, no, we haven't done that.
     MR. DeROSE:  Well, what I am just trying to understand today is what you have conducted in terms of feasibility access to determine -‑ or with respect to the system expansion projects for 2006.  I'm not questioning whether your filings have been appropriate or inappropriate in the past.  I'm trying to understand what information you have today.


As I understand it, you have prepared PIs for some of your system expansion projects, which you are applying for, but not for all of them; correct?


MR. KANCHARLA:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Those that you have prepared the PIs for, are they numerous?  And are there ten projects or 100 projects or a 1,000 projects?  I don't need the exact number, but just can you ballpark it?


MR. KANCHARLA:  There are very few projects, as you see in the number of projects, greater than 500,000, out of about 20 projects.  So for those projects we try to do some preliminary feasibility analysis.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Out of those that you have conducted preliminary PI analysis, are any of them below one?


MR. KANCHARLA:  The region staff are still working on the estimates, and we do not know exactly at this moment what the profitability index would be for all these projects.


MR. DeROSE:  No.  You've just told me that you have done some of the major ones.  You said about 20.  On those that you have conducted ‑‑ there are preliminary PI analysis, are any of them below one?


MR. KANCHARLA:  Yes.  A few of them are below one.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Would you be able to, perhaps by way of undertaking, provide ‑‑ and you said there is only about 20 that you've prepared already; is that correct?


MR. KANCHARLA:  I need to check that, because the process is that the region does the individual projects' PI calculation.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Would you ‑‑ would it be difficult for you to provide the Board with an undertaking that would provide the following:  The list of projects which you have prepared a preliminary PI on, and what I would envision is on one piece of paper the list of the project, the amount of money that is associated with that project, and what you have calculated the PI at?  Is that possible?


[Witness panel confers]


 MR. KANCHARLA:  Since these projects are so preliminary, I was just discussing with the panel, especially with the regions involved here, the PIs are below one.  So until -- till the region people have adequate information after doing the service on the customers, I think it may not be of significant value.


MR. MILNER:  Perhaps I could clarify just a little bit on the process.  Marika, Ms. Hare, started to tell you the process that we go through to get these projects feasible.  The commitment that we're making is that none of these projects are going to go unless they're complying with the Board's guidelines.  So they have to be .8 before they go.  


When we start out and, in our normal process, we've got a list of things that sometimes are, you know, ten years old that we've done, in terms of looking at feasibility.


But things change, and what we use that list is for is to prioritize those communities that we think, in the test year, that we're going to be able to go after.


And as we do that, then they come up in priority, and then we start to work them.  And working them means the kinds of things that Ms. Hare spoke about, and that's going out and actually doing a count.  What's happened in the communities, typically, there's been economic development, so there is growth there since the last time we have gone through.  


There is also growth of our system, so we're now closer, so the amount of pipe that you have to put in is less.  And then we actually go out and -- you know, so we revise those feasibilities.  


Then we will go out and actually take a look at the costing side of it to see if we can route it better, to make it ‑‑ make the costs come in lower, and we look at the revenue side, of course, with customer ads and whether there are schools or commercial businesses, or just residential customers, and we look at the profile of those customers.  


So as you get closer, these PIs get refined.  And typically, you know, we're looking at things that are not 0.8 to start, and as we look at them, they become 0.8 or better.  


So that's sort of the process.  So I'm not sure, in terms of the value of a list of projects with PIs that could be ten years old and, you know, just not there yet.  Our commitment is that they will be 0.8 before we actually do the work.


MR. DeROSE:  Are you done?


MR. MILNER:  Sorry, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  I appreciate they're preliminary, and between yourself and Ms. Hare, you put your concerns about it on the record.  I would still like the undertaking.  If you feel it is necessary to put a paragraph in to put those qualifications in the undertaking, feel free, but I would still like to see what the PIs are that you have at this moment in time, recognizing that they're preliminary.


MS. HARE:  I think actually "preliminary" is the wrong word.  They're based on -- for example, Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon was last looked five years ago.  So it is not that this is a preliminary PI.  This is a PI that was done five years ago and it, frankly, is incorrect today, because we see a lot of new development in those communities.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, Madam Chair, I would just say that I think that's a matter of argument.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. De Rose, could we limit it to PIs that have been developed recently, or projects that have been looked at recently?


MR. DeROSE:  I would be happy with that.


MS. NOWINA:  Is there some limitation, witness panel, that you would be comfortable putting on the undertaking?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KANCHARLA:  On a best efforts basis, we will provide it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Final question ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  We need an undertaking number, I think.


MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  That will be undertaking J18.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. J18.11:  TO PROVIDE THE RECENTLY DEVELOPED PI ANALYSIS

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Ladanyi, in the previous panel, which you were also on, you and I had a conversation about the interest of shareholders to have certain infrastructure replacement or additional reinforcements occur in a cost-of-service regime, rather than an incentive regime, if that incentive regime was such that placed a formula on the capital budget and didn't allow for unforeseen capital budget increases.


I preface it that way, Mr. Ladanyi.  Perhaps we don't have to go around the explanations again.


Would that equally apply to system expansion?  You had agreed that it would be in the interest of shareholders under certain incentive regulations to have it under cost of service, rather than particular incentive regulation regimes.


MR. LANNI:  Madam Chair, with respect, that question was rather long and cumulative.  I'm just wondering if Mr. De Rose can restate that --


MR. DeROSE:  No --


MR. LANNI:  -- more succinctly.


MR. DeROSE:  No problem.


Mr. Ladanyi, do you recall us having that conversation about an hour ago?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeROSE:  And do you recall agreeing that with respect to infrastructure replacement and additional reinforcements, that depending on the type of incentive regulation, in certain circumstances it would be beneficial for the shareholder to have increased capital budgets under a cost-of-service regime?


MR. LADANYI:  I recall that, and maybe I can just expand on it, since you have given me this opportunity.


I think you were contemplating a regime whereby the utility would have to make trade‑offs between doing system expansion projects to attach new customers and making safety and reliability investments.  And what I was trying to say before ‑ and I maybe can expand on it further ‑ that we feel that kind of a regulatory environment would be a bad one, that the Board should not have that kind of environment.  


The Board should have -- whatever incentive regulation method is used, it should be such that it would not provide or create a disincentive for making safety investments or making customer attachment investments.


MR. DeROSE:  And, Mr. Ladanyi I think, in fairness, it was you that introduced the notion of safety, not myself.  I was simply talking about the capital budget.  If a capital budget is captured under some sort of a price cap or incentive regulation whereby the company certainly has to put safety as a priority, but where once safety is taken care of the remaining components of the capital budget have to be balanced in trade-offs under incentive regulation, if that exists, is it not in the shareholder's interest to have system expansion take place in cost of service?


MR. LADANYI:  In a very sort of rigid, theoretical way, the answer is yes.  But, as I pointed out, that would create very negative, unintended consequences, because you would be in a situation whereby the utility would not be able to attach customers and provide them with gas service, and they would then be seeking other sources of energy, which most likely would be electricity, which would be going very much against the very objectives of the Ontario government.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Those are all my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Rose.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions for this panel?


MR. MILLAR:  No.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, does Mr. MacIntosh have any questions?


MR. MACINTOSH:  No, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Lanni?


MR. LANNI:  No questions, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, everyone, for keeping to your time commitments.  You are excused, panel.  Thank you very much.  We will adjourn until one o'clock on Thursday the 15th.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:15 p.m.
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